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Use the website at:

www.rbf.com.au

Phone us on:

03 6233 3672 or 1800 622 631

Fax us on:

03 6233 3357

Email us at:

super@rbf.com.au

Write to:

Chief Executive Officer

Retirement Benefits Fund Board

GPO Box 446 HOBART TAS 7001

Visit us at:

39 Sandy Bay Road Hobart 

1/87 George Street Launceston

Personal appointments:

Personal appointments are available in Hobart, Launceston,  

Burnie and Devonport, by prior arrangement only.  

To arrange an appointment, phone 1800 622 631

The privacy of your personal information is important to RBF. We understand the need for privacy. RBF will hold your personal information securely and 

use it only for the purposes described in the RBF Privacy Statement. Your personal information may be transferred between RBF and RBF-TAS Planning 

Pty Ltd. Certain personal information which you provide to RBF may be provided to your employing agency. RBF will not, however, provide your benefit 

entitlement information to your employer.

Service providers to the Board may also have access to personal information held by the Board. The privacy of members is protected by confidentiality and 

privacy clauses contained in the agreements with such service providers. The RBF Privacy Statement is available on the RBF website at www.rbf.com.au.

Every care has been taken with the information provided in this document. However, the RBF Board reserves the right to correct any errors or omissions.

If there is a discrepancy between the information contained in this document and the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, State Fire 

Commission Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed, Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed or the governing legislation,  

the Trust Deeds and the legislation will be the final authority. The information contained in this document is not intended as investment advice and  

the RBF Board recommends that readers seek professional advice before making any investment decision.

Compliance Report: The Tasmanian Government is a signatory to a Heads of Government Agreement between the Commonwealth and all the  

States which provides exemption for certain public sector schemes from the provisions of the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) legislation (SIS). 

However, the exempt schemes have agreed to comply with the spirit and intent of SIS.

This report was designed and printed in Tasmania on recycled paper.

AL/R/00090 (V6-10/07)



Thirty-sixth Annual Report of the Retirement Benefits  
Fund Board for the year ended 30 June 2007

November 2007

Hon Michael Aird MLC

Treasurer

Parliament House

HOBART 7000

Dear Treasurer

Pursuant to Regulation 19 of the regulations made under the Retirement Benefits Act 1993 (the Act), the Retirement Benefits Fund 

Board (the Board) is pleased to submit its report on the exercise of the RBF Board’s powers and functions under the Act for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2007.

The Annual Report incorporates a copy of the financial statements prepared by the RBF Board for the relevant period.

Yours sincerely

D F Egan

PRESIDENT
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Report Purpose
The purpose of this report is to inform Members of Parliament 

about the administration and operations of the Retirement 

Benefits Fund for the period 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007.  

The report explains how the Retirement Benefits Fund Board 

(the Board) delivered superannuation benefits and services  

to members.

Compliance with Heads of  
Government Agreement
The Tasmanian Government is a signatory to a Heads of 

Government Agreement between the Commonwealth and 

all State Governments. This Agreement provides exemption 

for certain public sector schemes from the provisions of 

the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS). 

However, the Agreement provides that Exempt Public 

Sector Superannuation Schemes must comply with the 

principles of SIS and are to be regarded as ‘complying funds’ 

for Commonwealth taxation purposes. The requirement (to 

comply with SIS) is also incorporated into the governing 

rules of the Retirement Benefits Fund. One of the RBF 

Board’s principal strategic objectives is to achieve exemplary 

corporate governance. Ongoing performance by RBF against 

all Board strategies is monitored via regular performance 

reporting to the Board and to the Minister.

The Board has implemented a comprehensive compliance 

program, part of which identifies the legislative requirements 

that must be adhered to by RBF, including SIS, and provides 

for a positive attestation to adherence and monitoring of 

actual adherence. In addition, the Board has implemented 

an ongoing internal audit program that is controlled by the 

Business Risk and Legal business unit under the direction 

of the Governance Committee of the Board. The reviews 

undertaken by Business Risk and Legal include review of RBF 

practices against both legislative requirements and industry 

best practice.

Each year, the Tasmanian Auditor-General undertakes a 

compliance audit of the Board’s activities consistent with the 

requirements of the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 

1993. The RBF Board has provided the Tasmanian Auditor-

General with financial statements relating to its operations 

for the 2006–07 financial year in compliance with the 

requirements of the Heads of Government Agreement. 

The RBF Board is complying with its legal obligations in 

submitting this report.
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The Retirement Benefits  
Fund Board
The RBF Board administers the Retirement Benefits Fund 
(the Fund) on behalf of members. The Board must comply 
with the relevant legislation and act in the best interests of 
the Fund, its members and the State. It fulfils its duties by 
developing valued relationships with members and other key 
stakeholders such as the State Government. The focus of the 
RBF Board is high-level policy and strategy. For a matter to be 
approved by the Board it must be supported by two-thirds 
of the voting members at a meeting. The President may only 
exercise a casting vote in certain circumstances.

Duty of the RBF Board
The duty of the RBF Board is to provide benefits on 
retirement for present and future members, their partners 
and dependants. This is achieved through receiving employer 
and member contributions and the prudent oversight of 
investments. The Board strives to ensure that its obligations to 
both the State Government and members are met efficiently 
and cost-effectively, while complying with its fiduciary and 
statutory duties.

Statement of Corporate Intent
This Statement of Corporate Intent has been prepared 
pursuant to Regulation 18 of the Retirement Benefits 
Regulations 2005.

The Statement represents a summary of the Retirement 
Benefits Fund Board’s Corporate Plan for 2007–2011 prepared 
in accordance with Regulation 16 of the Retirement Benefits 
Regulations 2005.

Business Definition
The Retirement Benefits Fund Board administers and manages 
superannuation schemes in accordance with the Retirement 
Benefits Act 1993, the Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005, 
the Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) 
Regulations 2002, the Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 
1999, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed and 
any other applicable law of the State or the Commonwealth. 
The Retirement Benefits Fund (RBF) is an Exempt Public 
Sector Superannuation Scheme for the purposes of the 
Commonwealth’s Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 
1993, but complies with the spirit and intent of this Act.

The core business of the RBF Board is the provision  
of retirement and ancillary benefits for members and  
their partners. 

Some key facts about the RBF Board as at 30 June 2007:

•  It administers a superannuation fund for some 35,426 

employees, 8,071 pensioners and 40,416 former 

employees.

•  It has a full range of superannuation and retirement 

products i.e. defined benefits scheme, accumulation 

scheme, life pensions, allocated pensions, member 

investment choice, death and disability cover, investment, 

spouse and preservation accounts.

•  It invests approximately $3.48 billion of members’ 

funds and through its investment manager role has 

a major influence over the State’s accrued unfunded 

superannuation liabilities.

•  It employs the equivalent of 130 full-time staff, located in 

Hobart and Launceston.

The RBF Board operates in a competitive ‘choice of fund’ 
environment but is limited in its activities to current and 
former public sector employees and their partners.    

Strategic Objectives
The strategic objectives of the RBF Board within the 2007–11 
Corporate Plan are to:

•  achieve consistent investment returns to optimise 

member benefits and reduce the State’s unfunded 

liability;

•  achieve a critical mass of members and funds under 

management;

•  achieve exemplary corporate governance;

•  achieve mature, empowered, beneficial and effective 

relationships with employers and unions;

•  implement a service-oriented approach in meeting  

the needs of our stakeholders;

•  receive quality services from our suppliers to meet  

the Board’s current and future business needs;

•  have engaged and competent staff who meet  

business needs;

•  provide informed advice to stakeholders on 

superannuation-related issues.

Business Performance Targets

Key Performance Indicators
Key performance indicators are developed by the RBF Board 
and linked to the five key result areas.  The actual performance 
of the RBF Board against performance targets is reported to 
the Minister, and included in the RBF Board’s Annual Report  
to Parliament.  

During the year, the RBF Corporate Plan 2007–11 
provided guidance and structure for refining performance 
management for 2006–07. The following table contains the 
key performance indicators developed for 2007–08 linked  
to the five key result Areas.
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Key Result 
Area

Performance Indicator Performance Targets

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11

Our members • Growth  in total Funds  

Under Management:

– In dollar terms $301 m $312 m $336 m $372 m

– In percentage terms 9.45% 8.95% 8.85% 9.00%

• Growth  in Funds Under Management  

of discretionary products:

– In dollar terms $207 m $231 m $257 m $286 m

– In percentage terms 18.32% 17.27% 16.40% 15.66%

• Rate of members actively participating 31.5% 32.0% 32.5% 33.0%

• Satisfaction of members Baseline 
to be 

determined 
through 

initial survey

• Member returns (real rate of return for 

RBF Actively Managed option net of 

investment expenses and taxation over 

rolling three year periods)

4.0% pa 4.0% pa 4.0% pa 4.0% pa

•  Percentage of new employees who  
join RBF

TBA

• Dispute and Statutory Review Resolution

- % complaints resolved within 30 days 90% 90% 90% 90%

- % statutory reviews completed within 
90 days of preliminary review 90% 90% 90% 90%

•  Percentage of retirees who remain  
with RBF

TBA

Our people • Percentage of engagement TBA

Government • Contributory Scheme returns (real rate of 

return net of investment expenses and 

taxation over rolling five-year periods)

4.5% pa 4.5% pa 4.5% pa 4.5% pa

• Percentage of Contributory Scheme 

administration expense to salary/pension 

payroll benchmarks

1.3% 1.4% 1.4% 1.5%

• Management Expense Ratio 0.74% 0.69% 0.65% 0.61%

Employers 
and Unions

• Survey of stakeholders Baseline 
to be 

determined 
through 

initial survey

Our suppliers • Percentage contract compliance 100% 100% 100% 100%

• Number of contract disputes nil nil nil nil
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The following table reports on the performance of the RBF Board during 2006–07 against the key performance indicators 
contained in the RBF Corporate Plan 2005–09.

Business Strategy & performance indicator Performance

Funds Under Management

 Contributory Scheme returns 13.8% return against a target of 8.5%

 Level of administration expense of the Contributory Scheme 1 achieved 1.3% against a target of 1.0%

 Growth in total Funds Under Management growth of 22.9% against a target of 12.06%

 Growth in Funds Under Management of discretionary products growth of 33.2% against a target of 20.5%

 Rate of members actively participating 2 achieved 30.4% against a target of 31.0%

 Survey of members target achieved: 82% satisfaction rating

 Member returns achieved 15.08% against a target of 7.5%

Stakeholder Relationships

 Relationship management program. 3 target not achieved

 Survey of stakeholders target achieved

Business Integrity

 Management Expense Ratio achieved 0.78% against a target of 0.87%

 External audit reports achieved

 Dispute and Statutory Review Resolution – RBF internal target not achieved  

Industry compliance requirements exceeded

 Adherence to the Risk Management Framework – objective is not yet monitored

Our People

 Performance reviews twice yearly 4 achieved 47%

 Employee climate survey – baseline survey completed

 Achievement of the organisation’s targeted skills profile – objective is not yet monitored

Note 1: The higher than benchmark cost has resulted from three main areas:

a. the increased industry compliance and business application modifications required to implement the 

Commonwealth Government’s Better Super legislation;

b. a revision of accounting and depreciation standards for capital expenditures to reflect the changing nature of 

industry regulation; and 

c. a significant re-investment programme required in systems and infrastructure to deliver contemporary business 

practices, prudent risk management and business integrity solutions. 

 The capitalisation impacts of this re-investment programme will impact over the next three years, with the planned 

benefits of that programme achieving longer term industry cost trend objectives.

Note 2: Anecdotal evidence suggests that members have delayed adjustments to their contribution methods until full  

  introduction of the Better Super legislation.

Note 3: Inter-departmental meetings and those with Chief Executive Officers from other public sector superannuation funds fell  

  short of target.

Note 4: Delays were due to increased business activities relating to the introduction of the Better Super legislation which peaked  

  in June 2007. By 31 July 2007 the performance indicator was 90% achieved.
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Board conflict of interest policy
The Board has implemented guidelines to allow Board Members to deal with a conflict of interest.

The guidelines require a Board Member to classify a conflict of interest as minor or major. Classification is based on whether  

the member’s decision will actually be affected by the conflict and on how the situation would appear to a reasonable 

independent person.

If the conflict is minor, the Board Member will decide whether to participate in any discussion and/or participate in any vote.  

If the conflict is major, the Board Member will not participate in any discussion or participate in any vote, and may leave the  

Board meeting for the duration of the matter.

Board Members are required to disclose any conflict of interest. This disclosure, and any subsequent action taken, is recorded  

in the meeting minutes.

Committees
To assist in the efficient operation of the Fund, the RBF Board has established two committees, which operate within the powers 

that have been formally delegated by the Board. These committees have the power to make decisions and recommendations to 

the RBF Board on policy.

The Investment and Asset Allocation Committee’s objective is to make a positive contribution to the investment returns of the 

Fund through timely and appropriate investment strategy development and asset class diversification.

The objective of the Governance Committee (formerly known as the Communication, Infrastructure and Governance 

Committee) is to ensure that corporate objectives, strategy, business operations and activities are monitored, reviewed, controlled 

and assessed. The committee thereby ensures that the activities of the Board are carried out in accordance with corporate 

objectives, strategies and practices and pertinent laws and regulations.

Investment and Asset Allocation Committee Governance Committee

Chairperson D Egan D Egan

Voting Members K Besharati 
N Ellis

K Backhouse 
L Jones 
J Wilcox

Non Voting Executive Member Chief Executive Officer Chief Executive Officer

The constitution of the committees as at June 2007 was as follows.
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Board Members
The Governor appoints the members of the RBF Board. The RBF Board is the Trustee of the Fund. Following the end 
of the financial year, the terms of both Andrea Schiwy’s and Lindsay Jones’ appointments to the Board have been 
renewed for three years until 30 June 2010. The names of the Board Members who held office as at 30 June 2007 
are as follows.

Damian Egan

President of the RBF Board (non-voting)

Nominee of the Minister, with the agreement of the Tasmanian Trades and Labor Council

Current Term: 4/9/2006 – 3/9/2009

Board Member since 1995 and President since 1996

Chairman of the Governance Committee and the Investment and Asset Allocation Committee

Mr Egan is a partner in the legal firm of Murdoch Clarke and a member of the Federal 

Government Corporations and Markets Advising Legal Committee.

Andrea Schiwy

Deputy President of the RBF Board

Nominee of the Minister

Current Term: 13/9/2004 -– 30/6/2007

Member of the Investment and Asset Allocation Committee

Ms Schiwy is a member of the Social Security Appeals Tribunal. She was previously  

Director of Revenue in the Department of Treasury and Finance (Revenue, Gaming  

and Licensing Division).

John Wilcox

Nominee of the Minister

Current Term: 1/10/2006 – 30/9/2009

Member of the Governance Committee

Mr Wilcox is a semi-retired Chartered Accountant, having had 19 years audit and consulting 

experience with Deloitte & Touche in Launceston, Hobart, Melbourne and Central Europe.  

He previously worked for 15 years as an auditor with Price Waterhouse in Launceston, 

Milwaukee and Sydney, and for two years with Garrott and Garrott in Launceston.

Kim Besharati

Nominee of the Minister

Current Term: 4/9/2006 – 3/9/2009

Member of the Investment and Asset Allocation Committee

Ms Besharati is a Principal Policy Analyst in the Intergovernment and Financial Policy Branch 

within the Department of Treasury and Finance.
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Lindsay Jones

Nominee of the Tasmanian Trades and Labor Council

Current Term: 13/12/2004 -– 30/6/2007

Member of the Governance Committee

Mr Jones is the Tasmanian Branch President of the CPSU (SPSFT) and is semi-retired. He was 

previously the Executive Officer (Hartz District) in the Department of Education.

Neroli Ellis

Elected by members of the RBF Contributory Scheme

Current Term: 3/9/2007 – 30/6/2010

Member of the Investment and Asset Allocation Committee

Ms Ellis is the Branch Secretary of the Tasmanian branch of the Australian Nursing Federation.

She has graduated from the AICD Company Directors course and is currently undertaking 

an MBA.

Kim Backhouse

Elected by members of the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme

Current Term: 3/9/2007 – 30/6/2010

Member of the Governance Committee

Ms Backhouse is currently studying a doctorate in Corporate Governance and the  

Superannuation Industry. She is also a member of the Electrical Licensing Board, the  

Chair of the Electrical Licensing Disciplinary Panel, the Chair of the Code of Conduct Panel  

for Clarence City Council and a member of the Department of Primary Industries and Water 

Internal Audit Committee.

Wendy Sawford

Substitute Board member since 1999

Currently a substitute for Andrea Schiwy

Current Term: 13/9/2004 – 30/6/2007

Ms Sawford was the Director of the Intergovernment and Financial Policy Branch and has subsequently been appointed 

as Director of the Revenue, Gaming and Licensing Division within the Department of Treasury and Finance.

Simon Gillies

Chief Executive Officer

As Chief Executive Officer, Mr Gillies has statutory responsibility for the general management 

of the RBF Board’s investment and administration operations. He attends all Board meetings 

and is an executive member of the Board’s Committees. Simon has been Chief Executive 

Officer since 28 July 2005.
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Board/Committee Ordinary 
Meetings

Special Board 
Meetings

Governance 
Committee 
Meetings

Investment & 
Asset Allocation 

Committee 
Meetings

Total meetings held  
during 2006–07

 12 5 6  12

Member attendance at meetings  

Mr D Egan  11 5 4  10

Ms A Schiwy  12 4 ^  12

Ms K Backhouse  11 3 6  21

Ms K Besharati  12 5 ^  12

Mr R Close5  2 ^ 1  22

Ms N Ellis  11 4 ^  11

Mr L Jones  10 5 5  73

Mr J Wilcox6  7 4 4    64

Mr S Gillies  12 3 5  10

Notes:

1. Ms K Backhouse attended two meetings as a non-member 

2. Mr R Close attended two meetings as a non-member 

3. Mr L Jones attended seven meetings as a non-member 

4. Mr J Wilcox attended six meetings as a non-member 

5. Mr Close ceased to be a Board Member on 27 September 2006 

6. Mr Wilcox commenced as a Board Member on 1 October 2006 

^ Not a member

Liability risk management
The RBF Board purchased insurance to indemnify Board Members for the 2006–07 financial year. 

Board protocol
The Board has reviewed and updated their protocol to ensure contemporary practices are embedded into the corporate 
governance practices of the Board.
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Highlights

Super keeps getting better
A considerable effort was required to understand and 

implement the Commonwealth Government’s changes to 

super, now called Better Super. RBF established a dedicated 

project team to identify requirements and implement the 

new legislation. Behind the scenes RBF was also involved 

with other industry bodies working with Federal Treasury and 

the Australian Taxation Office to clarify and understand the 

operational implications of the new legislation. 

For members, the changes mean super is simpler to 

understand. The new rules have been implemented and RBF 

members are already reaping the benefits. We've already 

noticed a change in the way members contribute to their 

super and how they use their retirement benefits.

Detailed information about the new rules can be found on 

the RBF website or by contacting RBF directly. They include:

•  annual contribution limits on all types of contributions

•  reduced taxation on benefits, especially for members  

over 60

•  more flexible incomes in retirement

•  access to Super Co-contributions for the self-employed 

•  requirement to provide a Tax File Number to make  

non-concessional contributions

•  compulsory cashing rules abolished

•  reasonable benefit limits abolished.

We’re listening…
RBF commissioned a number of independent surveys during 

the year. A Tasmanian company, Enterprise Marketing and 

Research Services (EMRS), conducted the work on our behalf 

and were able to pass on valuable information provided by 

members. They reported that an overwhelming majority of 

members agreed they would be happy to recommend RBF  

to others. 

We also learned that members value their Membership 

Statement and we have since adjusted our mail out schedule 

so that the 30 June statements are sent earlier.

Northern services keep expanding
The Launceston office opened in 2002 with just one staff 

member and has grown progressively over the years.  

It started last financial year with four staff, increasing to nine 

by 30 June. As well as servicing members in the Launceston 

area, staff regularly visit Burnie and Devonport and schedule 

trips to the islands, north-west coast and north-east areas to 

satisfy member needs where possible.

The northern staff spend considerable time one-on-one with 

members and their partners as well as providing educational 

seminars within members’ workplaces. 

Bigger and better
RBF members are interested in their super. Our information 

shows us that, last year, more than 30% of RBF members were 

doing something extra with their super. Some are making 

additional contributions, while others may be taking control 

by selecting their own Member Investment Choice options. 

RBF’s funds under management have increased from  

$2.83 billion to $3.48 billion during the year, due to increased 

member contributions as well as sound investment returns.

Ready for an emergency
During the year, RBF tested its readiness for an emergency 

and were pleased with the results. As part of our ongoing 

risk management program, we needed to assess RBF’s ability 

to perform a number of critical functions from an alternative 

location. The test was conducted during Hobart Show  

week late in October 2006 and extended over the weekend.  

After extensive testing of the replacement system we were 

satisfied with our ability to re-establish RBF’s computer 

systems efficiently. The test was considered a success 

and provided a valuable source of information for further 

improvement and enhancement of the Board’s Business 

Continuity Strategy and Plan.  
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Transition to retirement 
Transition to Retirement (TTR) is now available at RBF. 

Members who have reached their Preservation Age and have 

sufficient funds in the Investment Account or RBF-TAS SG 

Account may choose to commence Transition to Retirement 

and still continue to work. Funds in defined benefit schemes 

such as RBF Contributory Scheme, TASSS and SFCSS cannot 

be used to commence a TTR pension. 

Transition to Retirement is designed to encourage people 

over Preservation Age to stay in the workforce. Employers 

can benefit from TTR programs by retaining the expertise 

and corporate knowledge of valued employees who may 

otherwise have retired. 

Members can benefit by being able to move to retirement 

gradually. Some members prefer to ease into retirement by 

simply working fewer hours, as they are not yet ready to retire 

full time. For other members the incentive is financial, as  

TTR will allow them to continue to earn while accessing  

their super.

Members may be able to combine both these advantages 

and reduce their working hours without reducing their 

current income, by subsidising their income from their 

retirement savings. 

At times, the opportunity will exist to save even more towards 

retirement by using Salary Sacrifice contribution strategies.

Members who are considering a TTR strategy are encouraged 

to contact RBF. Every member’s aims and circumstances are 

different and more information can be gained by discussing 

their personal goals with RBF’s specialist staff.

Proof of identity changes

Anti-Money Laundering  
and Counter-Terrorism Financing 

Under the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism 

Financing Act 2006 superannuation funds are required to 

identify, monitor and mitigate the risk that the fund may  

be used for the laundering of money or the financing  

of terrorism. 

Because of this, from 12 December 2007, members will be 

required to provide proof of identity before RBF can process a 

benefit withdrawal from the fund or before commencing an 

income stream. As a minimum, members will be required to 

provide RBF with evidence that verifies their full name, date of 

birth and residential address. An example of suitable evidence 

includes a member’s drivers licence or passport.

Rollovers

The process to roll over super already includes providing 

proof of identity; super funds are not permitted to process a 

rollover request without this documentation. Suitable proof 

of identity can be achieved by providing a certified copy of a 

drivers licence or passport. RBF’s new rollover form provides 

information on what other types of proof are acceptable.

RBF staff – part of the community 
Members who visit RBF’s offices on a Friday could be greeted 

by staff in jeans and jumpers. Our dress might be casual but 

our service will remain professional. And we’ll be busy raising 

money for charity at the same time as talking with a member. 

Every second Friday, RBF staff ‘go casual’ to raise money for 

local, national and international charities. Last year we raised 

over $6,000 through donations and raffles and provided 

money to more than 30 charities.
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During the early part of 2006–07, RBF completed implementation of an organisational restructure that was announced during  

the late months of 2005–06. The new structure was fully implemented from 1 August 2006.

The chart below illustrates the organisational structure at 30 June 2007.

RBF Board

Chief Executive Officer 

Simon Gillies

Stakeholder 
Services 

Leigh Roberts

Strategy & 
Member Services 

Ross MacKenzie

Technology & 
Business Services 

Ken Webster

Business Process 
& Analysis 
Allan Davey

Member 
Administration 

Dean Ambroz

Investments

Business Risk & Legal

Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) has statutory responsibility 

for managing the RBF Board’s administration and 

implementing the strategic framework as determined by the 

Board. The CEO has responsibility for working closely with 

the Board to develop and implement strategies, policies 

and decisions in order to meet key challenges. The CEO is 

Secretary to the Board, attends all Board meetings, but is not 

a voting member. The CEO reports to the Board through the 

President and heads an Executive Management Team (EMT).

The CEO is responsible for the management of the Board’s 

operations at a strategic level. The role comprises a number  

of key activities which are broadly categorised as follows:

•  Executive and corporate management

•  Fund administration

•  Funds management and investment. 

The CEO is also an executive member of:

•  the Investment and Asset Allocation Committee

•  the Governance Committee.

The primary functions of the CEO are outlined in the 

Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005. These include:

•  Fund administration:

–  acting as the RBF Board’s delegate in administering  
the Retirement Benefits Act 1993

–  management of the organisation

–  directing research and development activities

•  Leadership:

–  developing corporate strategies and business plans

–  liaising with key stakeholders and the  
superannuation industry

–  developing products and services

•  Funds management and investments:

–  contract supervision with respect to investment 
managers and asset consultants

–  acting as the Board’s delegate in cash-flow 
management and investments

–  supervising the integration of RBF’s financial, taxation, 
investment and liability management activities.

Executive management of business units

The CEO provides management of Investments and Business 

Risk and Legal business units.

An Executive Manager heads up each of the five remaining 

business units. The five business units are:

•  Strategy and Member Services

•  Member Administration

•  Stakeholder Services

•  Business Process and Analysis

•  Technology and Business Services
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RBF Administration

Strategy and Member Services
The role of the Strategy section is to support the corporate 

strategic planning process within RBF.  

Member Services aims to provide customised, professional 

services that help members plan and manage their wealth 

creation and retirement.  The continuing focus is to educate 

and support members with their retirement savings planning 

as well as other related services such as Member Investment 

Choice and risk protection. 

Services are primarily delivered through personal contact  

with members at face-to-face meetings, over the telephone 

or by visiting workplaces to conduct seminars. Significant 

effort is also put into providing written benefit estimates and 

answering member queries by correspondence.  

Those staff of Member Services who are Authorised 

Representatives of RBF-TAS Planning Pty Ltd, a financial 

planning company owned by RBF, are able to provide 

financial advice to RBF members.

The unit is responsible for the following business functions.

Business function Description

Strategy Support the corporate strategic planning process within RBF.

Member Options and 
Entitlements

Educate and support members by providing benefit estimates and product information 

through correspondence, telephone contact, personal appointments and seminars.

FInancial Services As Authorised Representatives of RBF-TAS Planning Pty Ltd, provide advice to members 

and ongoing support through personal appointments and educational seminars.

Reception Provide office reception and telephone answering services.

Support Provide support services to Member Services staff such as process improvement, 

performance measurement and general administrative support.

An extensive program of seminars was provided throughout 

the State (including Flinders and King Islands) to help 

members come to grips with the sweeping changes to 

superannuation introduced by the Commonwealth as part  

of the 2006 Budget announcements. The seminars were very 

well attended by members and their partners, with many 

gaining a renewed interest in taking control of their super.  

To deliver an appropriate level of service to members,  

RBF recognises the need to ensure staff receive appropriate 

training and maintain their superannuation industry 

knowledge. To reflect this the business unit has strengthened 

its induction training course so that all new staff have a 

thorough understanding of the scheme rules and features  

of the various products and services provided by RBF.   

A support team has been established to ensure that  

up-to-date knowledge is available to new and existing staff.

During the year Member Services provided the following 

services for members:

Personal interviews: 3,430 

Telephone queries: 27,659 

Seminars: 84 

Correspondence: 5,299 

Statements of Advice: 405

The main focus for Member Services during 2006–07 has been 

the implementation of a revised structure to improve service 

delivery.  The changes have included increasing resources  

in the Launceston office, improved measurement and tracking 

of performance against benchmarks, and streamlining 

processes to reduce response times.

The business unit has also updated a number of software  

tools to aid in the communication and comparison of options.   
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Member Administration
The Member Administration business unit comprises two major departments, Account Services and Payment & Early Release.  

The organisation and functions performed by each department are as follows:

Department Description

Account Services • Mail processing – collate, scan and index incoming mail into our automated workflow 

system; initial data entry. The Mail team is also responsible for preparing all out-going mail, 

ensuring that member’s files are updated with copies of all correspondence.

• Administer members’ account details, including:

– member admissions

– non-payroll member contributions 

– member personal details

– employment status (leave without pay, transfers etc)

– Member Investment Choice

– general account queries

• Account maintenance, including:

– data integrity investigations

– account reconstructions

– claims of lost rights

– secondments

– workers compensation

Payment & Early Release • Early Release – administer applications for the release of funds (before retirement age)  

due to:

– ill health (permanent or temporary invalidity)

– death

– financial hardship

– compassionate grounds

• Payments – calculate and pay benefits for members who have retired, resigned or 

otherwise ceased their employment. This team also administers funds rolling into other 

institutions and withdrawals from RBF accounts.

• Pensions – administer payments for our members who have elected to take a pension  

as part of their retirement strategy. These include:

– Life Pensions

– Allocated Pensions

– Term Allocated Pensions

During the 2006–07 year, Member Administration underwent 

significant organisational changes, including the appointment 

of a new Executive Manager in January 2007 following the 

resignation of the previous incumbent. The business unit 

was heavily impacted by the Commonwealth Government’s 

Better Super legislation. Introduction of the new business rules 

meant significant changes to our administration computer 

systems and internal procedures. Finalising the changes has 

presented a considerable challenge.

The Board supported an increase in staff numbers within the 

business unit in recognition of the legislation and regulations  

with which the superannuation industry has to comply 

and the increasing burden this places on processes. 

Building on the previous year’s implementation of new and 

updated technologies, the business unit’s restructure along 

process lines and increase in staff will ensure that Member 

Administration can adequately meet the pressures of 

administration while improving member service levels.
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Stakeholder Services
Stakeholder Services’ role is to ensure that RBF’s products and services meet the needs of our members and reflect a contemporary 

financial services organisation, as well as to ensure that:

•  our members are empowered by their superannuation knowledge;  

•  employers and unions are engaged and informed through their relationship with RBF; and

•  the RBF Board and other business units receive appropriate support services.

The unit is responsible for the following business functions.

Business function Description

RBF Board governance support Ensure the RBF Board, Board committees and the Executive Management 

Team receive accurate, complete and timely information. Ensure claims 

against the Board are resolved following procedures and processes that 

comply with the principles of natural justice and relevant legislative provisions. 

Provide relevant management information and coordinate development  

of enhancements to the management reporting systems.

Maintenance of Governing Rules Identify and interpret superannuation legislation that affects the Fund.  

Work with stakeholders in the development of legislation affecting the Fund.

Member and stakeholder communications Produce brochures, reports, website enhancements, newsletters and  

other communication material for members, employers, the Board and  

other stakeholders. 

Product and services development Provide market research and identify business options to develop 

contemporary and quality superannuation products and services.  

Research and evaluate financial services policy and practices and provide 

strategic options on their continued efficiency. 

Stakeholder relationships Develop communication, education strategies and marketing programs  

to employers and unions representing various sectors of RBF’s membership.  

Build business relationships with stakeholders and provide support for training 

and marketing programs including facilitating sponsorship programs. 

During the year, Stakeholder Services worked with the 

Department of Treasury and Finance to develop:

•  the Retirement Benefits Amendment Regulations 2006, 

the predominant purpose of which was to clarify the 

Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005; and

•  amendments to the Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary 

Superannuation) Regulations 2002, the Retirement Benefits 

Regulations 2005, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme, 

the SFCSS Trust Deed and the TASSS Trust Deed,  

to provide for the introduction of the Commonwealth’s 

Better Super changes to superannuation.

Stakeholder Services continued to ensure that the Board 

received all relevant information in a timely manner, enabling 

the Board to make informed decisions and maintain its focus 

on policy and strategy. During the year Stakeholder Services 

provided support for 35 meetings of the Board and its 

committees and 33 meetings of the Executive  

Management Team.

The business unit achieved significant progress in developing a 

range of business options to enhance RBF’s insurance offering 

and continued to develop a detailed understanding of RBF’s 

market positioning. 

Personal contact was maintained with all of RBF’s employer 

and public sector union stakeholders. These stakeholders were 

supported by RBF during the year through involvement in a 

number of conferences and events, including:

•  Tasmanian School Principals Association Conference

•  Tasmanian School Administrators Association Conference

•  Australian Education Union Conference 

•  Australian Education Union Workshops

•  Australian Nursing Federation Conference

•  Australian College of Midwives Conference

•  Australian College of Midwives Workshop

•  Royal Hobart Hospital Research Foundation –  

Big Breakfast
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•  Liquor Hospitality and Miscellaneous Union Conference

•  Community & Public Sector Union Conference

•  Health and Community Services Union Conference

•  United Firefighters Union of Australia Conference

An information booth was provided once a month at both the 

Launceston General Hospital and the Royal Hobart Hospital 

handling approximately 35 individual member enquiries on 

each day of operation.

The business unit also provided information for inclusion  

in a number of stakeholder publications including:

•  Australian Education Union- Ed.Lines

•  Australian Nursing Federation- Infusion

•  Community & Public Sector Union website News

•  Health and Community Services Union- IN form

•  Liquor Hospitality and Miscellaneous Union- Union News

•  Nursing Board of Tasmania- NBT News

•  Police Association- Association NEWS

An RBF advertisement was also included on a number  

of wall-planners, including:

•  Australian Education Union 

•  Australian Nursing Federation 

•  Community & Public Sector Union 

•  Health and Community Services Union 

The Board has approved the appointment of additional staff 

to the business unit, so that greater personal contact with all 

public sector employers and unions can be achieved.  

This activity will allow the provision of improved services to 

RBF’s stakeholders, including education of members in an 

effort to increase the number of new employees selecting RBF 

as their fund of choice.

Stakeholder Services staff worked closely with other areas  

of the business to understand the requirements and identify 

the impact of the Commonwealth's Better Super legislation,  

in particular providing guidance relating to taxation and 

benefit calculations. Considerable effort was also made to 

ensure appropriate communication strategies were adopted 

for the introduction of the Commonwealth Government’s 

Better Super changes to superannuation. 

Various projects were supported throughout the year in 

which the business unit was integral to negotiations with 

Commonwealth Treasury, the Australian Taxation Office and 

other public sector superannuation funds. 

Stakeholder Services commissioned a satisfaction survey  

of members that provided important information about  

how members viewed their super fund and what services  

they valued. RBF was able to adjust service delivery 

immediately in some areas in response to this feedback. 

A satisfaction survey was also conducted with employer 

representatives, which has enhanced our understanding  

of service delivery to these stakeholders.
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Business Process and Analysis 
Business Process and Analysis is the business unit that provides process, project and financial analysis services to RBF.  

The unit is responsible for the following business functions.

Business function Description

Business Process Model and analyse core business activities, including relevant processes  

to support the current year’s business priorities.

Program Management Office Provide program and project management support for the current year’s business priorities.

Financial Analysis Provide financial and budget management services to the Board, its corporate subsidiaries  

and internal and external stakeholders.

Provide accounting services for all funds received, invested and paid under the control of 

the Board and any corporate subsidiary.

Secure the integrity of assets held by the RBF Board and any corporate subsidiary.

Develop and maintain financial systems that support funds under investment by RBF  

and corporate subsidiaries, Member Investment Choice and financial planning activities.

Coordinate the management of the financial affairs of the RBF Board in accordance with 

relevant Commonwealth and State legislation.

During the year, the Business Process and Analysis business 

unit managed key projects including the introduction of the 

Commonwealth Government’s Better Super legislation. The 

project facilitated identification of the changes required to 

meet the new legislation, ultimately resulting in significant 

computer system re-development, review of procedures and 

provision of staff education in readiness for the introduction 

of the new rules.

The business unit also provided project management 

expertise to introduce RBF’s Transition to Retirement product.

During the year the business unit participated in a review 

of the Accumulation Scheme Administration Fee pricing 

structure which resulted in reductions in the rate of 

Administration Fees to be charged to the scheme’s members 

effective from 1 July 2007

A significant effort was applied to the delivery of a Business 

Process Management solution for RBF. Increased compliance 

levels, reduction in duplication of work effort and reduction  

in processing and filing costs were delivered through 

extensive process automation and work management.  

This also reduced business risk through adoption of 

consistent processes throughout the organisation.
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Technology and Business Services
Technology and Business Services provides infrastructure support services to RBF.  

The unit is responsible for the following business functions.

Business function Description

Information Technology Procure and manage all information technology components. Manage contracts and  

relationships with external technology vendors. The most significant of these is the long-term 

partnering arrangement with Alphawest which supports the main administration platform,  

RBF’s Superannuation Administration System (RBFSAS).

Human Resources Provide recruitment and personnel functions, industrial relations, policy and procedure 

development, training and occupational health and safety, and related functions. The payroll 

function is outsourced to TMD, a division of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.

Accounting & Reporting Support and liaise with the Fund Actuary in the management of the Fund. Produce  

and compile financial statuary and compliance reports.

Develop, maintain and manage a program for the financial internal controls and  

accounting policies.

Maintain the integrity of the general ledger.

In addition to normal operations, the Information Technology 

section completed the work involved in installing and 

configuring servers needed to support the new workflow 

system being introduced at RBF. A comprehensive test of 

the IT Disaster Recovery Plan was successfully conducted 

during late October 2006. The Information Technology team 

worked closely with several business units to implement 

the significant system changes required to satisfy the 

Commonwealth Government’s Better Super legislation.

The Human Resources section refocused its activities 

of delivering contemporary advice and services to its 

stakeholders. The team adopted a more strategic approach to 

delivering improved business performance through a more 

engaged and motivated workforce.

The Accounting and Reporting team continued to provide 

financial accounting support to the RBF Board and its 

stakeholders through working with external auditors and tax 

and actuarial consultants. A number of improvements were 

achieved during the year including automation of accounts 

preparation processes and financial interface modifications.

For the third year, the Tasmanian Audit Office recognised the 

high standard of RBF’s preparation of the annual accounts for 

the year ended 30 June 2006.

The Accounting and Reporting team also provides 

compliance, insurance and actuarial management services 

to the RBF Board, its corporate subsidiaries and internal and 

external stakeholders.
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Board 
ongoing 

employees

Performance-
based 

contract

Short-term 
contract

Male Female Total

Business Process & Analysis 4 8 4 8 12

Member Administration 34 5 15 24 39

Strategy & Member Services 29 10 1 21 19 40

Risk & Investments 3 8 1 8 4 12

Stakeholder Services 3 6 4 5 9

Technology & Business Services 5 12 1 12 6 18

Total 78 49 3 64 66 130

Occupational health, safety and welfare

The RBF Board is committed to providing a safe and healthy 

work environment for its employees. The Occupational Health 

and Safety Committee meets regularly to discuss workplace 

issues and address concerns raised by staff.

An RBF-funded employee assistance program is offered to 

staff for confidential counselling. There are three approved 

providers and staff are able to access these services at any 

time. Partners and dependent children of staff members can 

be included in the counselling program to ensure a more 

comprehensive service.

RBF also offers subsidised workplace neck and shoulder 

massages to employees, to assist with any ill-effects of the 

sedentary and screen-based nature of their work. 

An optional influenza vaccination program is also available, 

with almost 40% of staff participating during 2006–07.

Staffing statistics

The table below shows the number of staff employed as at  

30 June 2007.

Employment arrangements

The Retirement Benefits Fund Board Staff Agreement 2006 

encompasses employment terms and conditions for all staff 

employed with the Board prior to December 2005 and the 

majority of staff employed after this date. Senior staff and 

managers employed after December 2005 are employed 

pursuant to terms and conditions outlined in a common  

law Contract of Service.

The employee age profile as at 30 June 2007
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Workers’ compensation

RBF commenced the year with no open claims. Four new claims were received and two of those were resolved during  

the year.

2005–06 2006–07

Cases carried forward on 1 July 1 -

New cases 1 4

Cases resolved during the year 2 2

Cases active as at 30 June - 2

Working days lost during year - 0.5

Commonwealth Superannuation Guarantee compliance

The Retirement Benefits Fund Board declares that, as an employer, all obligations under the Commonwealth’s Superannuation 

Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 have been met.

Training and development

The figures below show the number of study programs staff participated in during the year.

Areas of study undertaken 2006–07 Number of staff

Certificate & Diploma courses

 Introductory Superannuation (including ASFA 146 etc)  29

 Advanced Superannuation  5

 Financial Services (including Diploma Financial Services & CFP)  23

Graduate & Post Graduate courses

 Accounting, CPA  5

 Other tertiary qualifications (including Information Technology, Human Resources, Marketing,   

 Business Administration & Process Management)

 15

RBF has a strategy to promote accelerated training in the areas of superannuation management and financial planning. Staff are 

encouraged to undertake training in superannuation including the Association of Superannuation Funds of Australia’s Certificate 

of Superannuation known as ASFA146. 

RBF also supports staff in the attainment of the Diploma of Financial Services and the Advanced Diploma of Financial Services, 

which are coordinated through accredited providers.

In addition, RBF actively encourages and supports all staff in undertaking additional study, short courses, workshops and training 

and development courses relevant to their work or expertise. Experienced employees within RBF also conduct in-house training 

on systems, products and services. Staff members attended a total of 238 short training courses at an approximate cost of 

$120,000.
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Investments
The Investments business unit is responsible for the day-to-

day management of RBF’s portfolio of investments (which 

totalled $3.48 billion at 30 June 2007). The unit is dedicated to 

achieving the optimum return on funds invested, within an 

acceptable level of risk.

RBF’s investments are well diversified as they are spread 

across all major types of assets, including Australian shares, 

international shares, property, fixed interest securities, 

mortgages, cash and alternative assets such as private equity, 

absolute return funds and infrastructure.

Along with the RBF’s Asset Consultant, the business unit is 

responsible for the provision of information and advice to the 

RBF Board on issues such as:

•  economic and investment market conditions

•  investment policy and strategy

• asset allocation policy and investment asset  

class composition

•  selecting appropriate investment managers

•  structuring Member Investment Choice options.

Approximately 95% of RBF’s investments are outsourced 

to external specialist investment managers who manage 

portfolios of Australian shares, international shares, property, 

fixed interest, cash and alternative assets on RBF’s behalf.  

The Investments business unit has day-to-day responsibility 

for ‘managing the managers’. This includes their appointment; 

ongoing monitoring of performance; monitoring of changes 

in key personnel, structure, size and management of the 

managers; organisation; and ongoing liaison and reporting to 

the RBF Board. Five per cent of funds under management are 

managed internally. These include Tasmanian property owned 

directly by RBF (comprising office buildings and retail shops) 

and first mortgages in Tasmania.

RBF’s internal funds management team activities include:

•  sourcing of new property and mortgage opportunities

•  evaluation and recommendation of mortgage  

loan applications

•  liaison with estate agents, property managers, mortgage 

brokers and other service providers

•  day-to-day management of properties (including 

budgeting, identifying new tenants and re-negotiation  

of leases).

Other key functions of the Investments business unit include:

•  calculating weekly crediting rates for Members 

Investment Choice options

•  providing investment performance and comparison data

•  informing and educating Board Members, staff, RBF 

members and other stakeholders about investment 

market and investment performance matters.

In the year to 30 June 2007, funds under management 

increased by almost 23% from $2.83 billion to $3.48 billion.

The Australian share market again produced extraordinarily high 

returns, which boosted the returns to RBF and its members.

RBF’s internally managed investments in Tasmanian property 

and mortgages continued to provide strong relative returns 

to the Fund. The return on the Tasmanian property portfolio 

has averaged in excess of 25% per annum for the past five 

years and is a reflection of the buoyant Tasmanian economy 

and RBF’s long-term investment commitment in the State.

The RBF Actively Managed option, being the dominant 

investment option selected by many members, has produced 

another consistent relative performance of 16.8% gross return 

for the year to 30 June 2007.

During the year, the Board implemented changes from 

the strategic review of the investment structures for both 

the Defined Benefit Scheme and Accumulation Scheme 

investment products. 
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Business Risk and Legal
The Business Risk and Legal team is primarily responsible for facilitating and monitoring the management of risk relating to the 

Board and its operations. The team is responsible for the following business functions:

Business function Description

Internal Audit Prepare and perform internal audit assessments in accordance with accepted auditing standards  

and techniques.

Risk Management Facilitate ongoing assessment and review of business risks to develop an effective enterprise-wide 

risk management system and coordinate regular assessments of the effectiveness of the framework.

Business Continuity Develop and review the Board’s Business Continuity Strategy and Plan and assist in the consultation 

and education of staff.

Compliance Develop a whole-of-business Compliance Register which enables comprehensive control  

self-assessments to be conducted and compliance controls to be monitored, assessed  

and enhanced.

Complaints Ensure that complaints are researched and responded to in a timely manner and that any 

opportunities for business improvements are identified.

Litigation Manage litigation involving the Board.

Service Agreements Assist in the preparation, maintenance, monitoring, review of and reporting on contractual 

arrangements with external service providers.

During the 2006–07 financial year, the Business Risk and 

Legal team continued the development and enhancement 

of the Board’s risk management framework. This included the 

continued development of a comprehensive Compliance 

Register which summarises the legislative obligations of the 

Board as Trustee of the Retirement Benefits Fund.

The Business Risk and Legal team also facilitated a Business 

Continuity test during the 2006–07 financial year. The 

Business Continuity test was conducted to assess the Board’s 

ability to perform a number of critical administrative functions 

from an alternative location in the event of a disaster. The test 

was considered a success and provided a valuable source of 

information for further improvement and enhancement of 

the Board’s Business Continuity Strategy and Plan.

The Business Risk and Legal team has also performed a key 

role in monitoring the development of the Commonwealth’s 

Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism Financing 

Act 2006. The team continued to play an important role in 

ensuring that the Board fulfils the obligations imposed by that 

legislative regime on an ongoing basis.
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Investment Performance
The 2006–07 financial year was another good one for 

investors and RBF members. Both Australian shares and 

direct property performed strongly. International shares also 

performed well in local currencies but returns were reduced 

due to the continued strength of the Australian dollar.  

The RBF Investment Account crediting rate for RBF’s default 

Member Investment Choice option, RBF Actively Managed, 

was 15.08%* for the year.

RBF continued to perform well over the longer term. The RBF 

Investment Account crediting rate for RBF Actively Managed 

was 13.35% per annum over the past three years.

* Investment Account crediting rate is shown after investment management fees 

and taxes on investment earnings have been deducted.

Tasmanian investments continue  
to perform well
RBF’s internally managed investments in Tasmanian property 

and mortgages continued to make significant contributions 

to performance of the Fund. RBF’s return on Tasmanian 

property investments before investment management fees 

was 17.0% for the 2006–07 financial year. For mortgages, the 

return before investment management fees was 6.6% for the 

year. Combined, these investments amount to $186.9 million 

and represent 5.3% of the Fund.

Investment philosophy and management
The RBF Board’s investment philosophy is one of researched 

and disciplined decision-making and asset diversification.  

The Board has appointed a mix of external investment 

managers to manage the majority of the Fund’s assets. 

Tasmanian-based investments are managed internally by  

RBF where this is of benefit to the Fund.

All investment managers are regularly reviewed and assessed 

against performance targets. RBF used the following 

consultants and service providers during the year:

•  Investment Management and Asset Allocation  

– JANA Investment Advisers Pty Ltd

•  Taxation – PricewaterhouseCoopers (Melbourne)

•  Actuarial – PricewaterhouseCoopers (Melbourne)

•  Custodial – J P Morgan Global Investor Services.

Member Investment Choice (MIC)
Members who have an RBF Investment Account, an RBF-TAS 

SG Account, an RBF Allocated Pension Account, or an RBF 

Term Allocated Pension Account, have access to Member 

Investment Choice (MIC). Through MIC, RBF members can 

access 14 different investment options. 

The asset allocation settings, performance objectives and 

crediting rates for these options are shown on the following 

pages. Where an entire account balance is rolled over or 

transferred, investment returns are not applied during the 

processing period. In peak processing times this may be from 

six to 13 days. 

For more information about Member Investment Choice visit 

the RBF website at www.rbf.com.au or contact RBF.
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Investment strategy – asset allocation at 30 June 2007

The investment strategy used by the Board to achieve the performance objective for individual MIC options is to invest in 

portfolios of assets exposed to the major asset classes that are appropriate for each MIC option, as shown below. The changes 

made during the year were to the asset allocation for RBF Actively Managed and Maple-Brown Abbott Balanced.

Australian 
Shares %

International 
Shares %

Property 
%

Alternative 
Investments 

%

Fixed 
Interest 

%

Cash %

RBF Actively Managed (Default 
Option)

34 22 15 9 12 8

RBF Long Term Growth 50 25 12 8 5 -

RBF Diversified Growth 40 20 6 4 30 -

RBF Conservative Growth 15 10 3 2 45 25

RBF Australian Shares 100 - - - - -

RBF International Shares - 100 - - - -

RBF Property &  
Alternative Investments

- - 63 37 - -

RBF Fixed Interest - - - - 100 -

RBF Cash - - - - - 100

RBF Socially  
Responsible Investments*

40 20 - - 40 -

State Street Balanced Index** 35 25 10 - 25 5

State Street Australian Shares 
Index**

100 - - - - -

Maple-Brown Abbott Balanced** 45 15 10 5 18 7

Maple-Brown Abbott  
Australian Shares**

100 - - - - -

* The RBF Socially Responsible Investments option is invested in the AMP Capital Investors’ Sustainable Future Australian Shares Fund (40%), BIAM Australia’s Ethical International 

Fund (20%) and RBF’s Fixed Interest asset class (40%).

** These investment options are managed solely by the individual manager who determines the asset allocation settings and the best way to invest each asset class. The asset 

allocations for these options are subject to change without notice.

Changes to RBF Actively Managed (Default Option) asset allocation post 30 June 2007

From July 2007 the Board implemented a new investment strategy for RBF Actively Managed by introducing the concept of a 

Dynamic Asset Allocation. 

The Dynamic Asset Allocation will be continually monitored by the Board to reflect its view of different investment markets and 

considering the investment objective and accountability measures set for this investment option. The asset allocation may vary 

from time to time and may change without prior notice being given. The targeted Dynamic Asset Allocation for RBF Actively 

Managed as at 31 July 2007 is shown below.

Australian 
Shares %

International 
Shares %

Property 
%

Alternative 
Investments 

%

Fixed 
Interest 

%

Cash %

Dynamic Asset Allocation 
for RBF Actively Managed

32 25 16 14 8 5
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Performance objectives

The performance objective and target real rate of return for the 14 Member Investment Choice options are shown below.

Member Investment Choice 
option

Objective Target real rate of return net of 
investment management fees 
and taxes

RBF Actively Managed To provide a moderate to high level of capital growth 

over the medium to long term.

4% pa over rolling five-year 

periods

RBF Long Term Growth To provide a high level of capital growth over the 

long term.

5% pa over rolling seven-year 

periods

RBF Diversified Growth To provide a moderate to high level of capital growth 

over the medium to long term.

3%–4% pa over rolling five-year 

periods

RBF Conservative Growth To provide some capital growth over the short to 

medium term while also maintaining a moderate to 

high level of capital stability and a low probability of 

a negative return in any one year.

1.5%–2% pa over rolling three-

year periods

RBF Australian Shares To provide a high level of capital growth over the 

long term by investing in Australian shares.

5% pa over rolling seven-year 

periods

RBF International Shares To provide a high level of capital growth over the 

long term by investing in a portfolio of international 

shares.

5% pa over rolling seven-year 

periods

RBF Property &  
Alternative Investments

To provide a stable income stream and also offer the 

opportunity for capital growth over the longer term.

4% pa over rolling five-year 

periods

RBF Fixed Interest To provide a regular income stream and retain capital 

value over the medium term.

1.5% pa over rolling three-year 

periods

RBF Cash To provide a high level of capital security and 

maintain the purchasing power of capital invested.

At least equal to the rate of 

inflation each year

RBF Socially 
 Responsible Investments

To provide a moderate level of capital growth 

over the long term, by investing in Australian and 

overseas companies that will form part of a socially 

and environmentally sustainable future and that 

meet ethical investment criteria.

2%–3% pa over rolling five-year 

periods

State Street Balanced Index To closely track the monthly rates of return of a 

composite benchmark with exposure to both equity 

(shares) and fixed income assets.

2.5%–3.5% over rolling five-year 

periods

State Street Australian  
Shares Index

To closely track the monthly rates of return of the 

S&P/ASX200 Accumulation Index.

4% over rolling seven-year periods

Maple-Brown  
Abbott Balanced

To provide a superior rate of return relative to the 

average of similar balanced funds as measured by 

the ASSIRT Multi-Sector 70 Wholesale Index over 

rolling three-year periods.

3%–4% pa over rolling five-year 

periods

Maple-Brown Abbott  
Australian Shares

To provide a superior rate of return relative to the 

S&P/ASX300 Accumulation Index over rolling four-

year periods.

4% pa over rolling seven-year 

periods
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Crediting rates

RBF calculates the crediting rates for the different Member Investment Choice options on a weekly basis. The crediting rate is the 

return paid to members after investment management fees and taxes have been deducted and is calculated as follows:

Step 1 Gross earning rate 

Step 2 Less investment management fees 

Step 3 Less income tax expense 

Step 4 Crediting rate after investment management fees and tax.

The crediting rates* for the different Member Investment Choice options are shown below. The crediting rates are not intended  

to be a guarantee or an indication of future returns.

Prior to 1 July 2006 the administration fee was deducted from the weekly crediting rate before being applied to the members’ 

account**. From 1 July 2006 the administration fee is deducted directly from members’ account balance.

* The difference in the crediting rates between the accounts reflects the different inception dates, administration fees and taxation treatment that apply to the accounts.  

The crediting rates shown might not reflect actual rates credited to members’ accounts because of timing of contributions, withdrawals and switches between options.

** The crediting rates shown below and on the following pages, for the years ended 30 June 2006 and earlier, include an additional deduction in respect of the administration fee.

Crediting rates – RBF Investment Account

02–03 
%

03–04 
%

04–05 
%

05–06 
%

06–07 
%

3 years 
% pa

Since 
inception 

% pa

Inception 
date

RBF Actively Managed 0.71 11.75 11.98 12.98 15.08 13.35 8.61 2 Oct 99

RBF Long Term Growth –2.60 15.26 14.67 15.85 18.36 16.30 9.62 2 Oct 99

RBF Diversified Growth –0.86 11.63 12.35 12.49 14.54 13.13 8.29 2 Oct 99

RBF Conservative Growth 2.53 6.22 7.89 7.26 8.52 7.90 5.85 2 Oct 99

RBF Australian Shares –2.85 18.86 23.75 18.61 25.97 22.75 15.3 29 Sep 01

RBF International Shares –11.30 14.29 1.85 16.89 11.06 9.76 3.96 20 Oct 01

RBF Property &  
Alternative Investments n/a 9.64 11.27 10.95 12.54 11.59 11.19 28 Jun 03

RBF Fixed Interest n/a 2.67 6.82 3.07 4.13 4.67 4.13 28 Jun 03

RBF Cash 3.50 3.78 4.24 4.40 5.28 4.64 4.18 2 Oct 99

RBF Socially  
Responsible Investments –0.96 11.73 10.18 13.71 12.50 12.13 8.05 20 Oct 01

State Street Balanced Index –2.10 12.32 11.47 14.04 13.07 12.86 7.90 27 Oct 01

State Street Australian  
Shares Index –2.44 19.41 23.57 20.23 26.97 23.58 14.83 3 Nov 01

Maple-Brown  
Abbott Balanced n/a n/a 11.37 10.67 14.74 12.25 12.74 5 Jul 03

Maple-Brown Abbott 
Australian Shares n/a 21.82 20.17 15.30 26.71 20.65 20.81 28 Jun 03
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Crediting rates - RBF-TAS SG Account

02–03 
%

03–04 
%

04–05 
%

05–06 
%

06–07 
%

3 years 
% pa

Since 
inception 

% pa

Inception 
date

RBF Actively Managed –1.38 11.40 11.58 12.62 15.08 13.09 8.32 25 Apr 00

RBF Long Term Growth –2.92 14.87 14.24 15.47 18.36 16.02 9.13 25 Apr 00

RBF Diversified Growth –1.17 11.27 11.94 12.13 14.54 12.87 7.78 25 Apr 00

RBF Conservative Growth 2.22 5.91 7.52 6.93 8.52 7.66 5.49 25 Apr 00

RBF Australian Shares –3.17 18.46 23.28 18.22 25.97 22.46 14.98 29 Sep 01

RBF International Shares –11.58 13.93 1.48 16.52 11.06 9.52 3.69 20 Oct 01

RBF Property &  
Alternative Investments n/a 9.28 10.85 10.59 12.54 11.33 10.90 28 Jun 03

RBF Fixed Interest n/a 2.36 6.46 2.76 4.13 4.44 3.89 28 Jun 03

RBF Cash 3.09 3.47 3.88 4.09 5.28 4.42 3.94 25 Apr 00

RBF Socially Responsible 
Investments –1.27 11.37 9.78 13.34 12.50 11.87 7.74 20 Oct 01

State Street Balanced Index –2.40 11.97 11.07 13.68 13.07 12.61 7.52 27 Oct 01

State Street Australian Shares 
Index –2.76 19.01 23.11 19.83 26.97 23.28 14.50 3 Nov 01

Maple-Brown Abbott Balanced n/a n/a 10.97 10.31 14.74 12.00 12.47 5 Jul 03

Maple-Brown Abbott Australian 
Shares n/a 21.42 19.72 14.94 26.71 20.38 20.50 28 Jun 03 in
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Crediting rates - RBF Allocated Pension Account

02–03 
%

03–04 
%

04–05 
%

05–06 
%

06–07 
%

3 years 
% pa

Since 
inception 

% pa

Inception 
date

RBF Actively Managed –1.53 12.84 13.16 14.18 16.20 14.52 9.19 15 Jan 00

RBF Long Term Growth –2.99 15.82 15.35 16.98 19.50 17.28 9.71 15 Jan 00

RBF Diversified Growth –1.22 12.70 13.57 13.61 15.89 14.36 8.66 15 Jan 00

RBF Conservative Growth 2.72 7.09 9.05 8.07 9.62 8.92 6.47 15 Jan 00

RBF Australian Shares –3.27 19.63 24.87 19.41 27.17 23.79 16.19 29 Sep 01

RBF International Shares –12.83 15.66 1.80 18.63 12.31 10.70 4.43 20 Oct 01

RBF Property &  
Alternative Investments n/a 9.90 11.75 11.66 13.62 12.35 11.82 28 Jun 03

RBF Fixed Interest n/a 2.89 7.77 3.31 4.78 5.28 4.64 28 Jun 03

RBF Cash 3.87 4.20 4.79 4.98 6.25 5.34 4.62 15 Jan 00

RBF Socially  
Responsible Investments –1.34 12.82 11.08 14.65 13.57 13.10 8.67 20 Oct 01

State Street Balanced Index –2.60 13.48 12.58 15.37 14.35 14.10 8.50 27 Oct 01

State Street Australian  
Shares Index –2.85 20.21 24.68 21.12 28.54 24.76 15.59 3 Nov 01

Maple-Brown Abbott Balanced n/a n/a 12.47 11.63 16.20 13.42 13.97 5 Jul 03

Maple-Brown Abbott 
Australian Shares n/a 22.77 21.08 15.91 28.28 21.67 21.80 28 Jun 03

Crediting rates - RBF Term Allocated Pension Account

05–06 % 06–07 % Since inception 
% pa

Inception date

RBF Actively Managed  14.18  16.20  15.20 1 Jul 05

RBF Long Term Growth  16.98  19.50  18.25 1 Jul 05

RBF Diversified Growth  13.61  15.89  14.76 1 Jul 05

RBF Conservative Growth  8.07  9.62  8.85 1 Jul 05

RBF Australian Shares  19.41  27.17  23.25 1 Jul 05

RBF International Shares  18.63  12.31  15.44 1 Jul 05

RBF Property &  
Alternative Investments  11.66  13.62  12.64 1 Jul 05

RBF Fixed Interest  3.31  4.78  4.05 1 Jul 05

RBF Cash  4.98  6.25  5.62 1 Jul 05

RBF Socially  
Responsible Investments  14.65  13.57  14.12 1 Jul 05

State Street Balanced Index  15.37  14.35  14.87 1 Jul 05

State Street Australian  
Shares Index  21.12  28.54  24.79 1 Jul 05

Maple-Brown Abbott 
Balanced  11.63  16.20  13.90 1 Jul 05

Maple-Brown Abbott 
Australian Shares  15.91  28.28  21.96 1 Jul 05
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Defined benefit schemes
•  RBF Contributory Scheme

•  State Fire Commission Superannuation  

Scheme (incorporated into RBF 1 May 2006)

•  Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation  

Scheme (incorporated into RBF 30 June 2006)

•  Parliamentary Superannuation Fund  

(incorporated into RBF 1 January 2003)

•  Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund  

(incorporated into RBF 1 January 2003)

Performance objective

The performance objective for the defined benefits funds  

are for investment returns (after investment management 

fees and tax):

•  to exceed the rate of inflation by 4.5% per annum over 

rolling five-year periods.

Generally, investment performance does not affect the  

level of benefits paid to members of the RBF Contributory 

Scheme, State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme, 

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme,  

or the Parliamentary Schemes.

Investment strategy – asset allocation  

at 30 June 2007

The investment strategy used by the Board to achieve the 

performance objective is to invest in a balanced portfolio 

exposed to all major asset classes as shown below. The asset 

allocation of these defined benefit funds may vary from time 

to time to reflect the Board’s view of different investment 

markets, within the predetermined ranges shown below. 

During the year the Board revised asset allocations for each 

asset class as well as dividing the Property and Alternative 

Investments asset class into separate asset classes. 

Asset allocation – Defined Benefit Schemes
RBF Contributory Scheme 
Parliamentary Superannuation Fund

Parliamentary Retiring  
Benefits Fund

State Fire Commission  
Superannuation Scheme

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme

Australian 
Shares 

%

International 
Shares 

%

Property 
%

Alternative 
Investments 

%

Fixed 
Interest 

%

Cash 
%

Strategic Asset Allocation 30 25 15 10 10 10

Range within which allocations  
can vary

20–40 15–25 0–20 5–25 0–20 0–20

Historical investment returns
Net return (after investment fees & tax) 02–03 

%
03–04 

%
04–05 

%
05–06 

%
06–07 

%
% pa

RBF Contributory Scheme 1.0 12.7 12.8 13.3 15.2 10.9% over 5 years

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund - 12.7 12.5 13.5 14.5 12.2% since 1 Jan 2003

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund - 12.7 12.5 13.5 14.5 12.2% since 1 Jan 2003

State Fire Commission  
Superannuation Scheme

- - - - 14.5 14.5% since June 2006

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme

- - - - 14.5 14.5% since June 2006
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Investment returns compared against investment objectives
Net return (after investment fees & tax) 1 year 

%
3 years 

% pa
5 years 

% pa

RBF Contributory Scheme 15.2 13.8 10.9

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 14.5 13.6 -

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 14.5 13.6 -

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 14.5 - -

Tasmanian Ambulance Services Superannuation Scheme 14.5 - -

Objectives: CPI + 4.5% pa 6.6 7.3 7.2

Investment management fees
During the 2006–07 financial year RBF reviewed the level of all investment management fees.  The following fees will apply from 

1 July 2007.

Member Investment Choice (MIC) Option Base  
investment fee 

% pa

Performance-
related 

investment fee 
% pa

Total investment 
fees % pa

RBF Actively Managed 0.53% 0.07% 0.60%

RBF Long Term Growth 0.57% 0.08% 0.65%

RBF Diversified Growth 0.47% 0.06% 0.53%

RBF Conservative Growth 0.33% 0.03% 0.36%

RBF Australian Shares 0.46% 0.08% 0.54%

RBF International Shares 0.68% 0.11% 0.79%

RBF Property & Alternative Investments 0.74% 0.08% 0.82%

RBF Fixed Interest 0.27% 0.00% 0.27%

RBF Cash 0.02% n/a 0.02%

RBF Socially Responsible Investments 0.62% 0.00% 0.62%

State Street Balanced Index 0.28% n/a 0.28%

State Street Australian Shares Index 0.15% n/a 0.15%

Maple-Brown Abbott Balanced 0.97% n/a 0.97%

Maple-Brown Abbott Australian Shares 0.39% 0.00% 0.39%

Investment management fees should be treated as an estimate of fees payable in the financial year commencing 1 July 2007. 

These fees are based on the costs incurred over the calendar year ended 31 December 2006 and include fees paid to RBF’s 

investment managers, asset consultants and custodian. The investment fee may vary depending upon factors such as the mix  

of investment managers used and their performance against benchmarks.

Performance fees are paid to some investment managers when their performance exceeds a predetermined objective. 

Performance fees earned over the calendar year ended 31 December 2006 are shown separately in the table above and are 

included in the total investment fees column. If a performance fee has been paid, that means that a manager has outperformed  

its performance objective, thereby contributing to an overall higher level of returns.

Defined Benefit Scheme Total investment fees  
% pa

RBF Contributory Scheme 0.60%

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 0.72%

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 0.69%

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 0.62%

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 0.63%
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RBF has prepared information in accordance with ASIC guidelines for presentation of a superannuation fund’s fees and charges.  

To view this information visit www.rbf.com.au.

Changes to investments
During the 2006–07 financial year, changes were made to investment managers used by the RBF Board within the International 

Shares asset class. New investments were made with Baillie Gifford Overseas Limited, Goldman Sachs, JB Were Managed Funds 

Limited and Wellington International Management Company Pte Ltd. The Board’s Investment and Asset Allocation Committee 

reduced exposure to BIAM Australia Ltd due to ongoing under-performance by the manager.

Derivatives

What are derivatives?

Derivatives are financial contracts whose value depends upon the value of an underlying instrument or asset (typically a 

commodity, bond, equity or currency, or a combination of these). Derivatives can be used to reduce the risk of (or ‘hedge’) an 

investment in the underlying instrument.

RBF’s use of derivatives

Investment managers may use derivatives if the Board deems this appropriate and it is documented in contracts with the 

individual managers. The investment managers provide the Board with detailed risk management statements which outline their 

approach to derivatives and confirm that their approach is applicable to the investments they manage.

The Board, through the Investment and Asset Allocation Committee, monitors investment managers to confirm that the use of 

derivatives accords with the overall investment strategy of the Fund and is consistent with the performance objectives of each 

portfolio and sub fund.

The Board may, when it deems appropriate, use its custodian to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to remove any 

foreign currency exposures which are not already hedged by its international managers.
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2005–06 
$ million

2006–07 
$ million

2006–07 
% of FUM

Australian Shares
452 Capital 164.4 210.3 6.0%
Maple-Brown Abbott
 discretely managed 294.3 322.5 9.3%
 Australian Equity Trust (MIC option) 6.3 12.9 0.4%
State Street Global Advisors
 discretely managed 302.1 344.8 9.9%
 Australian Index Equities Trust (MIC option) 7.6 10.7 0.3%
 Long/short Equitised Trust 87.1 112.0 3.2%
Warakirri New Dimensions Fund 111.3 144.3 4.1%
AMP Capital Investors Sustainable Future Australian Share Fund 
(for MIC option)

2.3 3.0 0.1%

International Shares
AllianceBernstein 153.6 172.3 4.9%
Baillie Gifford 0.0 62.8 1.8%
BIAM Australia Ltd
 discretely managed 158.6 130.6 3.7%
Australia Ethical International Fund (for MIC option) 0.7 1.0 0.1%
Capital International 183.2 206.4 5.9%
Goldman Sachs Global Fund 0.0 70.3 2.0%
Lazard Global Opportunities Fund 61.3 72.3 2.1%
JP Morgan Currency Hedge 0.4 12.1 0.3%
Wellington Global Strategic Fund 0.0 61.1 1.8%
Diversified Fixed Interest
PIMCO Australia 123.2 127.7 3.7%
Portfolio Partners 67.9 70.6 2.0%
RBF Board (Mortgages) 114.3 140.1 4.0%
The Super Loans Trust 5.4 5.7 0.2%
Property
AMP Capital Investors 163.6 191.4 5.5%
Australian Prime Property Fund 129.2 176.2 5.0%
Gresham Property Mezzanine Fund No. 2 3.4 3.2 0.1%
Lend Lease Real Estate Partners No 2 Fund 5.0 10.4 0.3%
Macquarie Goodman Wholesale Fund 10.4 22.6 0.6%
RBF Board 43.0 46.8 1.3%
Alternative Investments
AMP Capital Investors (Infrastructure) 25.1 44.0 1.3%
BGI Total Return Multi-Opportunity Fund (Absolute Return) 31.0 34.6 1.0%
Bridgewater All Weather Fund (Hedge Fund) 48.4 50.2 1.4%
First Tasmania Investments Ltd (Private Equity) 1.7 1.4 0.1%
GMO Multi-Strategy Trust (Absolute Return) 25.3 27.4 0.8%
Hastings High Yield Fund (Infrastructure Debt) 36.3 43.9 1.3%
Industry Funds Management (Private Equity) 6.8 7.2 0.2%
Utilities Trust of Australia Pty Ltd (Infrastructure) 77.8 100.1 2.9%
Maple-Brown Abbott – Diversified Investment Trust (MIC option) 3.1 3.9 0.1%
State Street Global Advisors – Passive Balanced Trust (MIC option) 1.5 2.9 0.1%
Cash
Cash at Bank 4.8 4.5 0.2%
Perennial Investment Partners (Cash Enhanced) 129.1 219.7 6.3%
Tascorp 244.3 199.3 5.7%
Total RBF 2,833.8 3,483.2 100.0%

Funds Under Management

Funds Under Management (FUM) as at 30 June 2007
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Legislation and Policy

Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005
The Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005 came into effect 

on 27 July 2005 and rescinded the Retirement Benefits 

Regulations 1994 except for the transitional and savings 

provisions provided for under the 2005 regulations.

The 2005 regulations were amended during the 2006–07 year 

by the Retirement Benefits Amendment Regulations 2006 to 

better reflect the original policy intent of the regulations.

Commonwealth Government – Better Super 
Legislation
A number of legislative amendments have been made to 

give effect to the Commonwealth Government’s Better 

Super initiatives. In accordance with the timeframe for 

implementation of the Commonwealth changes, these 

amendments took effect on 1 July 2007. The relevant 

amendments are contained in the following instruments:

•  Retirement Benefits Amendment Regulations 2007

•  Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) 

Amendment Regulations 2007

•  Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Amendment Deed 

(No. 1) 2007

•  State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 

Amendment Deed (No. 1) 2007

• Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 

Amendment Deed (No. 1) 2007

Public Interest Disclosures Act 2002
The objective of the Public Interest Disclosures Act 2002 (the 

Act) is to encourage and facilitate the making of disclosures 

about improper conduct by public officers and public bodies 

(a public interest disclosure). The Act provides protection for 

persons making a disclosure and establishes a system for the 

matters disclosed to be investigated and rectifying action to 

be taken.

During the year there were:

•  no disclosures made to the Board that were determined 

to be public interest disclosures

•  no public interest disclosure matters referred to the Board 

from the Ombudsman

•  no public interest disclosure matters referred to the 

Ombudsman by the Board.

The Board’s current Public Interest Disclosure Procedures 

are available on the website: www.rbf.com.au/rbfpublic/

RbfPub/PIDAct2002.jsp.

Alternatively, a copy of the procedures can be obtained by 

contacting the Protected Disclosure Officer on (03) 6233 2154 

or via email: super@rbf.com.au.

RBF Board policies
To assist the Board as Corporate Trustee and ensure the 

exercise of its duties and obligations are undertaken in the 

best interests of all stakeholders, the Board has policies on  

the following issues:

•  privacy

• investment strategy

•  sponsorship evaluation

•  Board Member conflict of interest

•  direct contact by service providers with Board Members

•  Board Members obtaining independent advice

•  delegated officer conflict of interest policy

•  Public Interest Disclosures Act 2002 – RBF procedures.

These policies can be found at the following page on RBF’s 

website: www.rbf.com.au/rbfpublic/MbrPub/Policies.jsp
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Member Services 

RBF service facts

• Conducted almost 3,500 personal appointments 

 with members 

• Started paying 471 new pensions

• Received over 3,800 rollovers into RBF accounts

• Welcomed 4,453 new members 

• Received more than $19 million in Super Co-contributions 

Information services

Membership Statements, Newsletters  
& Member Report

In our recent survey, members clearly indicated that the 

Membership Statement was an important and useful report 

on their super, so the 30 June 2007 statement was mailed 

earlier than usual. New this financial year, members can view 

their Membership Statements online. 

Members receive two newsletters each year and their annual 

Member Report. One newsletter is issued in February with the 

December Membership Statement and another is published 

late in the financial year, usually in May or June. The Member 

Report is provided around late October each year. 

Each publication takes the opportunity to give members 

news about their super and provide information on savings 

and wealth-creation opportunities.

RBF website

More information about RBF products and services can be 

found on the RBF website. Members can print forms, catch up 

on the latest news in super or find detailed information about 

each of RBF’s schemes. 

Members can register on the RBF website and view their 

account details, manage their investment choice and keep 

RBF informed of any changes to their personal details.

SuperNews

SuperNews is an e-bulletin available to members who register 

on the RBF website. It has become a regular feature during 

2006–07, published every two months, with additional 

‘newsflash’ issues if required.

SuperNews keeps members informed of developments within 

super and changes that affect their RBF accounts.

Employer News

At RBF, we value the role and responsibilities of our member’s 

employers. They play an important part in keeping RBF up-

to-date with employment details as well as regularly paying 

super contributions. 

As part of a review of our services to employers, RBF has 

created a newsletter to keep employers informed of the 

various changes to super that may affect them. We also 

include articles on employer-related issues such as  

changing tax rates, scheme-specific information and rules  

as well as improvements achieved through automation  

of our processes. 

It is hoped that the new e-bulletin, employer news, will help us 

provide better services to employers, so we can both provide 

better services to our members.

Brochures, forms & fact sheets

RBF has developed brochures and fact sheets to provide 

members with information they may need to understand 

their super. More information can be requested by contacting 

RBF directly by downloading the brochures from our website.

Talk to us…
Members who need to know more about their super can 

simply phone RBF – we’re here to answer queries. Only at  

RBF can members speak with staff trained and up-to-date 

with RBF’s superannuation scheme rules. 
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We also understand that sometimes a phone call is not 

enough. So we will book a time to sit down with a member 

and their partner to discuss their super. Our specially trained 

staff are willing to devote time to making sure members 

understand their super before they need to make a decision.

It’s all part of the service.

Workplace seminars

RBF encourages members to invite an RBF speaker to come to 

their workplace. We can provide a formal information session 

on a particular topic or simply have a general discussion on 

super, taking questions from the group. 

Members who would like to invite an RBF speaker to their 

next staff meeting, conference or professional development 

day can contact us by phoning 1800 622 631. 

Financial advice for members
RBF-TAS Planning Pty Ltd specialises in providing financial 

planning advice to RBF members and their partners.  

The financial planners are all RBF employees and able to  

take advantage of discussing scheme rules with RBF’s 

specialist staff.

RBF is committed to providing the best outcomes for 

our members. All advisers, who are licensed authorised 

representatives of RBF-TAS Planning Pty Ltd, hold formal 

qualifications in financial planning and have extensive 

experience in superannuation. Their services are available 

to RBF members at no charge for superannuation and 

retirement planning relating to RBF products and services.

To get the most from the services offered by RBF-TAS 

Planning, members should first attend an RBF seminar 

or personal interview with an RBF Member Services 

representative.

Feedback and complaints
RBF welcomes all feedback from members as it allows us 

to acknowledge staff doing a great job and to improve our 

service where required.

At RBF we strive to ensure our members receive the best 

possible service at all times, but sometimes our service 

might not meet expectations. For this reason, RBF has a 

comprehensive complaint process to address members’ 

concerns. 

Members who may be unhappy with the way RBF has 

handled an administrative matter are encouraged to contact 

the manager of the area involved and explain their concerns. 

Our managers are keen to ensure our service is of the highest 

quality at all times and will assist members in finding an 

acceptable resolution.

Where the member’s concerns have not been addressed,  

they can contact:

Complaints Officer, Retirement Benefits Fund Board 

GPO Box 446, Hobart Tas 7001 

Ph (03) 6233 7256 or 1800 622 631

The Complaints Officer is an internal staff member who  

is independent of the issues subject to the complaint.  

Any letters of complaint are reviewed by a sub-committee  

of the RBF Board.

If a member’s complaint has been reviewed and they are not 

satisfied with the response provided by RBF, the member has 

the option of lodging a complaint with the Ombudsman.  

The Ombudsman can be contacted on 1800 001 170 or  

via email at ombudsman@justice.tas.gov.au.

Further information about RBF’s complaint process can 

be found at http://www.rbf.com.au/rbfpublic/RbfPub/

ComplaintsReviews.jsp or by contacting RBF.

Schemes & Accounts Members 
30/6/06

Entrants Exits Members 
30/6/07

RBF Contributory Scheme 12,521 2 643 11,880

Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme 22,719 4,675 3,848 23,546

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 313 0 8 305

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 205 0 16 189

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 3 0 0 3

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 14 0 0 14

RBF Investment Account 55,328 5,206 3,407 57,127

RBF Compulsory Preservation Account 19,015 226 738 18,503

RBF Life Pension 7,457 356 312 7,501

RBF Allocated Pension 462 109 11 560

RBF Term Allocated Pension 4 6 0 10

RBF Membership Statistics
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RBF received 37 applications for review during the 2006–07 

financial year in addition to 13 carried forward from last year.

As at 30 June 2007, 33 of these matters had been finalised 

and 17 were pending.

Of the 33 matters finalised, eight were resolved or withdrawn 

by the applicant, 18 involved a preliminary decision by the 

Chief Executive Officer under delegated authority from the 

RBF Board, after considering further information, and seven 

involved a hearing before the Board.

Of the applications for review received in the 2006–07 

financial year, 65% related to applications for Ill Health 

Benefits.

Each matter under review was thoroughly investigated prior 

to consideration by the Board. Before any hearing every 

effort was made to resolve each issue through discussion, 

investigation and conciliation.
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RBF charges no entry or exit fees. Members benefit from a 

wide range of flexible superannuation options. There are 

many opportunities for members to increase their super and 

secure their retirement lifestyle.

Members can refer to the charts on pages 38-41 to find out 

about the many benefits their superannuation scheme has  

to offer.

Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS) – for people 

employed in the Tasmanian public sector from 15 May 1999 

and other employees not in the RBF Contributory Scheme.  

All new staff within the public sector are able to  

become members of RBF by joining the Tasmanian 

Accumulation Scheme.

RBF Contributory Scheme – for permanent employees 

and certain temporary or contract employees who started 

employment in the public sector before 15 May 1999.

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (SFCSS) 

– for full time permanent uniformed employees who started 

employment in the Tasmania Fire Service before 1 July 2005. 

The SFCSS was incorporated into RBF as a sub fund from 

1 May 2006.

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation 

Scheme (TASSS) – for permanent employees who started 

employment with the Tasmanian Ambulance Service before 

30 June 2006. The TASSS was incorporated into RBF as a sub 

fund from 30 June 2006.

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund (PSF) – for Members 

of Parliament first elected to Parliament before 15 November 

1985. The PSF was incorporated into RBF as a sub fund from 

1 January 2003.

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund (PRBF) – for 

Members of Parliament first elected to Parliament after 

14 November 1985 and before 1 July 1999. The PRBF was 

incorporated into RBF as a sub fund from 1 January 2003.

RBF-TAS SG Account – where Superannuation Guarantee 

contributions for Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS) 

members are invested.

RBF Investment Account – where personal contributions, 

rollovers, Salary Sacrifice and Super Co-contributions are 

invested.

RBF Allocated Pension Account – for superannuants who 

have invested in an Allocated Pension.

RBF Term Allocated Pension Account – for superannuants 

who have invested in a Term Allocated Pension. No new 

accounts will be commenced after 20 September 2007.

RBF Compulsory Preservation Account – for preserved 

unfunded benefits.
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Features RBF Contributory Scheme Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS)

Brief description  
of benefit

An unfunded  defined benefit scheme where, 

generally, the final benefit depends on:

•   average salary over the last three years 
worked in the public sector

•   the number of years for which contributions 
have been made to the scheme

•  the contribution rate(s) as a percentage  
of total salary.

An accumulation scheme where the final benefit 

depends on:

•   the amount of employer contributions 
deposited in the RBF-TAS SG Account

•   the amount of employee contributions 
deposited in the RBF Investment Account

•   the amount of any additional employer 
contributions, Salary Sacrifice contributions, 
spouse contributions or splits and/or 
Commonwealth Super Co-contributions 
deposited in the RBF Investment Account

•   the investment returns, net of fees and taxes, 
credited to the accounts

•   deduction of any insurance premiums and/or 
other fees.

Membership as at  
30 June 2007

11,880 members (decreased from 12,521 

members as at 30 June 2006)

23,546 members (increased from 22,719 members 

as at 30 June 2006)

Membership 
eligibility

Generally:

•   permanent employees or

•   long-term employees who elected to join 
and who started employment in the public 
sector before 15/5/99.

•   State public sector employees

•   Superannuants

•   Members of Parliament and Statutory 
Officers who are not members of the 
Contributory Scheme or another complying 
superannuation fund

•   Partner of an RBF member

Benefit options Members who meet Commonwealth preservation 

requirements may take a Lump Sum benefit, an 

RBF Life Pension, an RBF Allocated Pension or a 

combination.

•   Members who meet Commonwealth 
preservation requirements may take a  
Lump Sum benefit, an RBF Allocated  
Pension or a combination.

•   Members who joined before 15/5/99 can also 
take an RBF Life Pension.

Contribution 
options

•   Members must contribute the equivalent  
of between 5% and 15% of their salary. 
Member Investment Choice does not apply  
to these contributions.

•   Contributions may be made either from  
after-tax salary or by Salary Sacrifice.

•   Members can make additional personal 
contributions or Salary Sacrifice contributions 
to the RBF Investment Account, which has 
Member Investment Choice.

•   All member contributions are to be  
included in the concessional and  
non-concessional contribution limits 
according to contribution type.

•   Members can make personal contributions 
or Salary Sacrifice contributions to the RBF 
Investment Account.

•   Members can use Member Investment 
Choice.

•   All member contributions are to be  
included in the concessional and  
non-concessional contribution limits 
according to contribution type.
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Death and  
Incapacity Cover

•   For interim invalidity, a pension of 75% of the 
salary received in the past year is available for 
up to two years.

•   For Total and Permanent Incapacity, a Lump 
Sum benefit is payable up to $50,000, with 
an additional $30,000 if approved by the RBF 
Board. The balance is payable as an RBF Life 
Pension.

•   On death, a Lump Sum Benefit is paid. 
The surviving partner of the deceased can 
convert this into a pension.

•   Terminally ill members who are likely to die 
within 12 months can elect to receive a Lump 
Sum.

•   The insurance premium is 0.35% of a 
member’s salary. This amount is deducted 
each fortnight from the member’s account.

•   Members are entitled to limited Ill Health and 
Death Benefits until the member passes a 
medical examination* or has contributed to 
the scheme continuously for ten years, when 
he or she will be entitled to full benefits.

* A medical practitioner approved by the RBF Board must 
conduct the medical examination.

•   For temporary incapacity, a pension of 75% of 
the salary received in the past year is available 
for up to two years.

•   For Permanent Incapacity, the benefit can 
be taken as a Lump Sum, an RBF Allocated 
Pension or a combination.

•   Members who joined before 15/5/99 can also 
take the benefit as an RBF Life Pension.

•   On death, a Lump Sum benefit is paid.

•   Variable Death and Incapacity Cover is 
available from 0% to 300%. Members electing 
to have no cover must have alternative cover.

•   The insurance premium for standard 100% 
cover is 0.55% of a member’s salary.  
This amount is deducted each fortnight from 
the member’s RBF-TAS SG Account.

Crediting rates •   The crediting rate is the average of the 
previous three years’ market value return 
after provision is made for investment, 
administration and taxation costs in the last 
financial year.

•   Crediting rates (net of charges) in  
2006–07 were: 
1/7/06 to 30/9/06 9.20% pa 
1/10/06 to 30/6/07 14.01% pa

•   Generally the crediting rate does not affect 
the level of benefits for RBF Contributory 
Scheme members as benefits are based on 
a formula. The formula is linked to salary, 
service and contribution rate.

•   The crediting rate is set weekly and is based 
on the most recent net investment returns.

•   Each week the account balance is adjusted 
according to the crediting rate.

•   The different monthly crediting rates for  
each Member Investment Choice option  
are available on the RBF website at  
www.rbf.com.au and on flyers available  
from RBF.

Fees •    No fees are payable by the member.  
The scheme funds all fees.

•   Generally, the level of fees does not affect  
the benefits paid by the scheme.

•   Administration fees were 0.85%.

•   Investment management fees were 0.74%.

•   An administration fee and an investment 
management fee are charged. Each Member 
Investment Choice option has a different 
investment management fee.

•   The administration fees for the different 
accounts are provided on page 42.  
The different investment management  
fees are provided on page 30.

•   Information about fees is published on  
RBF’s website at www.rbf.com.au and on 
RBF’s regularly produced crediting rate flyers.
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Features
State Fire Commission Superannuation 
Scheme (SFCSS)

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme (TASSS)

Brief description  
of benefit

A defined benefit scheme where, generally,  

the final benefit depends on:

•    salary (not including overtime and 
allowances for rent)

•    the number of years for which contributions 
have been made to the scheme.

A defined benefit scheme where, generally,  

the final benefit depends on:

•    average salary over the last year  
of membership worked

•    the contribution rate(s) used to deduct 
contributions from salary

•    the number of years for which contributions 
have been made to the scheme.

Membership as at 30 
June 2007

305 members (decreased from 313 members  

as at 30 June 2006)

189 members (decreased from 205 members  

as at 30 June 2006)

Membership 
eligibility

•    Generally, full-time permanent uniformed 
employees who elected to join and who 
started employment with Tasmania Fire 
Service prior to 1 July 2005.

•    The SFCSS was closed to new members from 
1 July 2005.

•    Generally, permanent employees who 
elected to join and who started employment 
with Tasmanian Ambulance Service prior to 
30 June 2006.

•    The TASSS was closed to new members from 
30 June 2006.

Benefit options Members who meet Commonwealth preservation 

requirements may take a Lump Sum benefit. 

Members who roll over their scheme benefits into 

the RBF Investment Account may take a Lump 

Sum, an RBF Allocated Pension or a combination.

Members who meet Commonwealth preservation 

requirements may take a Lump Sum benefit. 

Members who roll over their scheme benefits into 

the RBF Investment Account may take a Lump 

Sum, an RBF Allocated Pension or a combination.

Contribution options •    Members contribute at 5% of salary.  
Member Investment Choice does not  
apply to these contributions.

•    Members can make additional personal 
contributions or Salary Sacrifice contributions 
into the RBF Investment Account, which  
has Member Investment Choice.

•   All member contributions are to be  
included in the concessional and  
non-concessional contribution limits 
according to contribution type.

•    Members must contribute between 5% and 
11% of their salary. Member Investment 
Choice does not apply to these contributions.

•    Members can make additional personal 
contributions or Salary Sacrifice contributions 
to the RBF Investment Account, which  
has Member Investment Choice.

•   All member contributions are to be  
included in the concessional and  
non-concessional contribution limits 
according to contribution type.

Death and  
Incapacity Cover

•    For temporary incapacity, a pension of 75% 
of superannuation salary is available for up  
to two years.

•    For Total and Permanent Incapacity the 
benefit can be taken as a Lump Sum, an  
RBF Allocated Pension or a combination.

•    On death a Lump Sum benefit is paid.

•    The insurance premium is covered by the 
scheme. No deductions are made for this 
from the member’s account.

•    For temporary incapacity, a pension of 75%  
of superannuation salary is available for up  
to two years.

•    For Total and Permanent Incapacity the 
benefit can be taken as a Lump Sum, an  
RBF Allocated Pension or a combination.

•    On death a Lump Sum benefit is paid.

•    The insurance premium is covered by the 
scheme. No deductions are made for this 
from the member’s account.
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Features
State Fire Commission Superannuation 
Scheme (SFCSS)

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme (TASSS)

Crediting rates •    The crediting rate is the average of the 
previous three years’ market value return 
after provision is made for investment, 
administration and taxation costs in the  
last financial year.

•    The net earning rate for the year ending  
30 June 2007 was 14.8%.

•    The crediting rate is the average of the 
previous three years’ market value return 
after provision is made for investment, 
administration and taxation costs in the last 
financial year.

•    Generally, the crediting rate does not  
affect the level of benefits for TASSS members 
as benefits are based on a formula. The 
formula is linked to salary, service and 
contribution rate.

•    The net earning rate declared for the year 
ending 30 June 2007 was 13.7%.

Fees •    No fees are payable by the member.  
The scheme funds all fees.

•   Generally, the level of fees does not affect  
the benefits paid by the scheme.

•   Administration fees were 0.85%.

•   Investment management fees were 0.74%.

•    No fees are payable by the member.  
The scheme funds all fees.

•    Generally, the level of fees does not affect  
the benefits paid by the scheme.

•   Administration fees were 0.85%.

•  Investment management fees were 0.74%.

Parliamentary schemes
Both the Parliamentary Superannuation Fund and the 

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund are defined benefit 

schemes. In both schemes the benefits are determined  

by a formula based on salary and years of service.  

The Parliamentary Superannuation Fund provides members  

with a benefit paid as a pension. The Parliamentary Retiring 

Benefits Fund provides members with a benefit paid as  

a Lump Sum.

The Parliamentary Superannuation Committee determines 

if a member of either Parliamentary Scheme is entitled to 

an invalidity benefit on the basis of ill health or physical or 

mental incapacity. The Committee consists of the President  

of the Legislative Council, the Speaker of the House of 

Assembly and the Secretary of the responsible Department  

or his or her nominee.

Compulsory Preservation Account
The RBF Compulsory Preservation Account is where 

preserved, unfunded benefits are recorded. Members may 

have an unfunded Compulsory Preservation Account if  

they left:

•  the RBF Contributory Scheme; or

•  the closed Non-Contributory Scheme

before reaching Preservation Age. The legislation does not 

allow for this account to be funded or transferred to another 

scheme until the member reaches Preservation Age.

While a member remains eligible to contribute to super, they 

can contribute to the RBF Investment Account and continue 

to save for their retirement.

The Compulsory Preservation Account balance is indexed to 

whichever is the greater of inflation or movements in average 

wages. In 2006–07 indexation rates for the Compulsory 

Preservation Account were:

•  1 July 2006 to 31 December 2006   

2.82% pa for the six-month period

•  1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007    

5.07% pa for the six-month period.

The rate is currently set at 3.99% pa until 31 December 2007, 

at which time it will be reviewed.

At 30 June 2007 18,503 members held Compulsory 

Preservation Accounts.

No fees or charges are applied to the Compulsory 

Preservation Account. RBF’s investment performance will not 

affect the account balance.

When a member reaches Preservation Age the employer will 

fund their portion of the Compulsory Preservation Account 

and RBF will transfer the money into the RBF Investment 

Account. Members will be able to select their investment 

options using Member Investment Choice.

The member’s benefit will then accrue at the crediting rate for 

the options selected. This will continue until a benefit is paid 

at retirement benefit or upon commencing Transition  

to Retirement.
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RBF Investment Account
The Investment Account is an accumulation-style account 

into which members can make additional contributions  

to super. 

At 30 June 2007 there were 57,127 Investment Accounts open 

with more than $1.14 billion of member’s retirement savings.

Former and current employees who had Investment 

Accounts on 30 June 2007:

Former employees  30,720 

Current employees  26,407

Members can make personal (non-concessional) 

contributions through payroll deductions, direct debits from 

a bank account or lump-sum deposits. While a Tasmanian 

public sector employee, members can also make Salary 

Sacrifice (concessional) contributions through an agreement 

with their employer. 

Personal contributions will be subject to the  

non-concessional contributions limit. Salary Sacrifice 

contributions will be included in the annual concessional 

contributions limit.

Member Investment Choice

The RBF Investment Account gives members control  

over how their money is invested. They can choose from  

a range of investment options to suit their personal needs. 

The RBF Member Investment Choice brochure provides 

further information on the options available. 

Super Rollover 

Members who have superannuation accounts with other 

funds can rollover their retirement savings to the Investment 

Account. Rollovers from other super funds are not included in 

the contribution limits.

As with all superannuation accounts, all contributions  

and investment returns received after 1 July 1999 are 

preserved until reaching Preservation Age and retiring  

from the workforce.

Investment Account for RBF partners

The partner of an RBF member may be able to open an RBF 

Investment Account. Partners of RBF members can then 

rollover their other super and continue to save for their 

retirement with RBF.

Partners can make personal contributions to their account 

through regular bank deductions or lump-sum deposits. 

If a member’s spouse earns less than $13,800 and satisfies 

other criteria, the member may be eligible to claim a tax offset 

for contributions to their partner’s account. It is important 

to note that only married and de facto couples satisfy the 

Commonwealth Government’s definition of spouse in order 

to receive this offset. 

Administration fees
From 1 July 2007 RBF will reduce the fee threshold for all accumulation accounts and lower the administration fees charged for RBF 

Allocated Pension and RBF Term Allocated Pension accounts. The administration fees and thresholds are shown in the table below.

Account Scale fees until 30 June 2007 Scale fees from 1 July 2007

Part of account 
balance less than 

$250,000

Part of account 
balance more 
than $250,000

Part of account 
balance less than 

$150,000

Part of account 
balance more 
than $150,000

RBF-TAS SG Account 0.45% pa 0.20% pa 0.45% pa 0.20% pa

RBF Investment Account 0.45% pa 0.20% pa 0.45% pa 0.20% pa

RBF Allocated Pension Account 0.65% pa 0.40% pa 0.45% pa 0.20% pa

RBF Term Allocated Pension Account 0.65% pa 0.40% pa 0.45% pa 0.20% pa

Note that under this fee structure the lower of the two fees is payable only on that part of the account balance that is in excess  

of $150,000 ($250,000 until 30 June 2007), i.e. the lowest fee does not apply to the entire account balance.

sc
he

m
es

, a
cc

ou
nt

s 
an

d 
pr

od
uc

ts



retirement benefits fund annual report 07   43

Defined Benefit Scheme Administration Costs  
2006–07 % pa

Predicted Administration  
Costs 2007–08 % pa

RBF Contributory Scheme 0.85% pa 0.81% pa

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 0.85% pa 0.81% pa

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund 0.85% pa 0.81% pa

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme 0.85% pa 0.81% pa

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation 
Scheme

0.85% pa 0.81% pa

RBF Contributory Scheme
During the 2006–07 financial year two eligible Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (TAS) members transferred to the RBF 

Contributory Scheme. The Contributory Scheme has experienced a net decrease in membership of 641 for the 2006–07  

financial year. This scheme is closed to new members.

RBF Contributory Scheme Exits

Exit reason 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07

Resignation 277 192 197

Retirement 385 339 322

Redundancy 10 23 42

Death 144 43 38

Transfer to TAS 11 7 7

Total and Permanent Incapacity 36 38 36

Partial and Permanent Incapacity 4 0 1

Non-commencement* 0 0 0

Total exits 867 642 643

 

Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme
The Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme experienced an overall increase in membership of 827 for the 2006–07 financial year.

Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Exits

Exit reason 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07

Resignation 3,375 4,302 2,897

Retirement 588 1,087 588

Redundancy 1 14 38

Death 20 27 36

Transfer to RBF Contributory Scheme 5 5 2

Total and Permanent Incapacity 28 12 17

Transfer to another fund 67 133 157

Non-commencement* 0 74 113

Total exits 4,082 5,654 3,848

* Non-commencement refers to a membership account that was opened for a person appointed to a public sector position who subsequently did not begin employment.
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and are not paid from member accounts. The costs are represented as a percentage of funds under management in each scheme. 

The table below shows the administration costs based on budget forecasts for the 2007–08 year.
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State Fire Commission  
Superannuation Scheme
The SFCSS experienced an overall decrease in membership  

of eight for the 2006–07 financial year. This scheme is closed 

to new members.

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme Exits

Exit reason 2005–06 2006–07

Resignation 5 8

Retirement 2 0

Redundancy 0 0

Death 1 0

Transfer to TAS 2 0

Total and  
Permanent Incapacity

0 0

Partial and  
Permanent Incapacity

0 0

Non-commencement* 0 0

Total exits 10 8
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* Non-commencement refers to a membership account that was opened for a person appointed to a public sector position who subsequently did not begin employment.

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund
There were no exits from this scheme during 2006–07.  This scheme is closed to new members.

Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund Exits 

Exit reason 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07

Resignation 0 0 0

Retirement 1 1 0

Redundancy 0 0 0

Death 0 0 0

Transfer to TAS 0 0 0

Total and Permanent Incapacity 0 0 0

Transfer to another fund 0 0 0

Non-commencement* 0 0 0

Total exits 1 1 0

Tasmanian Ambulance Service 
Superannuation Scheme
The TASSS experienced an overall decrease in membership  

of 16 for the 2006–07 financial year. This scheme is closed  

to new members.

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation  

Scheme Exits

Exit reason 2005–06 2006–07

Resignation 4 16

Retirement 1 0

Redundancy 0 0

Death 0 0

Transfer to TAS 15 0

Total and  
Permanent Incapacity

0 0

Partial and  
Permanent Incapacity

0 0

Non-commencement* 0 0

Total exits 20 16
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* Non-commencement refers to a membership account that was opened for a person appointed to a public sector position who subsequently did not begin employment.

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund
The PSF membership has remained stable over the past three years with only one exit during that time. This scheme is closed to 

new members.

Parliamentary Superannuation Fund Exits

Exit reason 2004–05 2005–06 2006–07

Resignation 0 0 0

Retirement 1 0 0

Redundancy 0 0 0

Death 0 0 0

Transfer to TAS 0 0 0

Total and Permanent Incapacity 0 0 0

Transfer to another fund 0 0 0

Non-commencement* 0 0 0

Total exits 1 0 0
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RBF Membership Benefits
RBF is here to deliver the best outcomes for our members. 

RBF staff are available to assist when members choose 

how best to save for the future. We can also be there when 

members need to make a decision about accessing benefits. 

Only through RBF are members able to access information 

from staff who are trained and up-to-date in their knowledge 

of RBF superannuation schemes.

With RBF members don’t just save for the future, they can also 

have access to income streams in retirement and a range of 

services such as Member Investment Choice and Transition to 

Retirement. RBF also provides Death and Incapacity insurance 

along the way.

Secure the future with RBF
No matter which RBF scheme members belong to, they  

can secure their future with RBF super. 

RBF encourages members to:

1.  Know your scheme: by learning how your benefit is 

calculated, you will know how to improve your super.

2.  Plan: the old saying is true, if you plan nothing, nothing 

happens. Plan to save. RBF can show you how.

3.  Stay in touch: read your statements and newsletters. Visit 

the RBF website www.rbf.com.au. Ask more questions. 

Selecting a contribution method

There are two different methods of contributing to most 

RBF schemes. Members can make payments from after-tax 

salary (personal contributions) or Tasmanian Public Sector 

employees can have their employer make payments on 

behalf (Salary Sacrifice). 

State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme and 

Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 

members will be able to choose Salary Sacrifice to their 

defined benefit schemes once it is rolled out to members  

in 2008.

Every member’s financial circumstances are different and 

each member should consider their own situation when 

choosing a contribution method. Members can contact RBF 

to discuss their options, or use the calculators on the RBF 

website to help make their decision.

For many members, converting personal contributions 

into Salary Sacrifice creates a tax saving that can be used to 

increase their contribution rate.

Salary Sacrifice is widely recognised as an effective way to 

make contributions to super and members should carefully 

consider its benefits. Use the calculator on the RBF website 

to see how much extra can be contributed by using Salary 

Sacrifice.

Contribution limits

Contribution limits are now in place for all types of 

contributions to super, specifying the maximum amount 

members can contribute to super in any year, even if they 

contribute to more than one account. The non-concessional 

contribution limit will always be calculated as three times the 

concessional contribution limit. Contributions above these 

limits will incur penalty tax. In future the limits will increase as 

the concessional contribution limit is indexed. 

Non-concessional contributions limit

All non-concessional contributions are subject to a maximum 

limit of $150,000 every year. Members under the age of 65 can 

make non-concessional contributions of up to $450,000 over 

a three-year period. 

Contributions covered by the limit include personal 

contributions made from after-tax salary, lump-sum 

deposits, spouse contributions and any excess concessional 

contributions. Super Co-contributions or rollovers do not 

count towards the limit.

Concessional contributions limit

Concessional contributions are subject to an annual limit 

of $50,000 for each member. As a transitional arrangement, 
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members reaching age 50 may contribute $100,000 in 

concessional contributions each year until 30 June 2012.

This limit covers all contributions from employers, including 

Superannuation Guarantee payments, as well as Salary 

Sacrifice and any contributions for which the member intends 

to claim a tax deduction. Employer contributions to the State 

Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme and the Tasmanian 

Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme are calculated 

using a formula and are also included in the limit. 

RBF is currently awaiting the outcome of discussions with  

the Commonwealth Government as to the treatment of  

the unfunded employer component of benefits from the  

RBF Contributory Scheme and Parliamentary Superannuation 

Fund (PSF).

Members can choose how their money is invested

Members with an RBF Investment Account, RBF-TAS 

SG Account, RBF Allocated Pension Account, or an RBF 

Term Allocated Pension Account have access to Member 

Investment Choice (MIC). With MIC members can choose an 

investment strategy to suit their needs. MIC offers a broad 

range of investment options with different levels of projected 

risk and return.

Members can choose to invest in one investment option or 

in a number of options and can switch between options as 

often as weekly if they wish. Where an entire account balance 

is rolled over or transferred investment returns are not applied 

during the processing period. In peak processing times this 

may be from six to 13 days. Members who do not choose an 

investment option will have their investments allocated to the 

RBF Actively Managed option. This is RBF’s default option.

Death and Incapacity Cover
Generally members are automatically entitled to Death  

and Incapacity Cover if they are:

•  a public sector employee; and

•  under age 60 (under age 55 for Tasmanian Ambulance 

Service Super Scheme members); and

•  have an RBF-TAS SG Account or are a member of the 

following schemes: 

  RBF Contributory Scheme

 State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (SFCSS) 

 Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation  

Scheme (TASSS)

  Parliamentary Superannuation Fund 

 Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund.

Members who have an RBF-TAS SG Account can adjust their 

cover to suit their individual circumstances.

Members of the RBF Contributory Scheme are entitled 

to limited cover until they successfully pass a medical 

examination or have made contributions to the scheme 

continuously for ten years.

RBF may pay a benefit if members with Death and Incapacity 

Cover are unwell or injured and cannot work for a short 

period of time. The benefit paid may equal to up to 75%  

of their salary for up to two years. This Temporary Incapacity 

pension is available up to age 60 for most members.  

For members of TASSS or SFCSS, temporary incapacity  

cover continues until 65.

Retirement products
RBF provides a range of retirement products including Life 

Pensions and Allocated Pensions, or members can simply 

manage their money using the RBF Investment Account. 

RBF Allocated Pension

An RBF Allocated Pension can be the key to a successful 

financial future. With an Allocated Pension members invest  

a Lump Sum and then choose a pension amount that suits  

their individual retirement needs. This amount must meet  

the minimum limit set by Commonwealth legislation.  

Cash withdrawals are also permitted from Allocated  

Pension accounts.

Members who commence an Allocated Pension as part 

of Transition to Retirement will have certain restrictions 

applied to their pension until they fully retire. The annual 

amount payable as a Transition to Retirement Allocated 

Pension cannot exceed 10% of the account balance and cash 

withdrawals are not permitted.

As at 30 June 2007, RBF was paying 560 members an 

Allocated Pension.

RBF Life Pension

With an RBF Life Pension, RBF will pay an income for the rest 

of the member’s life. For members who choose to commence 

a reversionary pension, RBF will even pay a pension to their 

surviving partner. Depending on how long a member and 

their partner live, their Life Pension might provide more 

income than they would have received as a Lump  

Sum benefit.

Generally members can take a Life Pension if they have 

maintained continuous membership with RBF since before  

15 May 1999. If a member is unsure about their entitlement 

they should talk to RBF.
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As at 30 June 2007 RBF paid 7,501 members a Life Pension. 

Life Pensions are adjusted twice each year in line with 

increases in the Consumer Price Index

During the 2006–07 financial year Life Pensions increased  

by the following amounts:

1 July 2006 1.4% 

1 January 2007 2.5%

Type of  
pension paid

30 June 
2005

30 June 
2006

30 June 
2007

Retirement 4,425 4,548 4,650

Partners 1,643 1,645 1,622

Invalidity 1,204 1,221 1,199

Children 44 43 30

TOTAL 7,316 7,457 7,501

Lump Sum Benefit

When members retire after reaching Preservation Age they 

can take their retirement benefit as a Lump Sum. The balance 

can be placed in the RBF Investment Account for as long as 

they wish. Compulsory withdrawal of super at age 65 has now 

been abolished. Members should give careful consideration 

to funding their future needs if they withdraw all their 

retirement savings from super. 

Many members withdraw a small Lump Sum to pay for 

specific items at retirement and also establish an income 

stream to secure their financial future. 
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Retirement Benefits Fund Board Trustee’s Statement
In the opinion of the Retirement Benefits Fund Board (the Board) as Trustee of the Retirement Benefits Fund (the Fund):

1. the accompanying financial statements of the Fund are properly drawn up so as to present fairly the financial position of the 

Fund as at 30 June 2007 and the results of its operations and cashflows for the year on that date in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional requirements; and

2. the Fund has been conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993 and the Tasmanian 

Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Retirement Benefits Fund Board.

Board Member   Board Member

Date: 24/10/07   Date: 24/10/07
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RBF CONTRIBUTORY SCHEME 

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AS AT 30 JUNE 2007

Notes As at 
30 June 2007

As at  
30 June 2006

$ '000 $ '000
ASSETS

 Cash Assets

 Cash at bank  3,334  3,600 

Receivables
 Contributions and pensions receivable  7,387  4,221 

 Investment income receivable  444  1,235 

 Other receivable 8  300  704 

 GST receivable  382  120 

 Income tax refund  14,386  12,384 

Investments
 Australian shares  529,203  499,513 

 International shares  419,641  307,104 

 Diversified fixed interest 9  134,030  149,946 

 Property  209,860  186,337 

 Alternative investments  164,277  136,056 

 Cash deposits  237,107  198,594 

Other assets
 Property, plant & equipment  8,566  7,722 

 RBF-TAS Planning Pty Ltd  170  108 

 Future income tax benefit 7  2,704  2,103 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,731,791  1,509,747 

LIABILITIES
Payables

 Other payables 10  (27,706)  (28,480)

 Contributions and pensions payable  (295)  (52)

Provisions
 Contributions in advance - TGIO 11  (12,086)  (10,991)

 Provision for employee entitlements 22  (14,484)  (13,744)

Tax Liabilities
 Provision for deferred income tax 7  (24,460)  (18,320)

 Superannuation contributions surcharge payable  (3,419)  (3,320)

TOTAL LIABILITIES  (82,450)  (74,907)
NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  1,649,341  1,434,840 

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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RBF CONTRIBUTORY SCHEME 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Notes
Year ended 

30 June 2007 
$ ‘000

Year ended 
30 June 2006 

$ ‘000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

 Interest  13,414  17,561 

 Dividends 3  33,292  38,751 

 Distributions 3  46,992  28,830 

 Property rentals 3  2,087  1,767 

 Changes in net market value of investments 4  150,542  111,346 

 Direct investment expense  (4,987)  (4,350)

 241,340  193,905 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

 Employer contributions  149,867  136,023 

 Member contributions  47,395  53,742 

 197,262  189,765 

OTHER REVENUE 5  (4,108)  (1,826)

TOTAL REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  434,494  381,844 

BENEFITS PAID

 Pensions  (153,379)  (144,666)

 Lump sums  (59,238)  (54,897)

 Refunds & interest  (1,565)  (999)

 (214,182)  (200,562)

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

 Administration expenses 6  (9,540)  (7,373)

 Superannuation contributions surcharge  (283)  (797)

TOTAL EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  (224,005)  (208,732)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX  210,489  173,112 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 7  4,012  9,715 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX  214,501  182,827 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the beginning of 

the year

 1,434,840  1,252,013 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end of the year  1,649,341  1,434,840 

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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RBF CONTRIBUTORY SCHEME

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and legislative requirements  

These financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 “Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”, other applicable accounting standards; other 

mandatory requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed; 

and relevant legislative requirements. 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

 Basis of preparation

Australian Accounting Standards including Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AEIFRS). 

Compliance with AEIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AEIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. The Scheme is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AEIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 is the principal standard that applies to these financial statements. Other standards, 

including AEIFRS, are also applied where necessary except where they differ from AAS25.

(b) Investments

Assets of the Fund are recorded at net market value as at the reporting date. 

Market values for investments are determined as follows:

• Cash is valued at face value;

• Listed equities are recorded at the “last” price quoted on the exchange that the equity is listed on less a provision  
for disposal costs;

• Unlisted equity, hybrids and swaps are valued at net market value using the valuation technique;

• Bonds are measured at their capital fair value using the valuation technique;

• Foreign exchange contracts are measured at fair value (the present value of all future cashflows);

• Options and futures are recognised at their quoted published prices (AASB 139) in an active market and on exchange  
bid or offer prices;

• Direct properties are valued at their net market values as determined by an independent valuer; and

• All other investments are valued at the net market value as assessed by the  Retirement Benefits Fund Board.

The Retirement Benefits Fund Board (“the RBF Board”) has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses from 

non-recovery of amounts owing on mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 9. There has been no major default to date.

The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation 

technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

The investments of the Fund are managed on behalf of the RBF Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the Fund’s financial statements (Appendix D).

(c) Cash

Cash at bank and cash deposits are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 
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(d) Other receivables and other payables

Sundry debtors are carried at their nominal amounts due, which approximate the net fair value.  Sundry creditors are 

recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received and which were unpaid at balance date.  

The amounts are unsecured.  Sundry debtors and sundry creditors are subject to normal trade credit terms.  The interfund 

receivable and payable are carried at nominal amounts and are settled on a fortnightly basis.  Differences in the comparatives 

can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and timing of the settlement.

(e) Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits of the Contributory Scheme at 30 June 2007 is not included in the Statement of Net Assets, 

the amount being reported by way of note (Note 12).

The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which 

arise from membership of the Contributory Scheme, up to the measurement date.  The figure reported in Note 12 has been 

determined by reference to expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate 

and relevant actuarial assumptions.

A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in Accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 for the Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2007, is appended to the financial 

statements (Appendix C).

(f ) Employee entitlements

Provision is made for the Fund’s liability for employee entitlements arising from services rendered by RBF employees to the 

end of the financial year. These benefits include annual leave, long service leave and superannuation.  Employee entitlements 

expected to be settled within one year arising from salaries, annual leave and long service leave that will be settled within 

one year, have been measured at their nominal amount. Other employee entitlements, payable later than one year, have 

been measured at the present value of the estimated cash flow in respect of services provided by employees up to the 

reporting date.  In determining the present value of future cash flows, the interest rates attaching to government securities, 

which have terms to maturity, approximating the terms of the related liability, are used.

Employee entitlement expenses and revenues in respect of the following categories:

•  wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave and sick leave;

•  other types of employee entitlements,

are charged against profits on a net basis in their respective categories.

Superannuation contributions to employee’s accumulation funds are charged as expenses when incurred.  

Increases in liabilities of employee’s defined benefit fund are charged as expenses when incurred.

(g) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue  

can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Changes in net market values 

Changes in the net market value of assets are recognised in the statement of changes in net assets in the periods 

in which they occur. 

Contributions and Transfers In 

Contributions and transfers in are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded in the period 

to which they relate.  

Interest 

Control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment in, assets has been attained.

Dividends 

Dividends on quoted shares are deemed to accrue on the date the dividend is declared.
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Distributions 

Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

Rent 

Rent on the Board’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(h) Foreign currency translation

Cash and investment transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign currency exchange rate ruling at the date 

of the transaction into the portfolio currency equivalents (the ‘functional currency’).

Subsequent foreign denominated cash and investments are re-valued, using the exchange rate at the reporting date into the 

functional currency.

Foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation and realised gains and losses on disposals or settlements of 

monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the income statement.

(i) Leases

Leases are classified at their inception as either an operating or finance lease based on the economic substance of the 

agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating leases

The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of 

ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis in the periods in which they are incurred.

(j) Income tax

The Contributory Scheme is part of a complying superannuation fund within the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment  

Act 1936.  Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied.

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated 

on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur between the time 

items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining taxable income the 

net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a future income tax benefit or a provision for 

deferred income tax.  The net future income tax benefit, relating to tax losses and timing differences, is not carried forward as 

an asset, unless the benefit has a high probability of being realised.  

The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income tax expense.

The provision for deferred income tax would be expected to be settled 12 months or more from the reporting date as it 

relates to investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  

(k)  Goods and services tax (GST)

Where applicable, GST incurred by the Fund, that is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office, has been recognised  

as part of the expense to which it applies.  Receivables and other payables are stated with any applicable GST included  

in the value.  The amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Tax Office is included as a receivable or 

payable in the Statement of Net Assets.

(l)  Superannuation contributions surcharge

Superannuation contribution surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions on the basis of the individual member’s 

adjusted taxable income.  The liability for the Superannuation contribution surcharge is recognised when the assessment is 

received, as the Trustee considers this is when it can be reliably measured.  The amount of the liability brought to account at 

balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 through to 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge 

calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and reported to the RBF Board. 

The Superannuation Laws Amendment Act 2005 abolished the superannuation contributions surcharge in respect to 

superannuation contributions made on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions for the  

year ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. Interest will continue to be debited 

to outstanding balances on member accounts.
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(m) Property, plant and equipment

Artwork is measured on a fair value basis, with independent valuations performed every 3 years.  All other classes of property, 

plant and equipment are measured at a notional net market value. This notional net market value has been calculated by 

using the written down values provided in the Board’s asset registers. The Board uses this method as property, plant and 

equipment is generally not disposed of until all service potential is exhausted. The cost of such market valuations would  

be superfluous.

The Board has deemed the depreciation expense to approximate the change in net market value.

(n)  Benefits payable

Benefits payable comprise the entitlements of members who ceased employment or were entitled to an invalidity 

withdrawal but had not been paid at that time.  Benefits payable are normally settled within 30 days.

(o)  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(p)  Rounding

The amounts shown in these financial statements and accompanying notes have been rounded to the nearest thousand 

dollars where applicable.

(q)  Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

(r)  Judgements and assumptions

In the application of Australian Accounting Standards, the Fund is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 

assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 

and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by the Fund that have significant effects on the financial statements are disclosed in the relevant notes  

to the financial statements. 

The Fund has made no assumptions concerning the future that may cause a material adjustment to the carrying amounts  

of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.
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2.  NATURE OF THE SCHEME

The Contributory Scheme is a defined benefit scheme that provides benefits to its members pursuant to the provisions  

of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993.

Reforms to public sector superannuation, effective 15 May 1999, have resulted in the closure of the Contributory Scheme  

to public sector employees employed on or after that date.

3.  INVESTMENT REVENUE

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Australian shares 43,659 47,193

International shares 14,234 11,169

Diversified fixed interest 9,859 7,769

Property 8,701 7,239

Alternative investments 10,217 3,552

Cash deposits 9,115 9,987

95,785 86,909

Consisting of:

Interest 13,414 17,561

Dividends 33,292 38,751

Distributions 46,992 28,830

Property rentals 2,087 1,767

95,785 86,909

4. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENT ASSETS

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian shares 75,366 41,356

International shares 25,950 28,414

Diversified fixed interest (2,272) (1,285)

Property 21,615 20,286

Alternative investments 6,697 4,996

Cash 519 13

127,875 93,780

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian shares 10,993 5,519

International shares 11,850 11,809

Diversified fixed interest (248) (251)

Property 39 358

Alternative investments 33 97

Cash - 34

22,667 17,566

Total change in net market value of investment assets 150,542 111,346
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5. OTHER REVENUE 2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Fund contributions to the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (37) (50)

Change in net market value of other assets (4,120) (1,874)

Interest received on tax refund - 36

Board sitting fees - 13

Cost recoveries 20 20

Medical fund commissions 19 17

Profit/(loss) on sale of equipment 2 3

Family law fees 8 10

Miscellaneous - 1

(4,108) (1,826)

The increase in the Change in net market value of other assets for the year stems from a review of the property, plant and 

equipment asset register. The review included two recommendations which were implemented. The two recommendations  

were (1) adjusting asset values down to appropriate values and (2) a complete write off of items due to obsolescence.

6. ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES 2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Salary related payments 7,461 7,317

Superannuation expense (i) 2,010 395

Consultants 986 774

Computer, software and communications 1,574 1,373

GST 606 489

Other (ii) 3,015 2,182

Recoveries from sub funds  (iii) (6,112) (5,157)

(9,540) (7,373)

The major increases for the year were:

(i)  Superannuation: the new accounting standard AASB 119 Employee Benefits has added volatility to the valuation of 
unfunded superannuation liabilities. Consequently the associated expense may vary considerably from year to year,

(ii)  Other expenses: there has been across the board increases in expenditure for the other expenses of the Fund.  
This includes stationary, marketing, training & development and election expenses.

(iii)  Recoveries: increases in funds under management has lead to large recovery from the sub funds.

7. INCOME TAX

As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund 

for tax purposes. Accordingly, the Contributory Scheme is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer 

contributions and capital gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses. A reconciliation of income tax 

expense, with revenues and expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a)  The components of the income tax benefit comprise:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Current tax 9,335 11,790

Deferred tax (5,551) (4,010)

Over/(under) provisions prior year - current year 216 1,352

Over/(under) provisions prior year - deferred tax 12 583

4,012 9,715
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(b) The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax benefit as follows:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax at 15% 31,573 25,966

Add tax effect of:

Tax credits 2,430 2,390

Non-deductible expenditure 65 63

Benefits paid 32,127 30,084

Other 426 (1,158)

35,048 31,379

Less tax effect of:

Member contributions 7,050 7,901

Untaxed contributions 24,096 22,881

Pre July 1988 funding credits 3,068 1,163

Exempt investment income 1,932 1,607

Discount on realised gains 2,886 2,045

Discount on unrealised gains 2,999 3,426

Pension exemption 11,081 10,066

Death and invalidity 1,188 1,422

Other 83 (1,039)

54,383 49,472

Less tax effect of:

Under/over provision for prior years 228 1,935

Tax credits 16,022 15,653

16,250 17,588

Income tax benefit (4,012) (9,715)
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(c) Balances as at 30 June:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Income tax receivable 14,441 12,384

Opening balance Charge  

to statement  

of change in  

net assets

Closing balance

Deferred tax asset

Investment income 152 27 179

Administration expenses 2,010 578 2,588

Pensions (59) (4) (63)

Balance as 30 June 2007 2,103 601 2,704

Investment income 430 (278) 152

Administration expenses 1,510 499 2,009

Pensions (193) 135 (58)

Balance as 30 June 2006 1,747 356 2,103

Deferred tax liability

Contributions (538) (90) (628)

Investment income (26,531) (8,199) (34,730)

Administration expenses (39) 39 -

Pensions 8,788 2,110 10,898

Balance as 30 June 2007 (18,320) (6,140) (24,460)

Contributions (366) (171) (538)

Investment income (20,963) (5,568) (26,531)

Administration expenses (34) (6) (39)

Pensions 6,826 1,962 8,788

Balance as 30 June 2006 (14,537) (3,783) (18,320)
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8. OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Sundry debtors (i) 6 704

Prepayments (ii) 294 -

300 704

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instrument:

(i)  Sundry debtors are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 30 day terms.

(ii)  Prepayments are non-interest bearing and settled over terms of insurance

(d) Reconciliation of tax benefit

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Investment income (241,340) (193,905)

Income tax calculated at 15% (36,201) (29,086)

Adjustments

Imputation credits 13,592 13,263

Discount on realised/unrealised gains 5,885 5,471

Exempt investment income 1,932 1,607

Pension exemption 11,081 10,066

32,490 30,407

Employer contributions - -

Pre July 1988 funding credits 3,068 1,163

Untaxed contributions 1,557 2,317

4,625 3,480

Other revenue 616 274

Expenses 1,474 1,226

Non deductible expenditure (65) (63)

Death and invalidity 1,188 1,422

Other (343) 120

2,254 2,705

Over provision prior year 228 1,935

Income tax benefit per financial statements 4,012 9,715
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9. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest 79,920 96,862

Mortgages 54,795 53,775

Provision for mortgage defaults (685) (691)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 134,030 149,946

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investment 1.25% 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July 691 1,081

Amounts adjusted (6) (390)

Closing balance 30 June 685 691

10. OTHER PAYABLES

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Interfund payable (i) (23,159) (24,925)

Sundry creditors and accrued expenses (ii) (4,602) (3,555)

(27,761) (28,480)

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i)  Interfund payable is non-interest bearing and repayable on a monthly basis. These balances arise as a result of the 
rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two or more sub funds.

(ii)  Sundry creditors are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms.

11. CONTRIBUTIONS IN ADVANCE

The Retirement Benefits Regulations 1994 require the Board to maintain separate accounts for various monies paid to the 

Fund.  In 1993, a contribution was received in advance which covered the expected liability, of all current and former members 

of the Contributory Scheme, who were previously employed by the Tasmanian Government Insurance Office (TGIO).

The State Actuary provided a review of the liability as at 30 June 2006 in respect of the former TGIO employees in her letter 

dated 2 December 2005. The State Actuary noted that a significant surplus in excess of the actual liability had been built up 

since the commencement of these accounts. The State Actuary recommended in that letter that these accounts be reduced 

by $6.35M. 

Advice was obtained from the Solicitor General as to how the reduction in these accounts can be executed. The Board is 

currently considering the contents of that advice and researching the various options. Consequently no action in regard  

to this surplus has been taken on these accounts.

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Opening balance 1 July 10,991 10,420

Additional provisions 1,459 852

Amounts used/adjusted (364) (279)

Closing balance 30 June 12,086 10,991

12. TOTAL ACCRUED BENEFITS FOR THE CONTRIBUTORY SCHEME AS A WHOLE

The liability for accrued benefits represents the Contributory Scheme present obligation to pay benefits to members and 

beneficiaries and has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the 

membership of the Contributory Scheme up to the reporting date.  
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The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a  

market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.  

The actuarial review for the triennial years ending 30 June 2007 has not been finalised with the assessment due by  

December 2007. The Accrued Benefits that were last valued at 30 June 2005 and that measurement has been disclosed.

Liability for Accrued Benefits 2005 2004

$’000 $’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 3,892,933 3,713,318

13. TOTAL VESTED BENEFITS FOR THE CONTRIBUTORY SCHEME AS A WHOLE

Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the Contributory Scheme (or any 

factor other than resignation from the Contributory Scheme) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive 

had they terminated their membership as at the reporting date.

Vested Benefits 2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 4,850,515 4,502,138

14. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

The vested benefits referred to in Note 13 are guaranteed under the Retirement Benefits Regulations 1994 by the  

responsible Minister.  

15.  FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

Employer contributions to the Contributory Scheme, which vary in line with employee contributions, are unfunded, being 

made on an ‘emerging cost’ basis. Employee contributions, which are fully funded by the members and vest fully in them,  

are made at a specified rate of salary.  This is reflected in the difference between the net assets available to pay benefits  

and the amount of accrued benefits as at the reporting date.

16. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Amounts received or due and receivable by the Tasmanian Audit Office for:

- an audit of the financial statements of the Fund 148 132

17. INSURANCE

The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Trustee has not taken out any insurance, as the Fund is a  

self insurer.

18. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

(a) The RBF Board participates in non-cancellable leasing arrangements for motor vehicles it uses. 

Under these arrangements the RBF Board:

• Is not required to purchase the motor vehicles at the end of the lease period,

• The lessee is Fleet Australia and the lessor is the Department of Treasury and Finance, with the Board being the sub  
lessor of the motor vehicles,

• There are no restrictions imposed by the lease arrangements.

(b) The total amount of rental expense recognised in the financial year was $22,468.
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(c) The minimum lease payments under the lease are:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

• not later than one year 6 33

•  later than one year and not later than five years - 5

(d) There are no contingent leases.

19. BOARD/KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

Names and positions held by Board/Key management personnel in office at any time during the financial year are:

Key Management Person Position
Mr D Egan President of the RBF Board
Ms A Schiwy Deputy President of the Board
Ms K Backhouse Board Member
Ms K Besharati Board Member
Mr R Close Board Member (ceased 27 September 2006)
Ms N Ellis Board Member
Mr J Wilcox Board Member (appointed 1 October 2006)
Mr L Jones Board Member
Mr S Gillies Chief Executive Officer
Mr L Roberts Executive Manager - Stakeholder Services
Mr R Mackenzie Executive Manager - Strategy & Member Services  

(appointed 1 August 2006)
Mr K Webster Executive Manager - Technology & Business Services  

(appointed 1 August 2006)
Mr A Davey Executive Manager - Business Process & Analysis  

(appointed 1 August 2006)
Mr D Ambroz Executive Manager - Member Administration  

(appointed 5 February 2007)
Mrs K Rosinski Executive Manager - Member Administration  

(resigned 12 November 2006)
Ms A Dumas Executive Manager -  Corporate Services (ceased 1 August 2006)
Mr J Harman Executive Manager - Investments (ceased 1 August 2006)
Mr S Stuart Executive Manager - Advisory Services (ceased 1 August 2006)

Compensation 2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Short term employee benefits 1,247 1,067

Post employment benefits 526 121

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between related parties are on a normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those 

available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

Transactions with related parties:

The Chairman of the Retirement Benefits Fund, Damian Francis Egan, is a Director of Murdoch Clarke Mortgage Management 

Limited. That company is now the Responsible Entity of the Murdoch Clarke Mortgage Fund. On 10 March 2005 the 

Retirement Benefits Fund entered into a Mortgage Syndication Agreement with Tasmanian Perpetual Trustees Limited 

("TPTL").  At that time, TPTL acted as Responsible Entity of the Murdoch Clarke Mortgage Fund and Tasmanian Perpetual  

Long Term Fund.

In that role, TPTL were to fund loans through both the Tasmanian Perpetual Long Term Fund and the Murdoch Clarke 

Mortgage Fund. Rather than fund loans from the Murdoch Clarke Mortgage Fund TPTL agreed to transfer loans in the 

Tasmanian Perpetual Long Term Fund to the Murdoch Clarke Mortgage Fund. On 1 July 2006 TPTL was replaced as 
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Responsible Entity of the Murdoch Clarke Mortgage Fund, and rather than transfer loans otherwise agreed to enter into  

a Deed to compensate the Murdoch Clarke Mortgage Fund for any lost income.  The agreement does not affect the returns 

on mortgage loans to the Retirement Benefits Fund.

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation are appended to the 

financial statements (Appendix A).

22. PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Provision for long service leave pay 819 831

Provision for annual leave 588 532

Provision for superannuation 13,077 11,981

Provision for organisational review - 400

14,484 13,744

Opening balance 1 July 13,744 13,855

Additional provisions 2,382 755

Amounts used/adjusted (1,642) (866)

Closing balance 30 June 14,484 13,744

The number of employees at year end was: 133 117

Organisational Review is based upon actual redundancy benefit payment and other costs associated with organisational 

structure review of the Fund. Balances as at 30 June amounted to $nil (2006:$400,000).

23. EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS 

Plan information

The Contributory Scheme is a defined benefit fund which pays lump sum and pension benefits to members upon retirement 

(most of which are calculated as a multiple of the member’s final average salary).  The figures include Contributory Scheme 

members and pensioners as well as members who hold a Compulsory Preservation Account.

Key assumptions

Key assumptions as at balance date  
and for following year expense

 30 June 2007 
 

 30 June 2006

Discount rate:

 Gross of tax  6.00%  5.80%

 Net of tax  5.90%  5.70%

Salary rate  4.50%  4.50%

Expected return on plan assets (net of tax)  7.00%  7.00%

Inflation (pensions)  2.50%  2.50%

Tax rate for Employer contributions  14.29% (1)  7.21%

Tax rate for Discount rate  2.25%  2.25%

Decrement rates As per the most recent actuarial 

investigation and report

As per the report “Valuation  

of Liabilities under the RBF as at  

30 June 2006”

Note 1:  This tax rate is based on the balance of Pre-July 1988 Funding Credits balance as at 30 June 2007

The expected return on plan assets (net of tax) has been based on the expected long term returns for each of the major 

asset classed in which the Plan invests.
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Plan assets

Asset disclosure 30 June 2007 30 June 2006
Australian equities 30% 38%
Overseas equities 25% 20%
Fixed interest securities 20% 21%
Property 25% 21%

Balance sheet results as at 30 June 2007

Net liability 30 June 2007 30 June 2006
$’000 $’000

Defined Benefit Obligation 17,108 16,483
Contributions tax liability 1,868 864
Total Defined Benefit Obligations 18,976 17,347
RBF Contributory Scheme assets(1) (5,899) (5,366)
Deficit/(Surplus)(2) 13,077 11,981
Unrecognised Past Service Cost - -
Unrecognised net (gain)/loss - -
Net liability / (asset) 13,077 11,981
Current net liability 1,388 2,312
Non-current net liability 11,689 9,669

 Note 1: Using unaudited accounts as at 31 March 2007, rolled forward to 30 June 2007.

 Note 2: Since issuing the 30 June 2006 report, audited accounts for the RBF Contributory Scheme have become available.  
  The net assets in the audited accounts were 2.6% higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the previous year’s figures.

 Note 3: Small differences may occur in totals due to rounding of figures.

Funded status

Defined benefit obligations 30 June 2007 30 June 2006
$’000 $’000

Funded(1) 5,889 5,630
Unfunded 13,087 11,716
Total 18,976 17,346

   Note 1:  The contributions tax liability has been included in the unfunded portion of the defined benefit obligation.

Movement in net liability

Movements in Net Liabilities 30 June 2007 30 June 2006
$’000 $’000

Net liability / (asset) in balance sheet at end of prior year 11,981 12,282
Expense recognised in income statement 2,016 127
Actual employer contributions (920) (428)
Increases in liabilities due to foreign currency exchange - -
Increases in liabilities due to business combinations - -
Net liability / (asset) in balance sheet at end of year 13,077 11,981

Profit and Loss results for year ending 30 June 2007

Expense: 30 June 2007 30 June 2006
$’000 $’000

Employer Service Cost 502 638
Contribution tax expense 9 59
Total Employer Service Cost 511 697 
Interest cost 890 812
Expected return on Plan assets (354) (325)
Recognised actuarial (gains) / losses 969 (1,057)
Recognised past service cost - -
Curtailment / settlement (gain) / loss - -
Expense recognised: 2,016 127
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Reconciliations

Fair value of Plan assets: 30 June 2007 30 June 2006
$’000 $’000

Fair value Plan assets at end of prior year 1 5,366 4,529

Estimated employer contributions 2 920 427

Estimated Contributions tax paid 3 - -

Estimated Participant contributions 4 238 317

Estimated operating costs 5 53 48

Estimated Benefit payments 6 1,732 477

Foreign currency exchange rate assets 7 - -

Business combination assets 8 - -

Curtailments / settlement assets 9 - -

Expected Return on Assets 10 354 325

Expected Assets at year end 11=1+2-3+4-5-6+7+8+9+10 5,093 5,073

Actuarial gain / (loss) on assets 12=13-11 806 293

Fair value Plan assets at year end(1) 13 5,899(1) 5,366(2)

Estimated Actual return on plan assets(3) 891 638

Note 1:  Using unaudited accounts as at 31 March 2007, rolled forward to 30 June 2007.

Note 2:  Since issuing the 30 June 2007 report, audited accounts for the RBF Contributory Scheme have become available. The net assets in the audited accounts 
were 2.6% higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the previous year’s figures.

Note 3:  Fair value of Plan assets can not be reconciled using the estimated figures shown in the table above, as a number of items such as net assets, operating costs 
and investment returns can only be estimated using the proportion of funded liabilities for each authority compared to that of the RBF Contributory Scheme 
as a whole.

Defined Benefit Obligations inclusive of contributions tax for disclosure purposes

Total Defined Benefit Obligations  
(net discount rate)(1)

30 June 2007 
$’000

30 June 2006 
$’000

Total Defined Benefit Obligations at  

end of prior year 14a 17,346 16,811

Employer Service Cost plus operating costs 15a 511 696

Interest cost 16 890 812

Actual Participant contributions 17 238 317

Actual operating costs (admin + insurance) 18 53 48

Actual Benefit payments plus Contributions Tax 19a 1,732 477

Foreign currency exchange rate liabilities 20 - -

Business combinations liabilities 21 - -

Curtailments / settlements liabilities 22 - -

New past service costs 23 - -

Expected Defined Benefit Obligations  

at year end

24a=14a+15a+16+17-18-

19a+20+21+22+23
17,200 18,111

Actuarial (gain) / loss on liabilities 25a 1,776 (765)
Actual Total Defined Benefit Obligations  

at year end
26a=24a+25a 18,976 17,346

Note 1: These figures include contributions tax.
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Defined Benefit Obligations exclusive of contributions tax for reconciliation purposes

Total Defined Benefit Obligations  
(net discount rate)(1)

30 June 2007 
$’000

30 June 2006 
$’000

Defined Benefit Obligations at  
end of prior year 14 16,483 15,846

Employer Service Cost plus operating costs 15 501 637

Interest cost 16 890 812

Actual Participant contributions 17 238 317

Actual operating costs (admin + insurance) 18 53 48

Actual Benefit payments 19 1,732 477

Foreign currency exchange rate liabilities 20 - -

Business combinations liabilities 21 - -

Curtailments / settlements liabilities 22 - -

New past service costs 23 - -

Expected Defined Benefit Obligations  
at year end

24=14+15+16+17-18-

19+20+21+22+23 16,327 17,087
Actuarial (gain) / loss on liabilities 25 781 (604)
Actual Defined Benefit Obligations  
at year end 26=24+25 17,108 16,483

Note 1: These figures do not include contributions tax.

Contributions Tax 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

Defined Benefit Obligations at end  

of prior year 27 16,483 15,846

Fair value Plan assets at end of prior year(1) 28 5,366(1) 4,529(2)

Net Obligation 29=27-28 11,117 11,318

Contributions Tax at end of prior year 30 864 965

Contributions tax expense 31=32-30+3 9 59

Actual Contributions tax paid 3 - -

Expected Contributions Tax at year end(3) 32=(24-11) / (1-t(0)) times t(0) 873 1,024

Actuarial (gain) / loss on contributions tax 33=34-32 995 (161)

Actual Contributions Tax at year end(3) 34=(26-13) / (1-t(1)) times t(1) 1,868 863

Note 1:  Using unaudited accounts as at 31 March 2007, rolled forward to 30 June 2007.

Note 2:  Since issuing the 30 June 2006 report, audited accounts for the RBF Contributory Scheme have become available. The net assets in the audited accounts  

were 2.6% higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the previous year’s figures.

Note 3:  t(0) is the tax rate for employer contributions as at 30 June 2006 or 7.86%, t(1) is the tax rate for employer contributions as at 30 June 2007 or 7.21%.
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Reconciliation of Actuarial  
(gain) / loss:

30 June 2007 
$’000

30 June 2006 
$’000

Unrecognised actuarial (gain) / loss  

at end of prior year 35 - -

Actuarial (gain) / loss on assets 12(a) = (12) (808) (293)

Actuarial (gain) / loss on liabilities 25 781 (604)

Actuarial (gain) / loss on Contributions Tax 33 995 (161)

Amount recognised during year in P&L 36 969 (1,057)

Immediate recognition gains/losses related 

to curtailment/settlement 37 - -

Unrecognised actuarial  

(gain) / loss at end of year
38=35+12(a)+25+33-36-37 - -

Interest Cost: 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

Defined Benefit Obligations at end  

of prior year (net discount rate) 14 16,483 15,846

Actual Benefit payments abp 1,732 477

Weighted for timing 51=abp / 2 866 238

Average benefit obligations 52=14-51 15,617 15,608

Discount rate d 5.70% 5.20%

Calculated Interest cost 53=d times 52 890 812

Interest cost used in calculation 890 812

Expected Return on Assets: 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

Fair value Plan assets at end of prior year 1 5,366(1) 4,529(2)

Actual Employer contributions 2 920 427

Weighted for timing 54=2 / 2 460 214

Actual Contributions tax paid 3 - -

Weighted for timing 55=3 / 2 - -

Actual Participant contributions 4 238 317

Weighted for timing 56 =4 / 2 119 158

Actual operating costs (admin + insurance) 5 53 48

Weighted for timing 57=5 / 2 26 24

Actual Benefit payments 6 1,732 477

Weighted for timing 58=6 / 2 866 238

Average expected assets 59=1+54-55+56-57-58 5,053 4,639

Assumed Rate of Return r 7.00% 7.00%

Calculated Expected Return on Assets 60=r times 59 354 325

Expected Return on Assets  

Used in Calculation
354 325

Note 1: Using unaudited accounts as at 31 March 2007, rolled forward to 30 June 2007.

Note 2: Since issuing the 30 June 2006 report, audited accounts for the RBF Contributory Scheme have become available. The net assets in the audited accounts 

were 2.6% higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the previous year’s figures.
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Net liability / (asset) at year end 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

Actual Defined Benefit Obligations  

at year end 26 17,108 16,483

Actual Contributions Tax at year end 34 1,868 864

Total Defined Benefit Obligation  

at year end 61=26+34 18,976 17,347

Actual Assets at year end 13(a)=(13) (5,899)(1) (5,366)(2)

Deficit / (Surplus) 62=61+13(a) 13,077 11,981

Unrecognised past service cost 50 - -

Unrecognised net (gain) / loss b - -

Net liability / (asset) 63=62-50-b 13,077 11,981

Note 1: Using unaudited accounts as at 31 March 2007, rolled forward to 30 June 2007, and audited accounts as at 30 June 2006.

Note 2: Since issuing the 30 June 2006 report, audited accounts for the RBF Contributory Scheme have become available. The net assets in the audited accounts 

were 2.6% higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the previous year’s figures.

Actuarial gain/(loss) for year 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

Defined benefit obligations  

(net of tax, prior year assumptions) 64 16,674 17,582

Contributions tax (prior year assumptions) 65=(64-13)/(1-t0)*t0 837 1,042

Defined benefit obligations (net of tax, 

current assumptions) 26 17,108 16,483

Actual contributions tax at year end 34 1,868 864

Actuarial (gain)/loss for year  

due to assumptions 66=26+34-(64+65) 1,464 (1,278)

Actuarial (gain)/loss for year  

due to experience 67=25+33-66 312 513

Actuarial (gain)/loss on assets 12(a) (808) (293)

Actuarial (gain)/loss for year 68=66+67+12(a) 968 (1,058)

History

The amounts for the current and previous annual reporting periods are shown below. 

30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

Total Defined Benefit Obligation at year end 18,976 17,347

Actual Assets at year end (5,899)(1) (5,366)(2)

Deficit / (Surplus) 13,077 11,981

Experience Adjustment on Liabilities 312 513

Experience Adjustment on assets (808) (293)

Note 1: Using unaudited accounts as at 31 March 2007, rolled forward to 30 June 2007.

Note 2: Since issuing the 30 June 2006 report, audited accounts for the RBF Contributory Scheme have become available. The net assets in the audited accounts 

were 2.6% higher than our estimated assets. This has not been adjusted for in the previous year’s figures.
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Funding and contribution information

The employer meets the cost of benefits as they emerge by paying a percentage of the benefit as it falls due, as defined in 

the Retirement Benefits Regulations 2005.

As at 30 June 2005, the present value of the total accrued benefits for the Contributory Scheme as a whole for the purposes 

of the AAS25, Financial Reporting by Superannuation Funds, was calculated to be $3,892,933,000.

Liabilities for Accrued Benefits 30 June 2005

$’000

Liability for the Scheme as a whole 3,892,933

Net market value of Scheme assets 1,255,312

Surplus/(deficit) 2,637,621

The economic assumptions used to calculate these figures were:

Assumptions Rate % p.a.

Discount rate 7.0

Salary inflation (inclusive of promotional increases) 4.5

Rate of Compulsory Preserved benefit increases (AWOTE) 4.0

Rate of pension increases (CPI) 2.5

24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On Saturday 22 September 2007 a fire partially destroyed the  Myer Hobart building, a property held by the Fund in its 

investment property portfolio. In  extinguishing the  fire,  water damage was caused to  a number of adjoining properties 

including the   retail complex  known as Elizabeth Plaza. Elizabeth Plaza is  also  fifty percent (50%) owned by the Fund.   

Both properties are insured for building replacement and loss of income. It is not Board policy to disclose values of  

individual property assets for commercial in confidence reasons.

As at 1 October 2007  and   following discussions with all insurers involved , it is considered that  there  should be  no 

impediments to successful insurance  claims for full replacement and loss of income. The Fund will  incur some expenses 

including insurance deductibles  and legal costs. However it is expected that financial effect of this event will have a minimal 

impact on  both  asset values  and returns of the Fund and consequentially it’s members.

25. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Contributory Scheme operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Estimate of the potential financial effect of contingent liabilities that may become payable:

Litigation against the Board

The Board is currently engaged in seven (7) separate legal proceedings. Five of these legal proceedings relate to questions 

arising under the regulations such as, lost rights, and determinations in relation to benefit eligibility and other matters. 

The cost estimates for all seven matters include, counsel’s fees, solicitor costs, disbursements, entitlements in lump sum terms 

(where these are known), penalty and compensation payments. The potential cost of these legal proceedings approximately 

amount to $990,868 (2006:$41,320). These actions are being defended, but legal counsel is not in a position to advise an 

outcome in all proceedings.

The Board was engaged in a legal proceeding in relation to a claim arising from investments held by the Board. Two former 

tenants of the Board at the Northgate Shopping Centre were claiming damages as a result of alleged misrepresentations 

by agents of the Board. In late 2006 the former tenants were successful and judgement was entered against the Board for 

$71,124 plus costs (2006: $627,777). The Board was successful in its claim for indemnity against two of the agents concerned. 

The judgment is still subject to an appeal, the outcome will determine the final cost.
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27. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following Australian Accounting Standards issued or amended which are applicable to the superannuation fund but are 

not yet effective and have not been adopted in preparation of the financial statements at reporting date.

AASB amendment no: AASB standard affected Application date of the 
amendment standard

2005-10 AASB 1: First time adoption of AIFRS 1 January 2007

AASB 101: Presentation  

of Financial Statements 1 January 2007

AASB 114: Segment Reporting 1 January 2007

AASB 117: Leases 1 January 2007

AASB 139: Financial Instruments: 

Recognition & Measurement 1 January 2007

AASB 7: Financial Instruments: 

Disclosures

AASB 132: Financial Instruments: 

Disclosure and Presentation 1 January 2007

The Australian Accounting Standards Board provides Accounting Standards AASB 2005–10 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards under Section 334 of the Corporations Act 2001. This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

This amendment arises from the release in August 2005 of AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. AASB 7 locates in one 

place all disclosures relating to financial instruments. The consequential amendments to the above existing standards are 

identified in this amending standard.

All other pending Standards issued between the previous financial report and the current reporting date do not have 

application to the Fund.
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RBF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2007
Notes As at As at

 30 June 2007 30 June 2006
 $’000 $’000
ASSETS
Cash Assets

Cash at bank  960  1,049 

Receivables
Investment income receivable  265  10 

Other receivable 7  47,258  33,012 

Investments
Australian shares  413,020  307,524 

International shares  229,011  159,039 

Diversified fixed interest 8  132,269  101,259 

Property  152,560  107,504 

Alternative investments  97,412  78,899 

Cash deposits  120,844  98,331 

Other Assets
Future income tax benefit 6  54  40 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,193,653  886,667 

LIABILITIES
Payables

Other payables 14  (2)  - 

Contributions payable  (2,619)  (1,657)

Provisions
General operating provision 12  (20,390)  (15,045)

Tax Liabilities
Provision for income tax 6  (11,461)  (7,593)

 Provision for deferred income tax 6  (10,525)  (5,948)

 Superannuation contributions surcharge payable  (150)  (93)

TOTAL LIABILITIES  (45,147)  (30,336)

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  1,148,506  856,331 

Represented by:
LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS
 Allocated to members' accounts 10  1,109,867  832,231 

Not yet allocated  38,639  24,100 

 1,148,506  856,331 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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RBF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT 

OPERATING STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Year ended Year ended

Notes 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 4  7,880  8,588 

Dividends 4  21,389  20,697 

Distributions 4  35,737  18,099 

Property rentals 4  1,093  1,092 

Changes in net market values of investments 5  81,162  54,730 

Direct investment expense  (3,422)  (3,061)

 143,839  100,145 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions  55,959  40,090 

Member contributions  116,051  63,653 

Transfers in  113,643  103,299 

 285,653  207,042 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  429,492  307,187 

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

 General operating fee  (8,431)  (8,417)

 Superannuation contributions surcharge  (885)  (824)

TOTAL EXPENDED FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  (9,316)  (9,241)

BENEFITS ACCRUED FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 

BEFORE INCOME TAX  420,176  297,946 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 6  (15,982)  (10,717)

BENEFITS ACCRUED FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 

AFTER INCOME TAX  404,194  287,229 

Benefits paid  (112,019)  (91,327)

Liability for accrued benefits at the beginning  

of the year  856,331  660,428 

Liability for accrued benefits at the end of the year  1,148,506  856,331

The above Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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RBF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Notes 2007 2006
$’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Employer contributions 55,959 40,090

Member contributions 117,013 63,806

Transfers from other funds 113,643 103,299

Interest received 3,069 2,795

Distributions received 1,343 692

Property and alternative investment returns 1,093 1,092

Benefits paid (112,019) (91,327)

Income tax paid (7,551) (7,372)

Direct investment expenses (3,042) (2,797)

Interfund transfers (14,246) (16,364)
Operating fees paid (3,256) (2,884)

Superannuation contributions surcharge paid (827) (821)
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM  

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 13 151,179 90,209

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of investments 291,509 218,965

Payments for purchase of investments (420,264) (287,710)
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES (128,755) (68,745)

NET INCREASE IN CASH HELD 22,424 21,464

ADD OPENING CASH BROUGHT FORWARD 99,380 77,916

CLOSING CASH CARRIED FORWARD 13 121,804 99,380

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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RBF INVESTMENT ACCOUNT 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Trust Deed and legislative requirements

These financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 “Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”, other applicable accounting standards; other 

mandatory requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, 

and relevant legislative requirements. 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

Basis of preparation

Australian Accounting Standards including Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AEIFRS). 

Compliance with AEIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AEIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. The Scheme  

is considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AEIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 is the principal standard that applies to these financial statements. Other standards, 

including AEIFRS, are also applied where necessary except where they differ from AAS25.

(b) Investments

Investments of the RBF Investment Account (“the Investment Account”) of the Retirement Benefits Fund (“the Fund”)  

are recorded at net market value as at the reporting date. 

Market values for investments are determined as follows:

• Cash is valued at face value;

• Listed equities are recorded at the “last” price quoted on the exchange that the equity is listed on less a provision  
for disposal costs;

• Unlisted equity, hybrids and swaps are valued at net market value using the valuation technique;

• Bonds are measured at their capital fair value using the valuation technique;

• Foreign exchange contracts are measured at fair value (the present value of all future cashflows);

• Options and futures are recognised at their quoted published prices (AASB 139) in an active market and on exchange  
bid or offer prices;

• Direct properties are valued at their net market values as determined by an independent valuer; and

• All other investments are valued at the net market value as assessed by the RBF Board. 

The Retirement Benefits Fund Board (“the RBF Board”) has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses  

from non-recovery of amounts owing on mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 8. There has been no major default to date.

The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation 

technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

The investments of the Fund are managed on behalf of the RBF Board by selected investment managers.  Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the Fund’s financial statements (Appendix D).

(c) Cash

Cash at bank and cash deposits are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.  For the purpose of the statement  

of cash flows, cash includes cash at bank and cash deposits that are readily convertible to cash on hand and that are used  

in the cash management function on a day-to-day basis.
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(d) Other receivables and other payables

Sundry debtors are carried at their nominal amounts due which approximate the net fair value.  Sundry creditors are 

recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received and which were unpaid at that date.   

The amounts are unsecured.  Sundry debtors and sundry creditors are subject to normal trade credit terms.  The interfund 

receivable and payable are carried at nominal amounts and are settled on a fortnightly basis.  Differences in the comparatives 

can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and timing of the settlement.

(e) Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits represents the Investment Account’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and 

beneficiaries, and has been calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the assets and the carrying amount 

of the sundry creditors and income tax liabilities as at the reporting date.

(f ) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue  

can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Changes in net market values

Changes in the net market value of assets are recognised in the statement of changes in net assets in the periods  

in which they occur.

Contributions and Transfers In

Contributions and transfers in are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded in the period to 

which they relate.  

Interest

Control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment in, assets has been attained.

Dividends

Dividends on quoted shares are deemed to accrue on the date the dividend is declared.

Distributions

Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

Rent

Rent on the Board’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(g) Foreign currency translation

Refer to Note 1(h) of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

(h) Income tax

The Investment Account is part of a complying superannuation fund within the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 

1936.  Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied.

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated 

on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur between the time 

items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining taxable income the 

net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a future income tax benefit or a provision for 

deferred income tax.  The net future income tax benefit relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as 

an asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.  

The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income tax expense.

The provision for deferred income tax would be expected to be settled twelve months or more from the reporting date as it 

relates to investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  
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(i) Superannuation contributions surcharge

Superannuation contribution surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions on the basis of the individual member’s 

adjusted taxable income.  The liability for the Superannuation contribution surcharge is recognised when the assessment is 

received, as the Trustee considers this is when it can be reliably measured.  The amount of the liability brought to account at 

balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 through to 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge 

calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and advised to the RBF Board.  The superannuation surcharge liability recognised 

by the RBF Board has been charged to the relevant members’ accounts.

The Superannuation Laws Amendment Act 2005 abolished the superannuation contributions surcharge in respect to 

superannuation contributions made on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions for the year 

ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. 

(j) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(k) Rounding

The amounts shown in these financial statements and accompanying notes have been rounded to the nearest thousand 

dollars where applicable.

(l) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

(m) Judgements and assumptions

Refer to note 1(r) of the Contributory Scheme.

2. NATURE OF THE INVESTMENT ACCOUNT

The Investment Account is an accumulation scheme whereby contributions of the employer and the employees are made in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act and the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed.  The members are credited 

or debited each year with their proportionate share of the net investment income, administration expense and income tax 

expense of the Account.

3. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

The Investment Account provides a means for former, current and new members of the superannuation schemes 

administered by the Board to invest compulsorily preserved and other funded superannuation benefits.   

The Investment Account is fully funded by those members. Member contributions are made on a voluntary basis.
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4. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Australian shares 32,980 26,831

International shares 6,430 5,697

Diversified fixed interest 8,574 5,118

Property 5,470 4,058

Alternative investments 5,939 2,011

Cash deposits 6,706 4,761

66,099 48,476

Consisting of:

Interest 7,880 8,588

Dividends 21,389 20,697

Distributions 35,737 18,099

Property rentals 1,093 1,092

66,099 48,476

5. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENT ASSETS

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian shares 42,057 19,568

International shares 10,264 12,554

Diversified fixed interest (3,152) (856)

Property 14,470 11,020

Alternative investments 3,277 2,650

Cash 326 301

67,242 45,237

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian shares 7,094 3,371

International shares 7,021 6,020

Diversified fixed interest (240) (161)

Property 26 182

Alternative investments 19 53

Cash - 28

13,920 9,493

Total change in net market value of investment assets 81,162 54,730
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6. INCOME TAX

As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund 

for tax purposes. Accordingly, the Investment Account is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer 

contributions and capital gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income tax 

expense, with revenues and expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax expense comprise:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Current tax (11,440) (8,082)

Deferred tax (4,541) (2,634)

Over/under provisions prior year - current tax 20 -

Over/under provisions prior year - deferred tax (21) -

(15,982) (10,717)

(b) The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax at 15% 63,026 44,692

Add tax effect of:

Tax credits 1,486 1,237

Non-deductible expenditure 39 33

Other 466 1,733

1,991 3,003

Less tax effect of:

Member contributions 34,456 25,098

Exempt investment income 1,182 832

Discount on realised gains 1,765 1,059

Discount on unrealised gains 1,834 1,704

Other - 35

39,237 28,729

Less tax effect of:

Under/over provision for prior years (1) -

Tax credits 9,800 8,250

9,799 8,250

Income tax expense 15,982 10,717
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(c) Balance as at 30 June:

2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Income tax liability (11,461) (7,593)

Opening balance Charge to 
statement of 

change in net 
assets

Closing balance

Deferred tax asset
Investment income 40 14 54

Balance as 30 June 2007 40 14 54

Investment income 168 128 40

Balance as 30 June 2006 168 128 40

Deferred tax liability
Contributions - (268) (268)

Investment income (5,948) (4,309) (10,257)

Administration expenses - - -

Pensions - - -

Balance as 30 June 2007 (5,948) (4,577) (10,525)

Contributions (140) 140 -

Investment income (3,302) (2,646) (5,948)

Balance as 30 June 2006 (3,442) (2,506) (5,948)

(d) Reconciliation of tax expense

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Investment income (143,839) (100,145)

Income tax calculated at 15% (21,576) (15,022)

Adjustments

Imputation credits 8,314 7,013

Discount on realised/unrealised gains 3,599 2,763

Exempt investment income 1,182 832

13,095 10,608

Employer contributions (8,394) (6,013)

Transfer in - 55

Expenses 1,398 1,386

Non deductible expenditure (39) (33)

Other (465) (1,698)

(15,981) (10,717)

Under provision prior year (1) -

Income tax expense per financial statements (15,982) (10,717)
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8. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST

2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest 78,871 64,369

Mortgages 54,074 37,356

Provision for mortgage defaults (676) (466)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 132,269 101,259

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investments 1.25% 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July 466 295

Additional provisions 210 171

Closing balance 30 June 676 466

9. LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS

Changes in liability for accrued benefits: 2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Liability for Accrued Benefits at the beginning of the year 856,331 660,428

Plus: Benefits Accrued from Ordinary Activities after Income Tax 404,194 287,230

Less:  Benefits Paid (112,019) (91,327)

Liability for Accrued Benefits at end of the year 1,148,506 856,331

10. VESTED BENEFITS

Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the Investment Account (or any factor 

other than resignation from the Investment Account) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they 

terminated their membership as at balance date.  

2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Vested benefits at the end of the financial year 1,109,867 832,230

Members with an RBF Compulsory Preservation Account, being former members of the Contributory and Non-Contributory 

Schemes, are funded by the employer when the member reaches his or her preservation age.  At that time, the employer 

contributions are paid to an Investment Account in the member’s name. 

The vested benefits of the Compulsory Preservation Account are benefits that members were entitled to receive  

as at 30 June:

2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Vested benefits at the end of the financial year 365,306 358,950

11. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

No guarantees have been made in respect of any part of the liability for accrued benefits of the Investment Account.

7. OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2007 2006
$’000 $’000

Interfund receivable 47,258 33,012

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

Interfund receivable is non-interest bearing and settled on a monthly basis. These balances arise as a result of the rebalancing  

of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two or more sub funds.
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12. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

The administration expenses of the Investment Account were initially paid by the Contributory Scheme of the Fund.  

To recoup this outlay, the crediting rate of the Investment Account is reduced by a specified rate.  This rate is based on  

a percentage of net assets of the Investment Account which varies between investment choices. 

To recoup the income tax expense of the Investment Account, the crediting rate of the Investment Account is reduced  

by a specified rate. This rate is based upon an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the  

year are explained by:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Opening balance 15,045 9,420

Add amounts deducted from members 11,141 10,731

Less amounts paid from provision (5,796) (5,106)

Closing balance 20,390 15,045

The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense is 

disclosed as the General Operating Provisions. These surplus/deficits are administered on the determination by the RBF Board 

in accordance with items 3.5.4 and 3.7.4 of the Trust Deed.

The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Administration 5,713 4,769

Investment management 823 654

Income taxation 13,854 9,622

Closing balance 20,390 15,045

13. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Benefits Accrued from Ordinary Activities  

 after Income Tax 

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Benefits accrued from ordinary activities 404,194 287,230

Changes in net market value of investments (81,162) (54,730)

Benefits paid (112,019) (91,327)

Non-cash distributions (60,339) (44,066)

Change in operating assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in other receivables (14,245) (16,364)

(Increase)/decrease in interest receivable (255) 169

(Increase)/decrease in future income tax benefit (14) 128

Increase/(decrease) in contributions payable 962 151

Increase/(decrease) in general operating provisions 5,244 5,625

Increase/(decrease) in provision for income tax 3,969 711

Increase/(decrease) in provision for deferred income tax 4,577 2,506

Increase/(decrease) in provision for Mortgage 210 173

Increase/(decrease) in superannuation contributions surcharge payable 57 3

Net cash inflow from operating activities 151,179 90,209
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(b) Reconciliation of Cash

Cash balances comprise: 2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Cash at bank 960 1,049

Cash deposits 120,844 98,331

121,804 99,380

(c) Non-cash transactions

During the year, dividends of $21,389 (2006: $20,697), interest of $4,556 (2006: $5,962) and distributions of $34,394  

(2006: $17,407) were received and reinvested by acquiring additional investment units.

14. OTHER PAYABLES

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Sundry creditor (2) -

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments: 

Sundry creditor items are non-interest bearing payable within 30 days.

15.  AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Refer Note 16 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

16. INSURANCE

The RBF Investment Account does not provide any death and disability insurance cover to members of the Fund.

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Refer to Note 20 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation are appended to the 

financial statements (Appendix A).

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Refer to note 24 of the Contributory Scheme.

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Investment Account operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

21. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Refer to Note 27 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.



retirement benefits fund annual report 07   85

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

TASMANIAN ACCUMULATION SCHEME 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2007

Notes As at As at

30 June 2007 30 June 2006

ASSETS $’000 $’000

Cash Assets

Cash at bank  167 241

Receivables

 Investment income receivable 139 16

 Other receivable 8  - 205

Investments

 Australian shares  181,360 144,064

 Overseas shares 110,335 77,957

 Diversified fixed interest 9  63,434 49,444

 Property  72,849 52,442

 Alternative investments  45,508 38,131

 Cash deposits  48,779 38,163

Other Assets

 Future income tax benefit 7  27 21

TOTAL ASSETS  522,598 400,684

LIABILITIES

Payables

 Contributions payable  (6) (1)

 Other payables 10  (20,480) (7,905)

Provisions

 Provision for death & incapacity insurance  (12,528) (9,918)

 General operating provision 14  (7,627) (5,975)

Tax Liabilities

 Provision for income tax 7  (11,653) (10,073)

 Provision for deferred income tax 7  (4,076) (2,025)

TOTAL LIABILITIES  (56,370) (35,897)

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  466,228 364,787

Represented by:

LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS

 Allocated to members’ accounts 11,12,13  426,288 350,281

 Not yet allocated 39,940 14,506

466,228 364,787

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Year ended Year ended

Notes 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$'000 $'000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 4  3,222  3,512 

Dividends 4  10,069  9,753 

Distributions 4  15,543  8,365 

Property rentals 4  523  525 

Changes in net market values  

of investments 5  39,672  25,659 

Direct investment expense  (1,615)  (1,477)

 67,414  46,338 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions  73,391  64,931 

Member contributions  45,991  46,913 

Other contributions 6  37  51 

 119,419  111,895 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  186,833  158,233 

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

General operating fee  (3,868)  (4,335)

Death & incapacity insurance fee  (4,341)  (3,850)

Superannuation contributions surcharge  (530)  (453)

TOTAL EXPENDED FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  (8,739)  (8,638)

BENEFITS ACCRUED FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE 

INCOME TAX  178,094  149,595 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 7  (13,680)  (11,859)

BENEFITS ACCRUED FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER 

INCOME TAX  164,414  137,736 

Benefits paid  (62,973)  (50,788)

Liability for accrued benefits at the beginning of the year  364,787  277,839 

Liability for accrued benefits at the end of the year  466,228  364,787 

The above Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

TASMANIAN ACCUMULATION SCHEME 

OPERATING STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
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TASMANIAN ACCUMULATION SCHEME 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Employer contributions 73,391 64,931

Member contributions 45,995 46,913

Other contributions 37 51

Interest received 1,472 1,347

Distributions received 641 336

Property and alternative investment returns 523 525

Benefits paid (62,762) (50,927)

Direct investment expenses (1,453) (1,326)

Management fee paid (2,282) (2,012)

Income tax paid (10,057) (9,787)

Interfund transfers 12,572 6,198

Death and incapacity benefits deducted (1,731) (1,281)

Superannuation contributions surcharge paid (530) (460)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 15 55,816 54,508

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of investments 158,823 104,533

Payments for purchase of investments (204,097) (145,938)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (45,274) (41,405)

NET INCREASE IN CASH HELD 10,542 13,103

ADD OPENING CASH BROUGHT FORWARD 38,404 25,301

CLOSING CASH CARRIED FORWARD 15 48,946 38,404

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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TASMANIAN ACCUMULATION SCHEME 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Compliance  with Australian Accounting Standards, the Trust Deed and legislative requirements

These financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 “Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”, other applicable accounting standards, other 

mandatory requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, 

and relevant legislative requirements. 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

Basis of preparation

Australian Accounting Standards including Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AEIFRS). 

Compliance with AEIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AEIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. The Scheme is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AEIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 is the principal standard that applies to these financial statements. Other standards, 

including AEIFRS, are also applied where necessary except where they differ from AAS25.

(b) Investments

Investments of the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme (“TAS”) of the Retirement Benefits Fund (“the Fund”) are recorded  

at net market value as at the reporting date. 

Market values for investments are determined as follows:

• Cash is valued at face value;

• Listed equities are recorded at the “last” price quoted on the exchange that the equity is listed on less a provision  
for disposal costs;

• Unlisted equity, hybrids and swaps are valued at net market value using the valuation technique;

• Bonds are measured at their capital fair value using the valuation technique;

• Foreign exchange contracts are measured at fair value (the present value of all future cashflows);

• Options and futures are recognised at their quoted published prices (AASB 139) in an active market and on exchange  
bid or offer prices;

• Direct properties are valued at their net market values as determined by an independent valuer; and

• All other investments are valued at the net market value as assessed by the Retirement Benefits Fund Board. 

The Retirement Benefits Fund Board (“the RBF Board”) has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses  

from non-recovery of amounts owing on mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 9. There has been no major default to date.

The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation 

technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

The investments of the Fund are managed on behalf of the RBF Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the financial statements (Appendix D).

(c) Cash

Cash at bank and cash deposits are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.  For the purposes of the statement  

of cash flows, cash includes cash at bank and cash deposits that are readily convertible to cash on hand and that are used  

in the cash management function on a day-to-day basis.
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(d) Other receivables and other payables

Sundry debtors are carried at their nominal amounts due which approximate the net fair value.  Sundry creditors are 

recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received and which were unpaid at that date.   

The amounts are unsecured.  Sundry debtors and sundry creditors are subject to normal trade credit terms.  The interfund 

receivable and payable are carried at nominal amounts and are settled on a fortnightly basis.  Differences in the comparatives 

can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and timing of the settlement.

(e) Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits is the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and 

beneficiaries, and has been calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the assets and the carrying amount 

of the sundry creditors and income tax liabilities as at the reporting date.

(f ) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue  

can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Changes in net market values

Changes in the net market value of assets are recognised in the statement of changes in net assets in the period in which 

they occur.

Contributions and Transfers In

Contributions and transfers in are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded in the period  

to which they relate.  

Interest

Control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment in, assets has been attained.

Dividends

Dividends on quoted shares are deemed to accrue on the date the dividend is declared.

Distributions

Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

Rent

Rent on the Board’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(g) Foreign currency translation

Refer to Note 1(h) of the Notes to the financial statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

(h) Income tax

TAS is part of a complying superannuation fund within the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936.   

Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied.

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated 

on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur between the time 

items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining taxable income the 

net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a future income tax benefit or a provision for 

deferred income tax.  The net future income tax benefit relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as 

an asset unless the benefit has a high probability of being realised.  

The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income tax expense.

The provision for deferred income tax would be expected to be settled 12 months or more from the reporting date as it 

relates to investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.
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(i) Superannuation contributions surcharge

Superannuation contribution surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions on the basis of the individual member’s 

adjusted taxable income.  The liability for the Superannuation contribution surcharge is recognised when the assessment is 

received, as the Trustee considers this is when it can be reliably measured.  The amount of the liability brought to account at 

balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 through to 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge 

calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and advised to the RBF Board.  The superannuation surcharge liability recognised 

by the TAS Scheme has been charged to the relevant members’ accounts.

The Superannuation Laws Amendment Act 2005 abolished the superannuation contributions surcharge in respect to 

superannuation contributions made on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions for  

the year ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. 

(j) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(k) Rounding

The amounts shown in these financial statements and accompanying notes have been rounded to the nearest thousand 

dollars where applicable.

(l) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

(m) Judgements and assumptions

Refer to note 1(r) of the Contributory Scheme.

2. NATURE OF THE TASMANIAN ACCUMULATION SCHEME

TAS is an accumulation scheme established under the Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 1999. It provides eligible 

employees with the minimum superannuation guarantee support under a Trust Deed dated 17 April 2000 which took effect 

on 25 April 2000.

3. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

On 25 April 2000, the initial account balances of TAS, being the account balances of the Non-Contributory Scheme as at 

that date, were funded using surplus assets from within the Contributory Scheme, adjusted to take account of the income 

taxation differences between the two schemes.

During 2006–07 employers contributed to TAS at the rate of 9% (2005–06: 9%) of the gross salaries of those employees  

who were members’ of the scheme.  Allocated and Term Allocated pensions are purchased on a commercial basis.
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4. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Australian shares 14,017 12,243

International shares 3,132 2,783

Diversified fixed interest 4,153 2,470

Property 2,616 1,965

Alternative investments 2,768 959

Cash deposits 2,671 1,735

29,357 22,155

Consisting of:

Interest 3,222 3,512

Dividends 10,069 9,753

Distributions 15,543 8,365

Property rentals 523 525

29,357 22,155

5. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENT ASSETS

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian shares 20,777 8,836

International shares 5,055 5,983

Diversified fixed interest (1,480) (428)

Property 6,976 5,333

Alternative investments 1,602 1,257

Cash 159 147

33,089 21,128

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian shares 3,274 1,566

International shares 3,403 2,918

Diversified fixed interest (116) (78)

Property 13 87

Alternative investments 9 26

Cash - 12

6,583 4,531

Total change in net market value of investment assets 39,672 25,659

6. OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS

Other contributions are adjustments to the back-funding of TAS, described in Note 3, which are $36,941 (2006:$50,693). 
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7. INCOME TAX

As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for 

tax purposes. Accordingly, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, 

employer contributions and capital gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income 

tax expense, with revenues and expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax expense comprise:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Current tax (11,645) (10,828)

Deferred tax (2,037) (1,031)

Over/under provisions prior year - current year 10 -

Over/under provisions prior year - deferred tax (8) -

(13,680) (11,859)

(b) The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax at 15% 26,714 22,439

Add tax effect of:

Tax credits 650 509

Non-deductible expenditure 17 13

Other 907 1,460

1,574 1,982

Less tax effect of:

Member contributions 6,898 7,045

Exempt investment income 517 342

Discount on realised gains 772 436

Discount on unrealised gains 802 701

Pension exemption 1,330 344

Other 1 303

10,320 9,171

Less tax effect of:

Under/over provision for prior years 2 -

Tax credits 4,286 3,391

4,288 3,391

Income tax expense 13,680 11,859
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(c) Balance as at 30 June:

2007 2006
$'000 $’000

Income tax liability (11,653) (10,073)

Opening balance Charge  
to statement  
of change in 

 net assets

Closing balance

Deferred tax asset
Investment income 17 7 25

Pensions 3 - 3

Balance as 30 June 2007 20 7 27

Investment income 79 (61) 18

Pensions (12) 15 3

Balance as 30 June 2006 67 (46) 21

Deferred tax liability
Contributions - (184) (184)

Investment income (2,768) (2,120) (4,888)

Pensions 743 253 996

Balance as 30 June 2007 (2,025) (2,051) (4,076)

Investment income (1,533) (1,234) (2,767)

Pensions 493 249 742

Balance as 30 June 2006 (1,040) (985) (2,025)

(d) Reconciliation of tax expense

2007 2006
$'000 $’000

Investment income (67,414) (46,338)

Income tax calculated at 15% (10,112) (6,951)

Adjustments

Imputation credits 3,636 2,882

Discount on realised/unrealised gains 1,574 1,137

Exempt investment income 517 342

Pension Exemption 1,330 344

7,057 4,705

Employer contributions (11,009) (9,740)

Expenses 1,311 1,296

Non deductible expenditure (17) (13)

Other (908) (1,157)

(13,678) (11,859)

Under provision prior year (2) -

Income tax expense per financial statements (13,680) (11,859)
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8. OTHER RECEIVABLES 

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Sundry debtors - 205

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instrument:

Sundry debtors are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 30 day terms.

9. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest investments 37,825 31,431

Mortgages 25,933 18,241

Provision for mortgage defaults (324) (228)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 63,434 49,444

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investment 1.25% 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July 228 122

Additional provisions 96 106

Closing balance 30 June 324 228

10. OTHER PAYABLES

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Interfund payable (i) (20,321) (7,750)

Sundry creditors (ii) (3) (155)

Pension Payable (iii) (156) -

(20,480) (7,905)

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i) Interfund payable is non-interest bearing and repayable on a monthly basis. These balances arise as a result of the 
rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two or more sub funds.

(ii) Sundry creditors are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 30 day terms.

(iii) Pensions payable are non-interest bearing payable within 14 days.

11. LIABILITY FOR ACCRUED BENEFITS

Changes in liability for accrued benefits: 2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Liability for Accrued Benefits at the beginning of the year 364,787 277,839

Plus: Benefits Accrued from Ordinary Activities after Income Tax 164,414 137,736

Less:  Benefits Paid (62,973) (50,788)

Liability for Accrued Benefits at end of the year 466,228 364,787
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Consists of: 2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Allocated Pension Accounts 93,177 73,216

Term Allocated Pension Accounts 2,380 1,033

Superannuation Guarantee members 370,671 290,538

Liability for Accrues Benefits at the end of the year 466,228 364,787

12. VESTED BENEFITS

Vested benefits are benefits that are not conditional upon continued membership of TAS (or any factor other than resignation 

from it) being benefits that members were entitled to receive had they terminated their membership as at the reporting date.  

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Allocated Pension Accounts 69,456 71,899

Term Allocated Pension Accounts 2,167 1,014

Superannuation Guarantee members 354,665 277,368

Vested benefits at the end of the year 426,288 350,281

13. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

No guarantees have been made in respect of any part of the liability for accrued benefits of TAS.

14. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

The administration expenses of TAS were initially paid by the Contributory Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay, the 

crediting rate of TAS is reduced by a specified rate.  This rate is based on a percentage of net assets of TAS which varies 

between investment choices. 

To recoup the income tax expense of TAS, the crediting rate of the TAS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based upon 

an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Opening balance 5,975 3,607

Add amounts deducted from members 5,146 5,586

Less amounts paid from provision (3,494) (3,218)

Closing balance 7,627 5,975

The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense is 

disclosed as the General Operating Provisions. These surplus/deficits are administered on the determination by the RBF 

Board in accordance with items 3.5.4 and 3.7.4 of the Trust Deed.

The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Administration 1,468 1,744

Investment management 452 386

Income taxation 5,707 3,845

Closing balance 7,627 5,975
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15. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Benefits Accrued from  
 Ordinary Activities after Income Tax 

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Benefits accrued from ordinary activities 164,414 137,737

Changes in net market value of investments (39,672) (25,659)

Benefits paid (62,973) (50,788)

Non-cash distributions (26,598) (20,029)

Change in operating assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in other receivables 205 (200)

(Increase)/decrease in interest receivable (123) 81

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax asset (6) 46

Increase/(decrease) in other payables 12,575 6,259

Increase/(decrease) in contributions payable 5 -

Increase/(decrease) in general operating provisions 1,652 2,368

Increase/(decrease) in provision for death and incapacity insurance 2,610 2,568

Increase/(decrease) in provision for income tax 1,580 1,041

Increase/(decrease) in provision for deferred tax liability 2,051 985

Increase/(decrease) in provision for surcharge payable - (7)

Increase/(decrease) in provision for mortgage defaults 96 106

Net cash inflow from operating activities 55,816 54,508

(b) Reconciliation of Cash

Cash balances comprise: 2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Cash at bank 167 241

Cash deposits 48,779 38,163

48,946 38,404

(c) Non-cash transactions

During the year, dividends of $10,069 (2006: $9,753), interest of $1,627 (2006: $2,246) and distributions of $14,902  

(2006: $8,030) were received and reinvested by acquiring additional investment units.

16.  AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Refer Note 16 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

17. INSURANCE

The Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme provides death and disability benefits to members. The Trustee has not taken out any 

insurance, as the Fund is a self insurer.
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Refer to Note 20 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation are appended to the 

financial statements (Appendix A).

20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Refer to note 24 of the Contributory Scheme.

21. SEGMENT INFORMATION

TAS operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

22. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Refer to Note 27 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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PARLIAMENTARY SUPERANNUATION FUND 

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AS AT 30 JUNE 2007

 As at As at

Notes 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$'000 $'000

ASSETS

Receivables

Investment income receivable  1  - 

Other receivable 6  38  75 

Investments

Australian shares  2,307  2,422 

Interenational shares  1,925  1,345 

Diversified fixed interest 8  764  802 

Property  1,153  947 

Alternative investments  779  680 

Cash deposits  770  537 

TOTAL ASSETS  7,737  6,808 

LIABILITIES

Payables

Other payables 7  (463)  (17)

Provisions

General operating provision 16  (241)  (150)

Tax Liabilities

Provision for income tax 5  (147)  (143)

Provision for deferred income tax 5  (75)  (55)

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable  (23)  (22)

TOTAL LIABILITIES  (949)  (387)

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  6,788  6,421 

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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PARLIAMENTARY SUPERANNUATION FUND 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Year ended Year ended

Notes 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$'000 $'000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 3  33  56 

Dividends 3  139  176 

Distributions 3  243  151 

Property rentals 3  10  11 

Changes in net market values of investments 4  598  523 

Direct investment expense  (33)  (34)

 990  883 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions  973  950 

Member contributions  32  33 

 1,005  983 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  1,995  1,866 

BENEFITS PAID

Pensions  (1,335)  (1,294)

 (1,335)  (1,294)

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

General Operating Fees  (126)  2 

Superannuation contributions surcharge  (1)  - 

TOTAL EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  (1,462)  (1,292)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX  533  574 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 5  (166)  (155)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX  367  419 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  

at the beginning of the year  6,421  6,002 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  

at the end of the year  6,788  6,421

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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PARLIAMENTARY SUPERANNUATION FUND 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and legislative requirements  

These financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 “Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”, other applicable accounting standards; other 

mandatory requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993, the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, 

and relevant legislative requirements. 

The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation Trustee Arrangements and Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 2002 received 

Royal Assent on 27 November 2002. This legislation had effect from 1 January 2003. It resulted in:

• The Parliamentary Superannuation Fund and the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund being transferred to the Retirement 
Benefits Fund as sub-funds

• The Retirement Benefits Fund Board becoming the corporate Trustee of these sub funds

• The Parliamentary Superannuation Act 1973, the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Act 1985, the Parliamentary Superannuation 
Regulations 1999 and the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Regulations 1999 being repealed.

The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) Regulations 2002 commenced on 1 January 2003. The purpose of 

these regulations is to ensure that equivalent rights continue to be provided to members of the Parliamentary Funds upon 

their incorporation as sub-funds of the Retirement Benefits Fund.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

Basis of preparation

Australian Accounting Standards including Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AEIFRS). 

Compliance with AEIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AEIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. The Scheme is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AEIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 is the principal standard that applies to these financial statements. Other standards, 

including AEIFRS, are also applied where necessary except where they differ from AAS25.

(b) Investments

Assets of the Parliamentary Superannuation Fund (PSF) of the Retirement Benefits Fund (“the Fund”) are recorded at net 

market value as at the reporting date. 

Market values for investments are determined as follows:

• Cash is valued at face value;

• Listed equities are recorded at the “last” price quoted on the exchange that the equity is listed on less a provision  
for disposal costs;

• Unlisted equity, hybrids and swaps are valued at net market value using the valuation technique;

• Bonds are measured at their capital fair value using the valuation technique;

• Foreign exchange contracts are measured at fair value (the present value of all future cashflows);

• Options and futures are recognised at their quoted published prices (AASB 139) in an active market and on exchange  
bid or offer prices;

• Direct properties are valued at their net market values as determined by an independent valuer; and

• All other investments are valued at the net market value as assessed by the Retirement Benefits Fund Board. 

The Retirement Benefits Fund Board (“the Board”) has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses from  

non-recovery of amounts owing on mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 8. There has been no major default to date.

The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 
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instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation 

technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

The investments of the Fund are managed on behalf of the Board by selected investment managers. Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the financial statements (Appendix D).

(c) Cash

Cash at bank and cash deposits are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

(d) Other receivables and other payables

Sundry debtors are carried at their nominal amounts due which approximate the net fair value.  Sundry creditors are 

recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received and which were unpaid at that date.   

The amounts are unsecured.  Sundry debtors and sundry creditors are subject to normal trade credit terms.  The interfund 

receivable and payable are carried at nominal amounts and are settled on a fortnightly basis.  Differences in the comparatives 

can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and timing of the settlement.

(e) Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits of the PSF at 30 June 2007 is not included in the Statement of Net Assets, the amount being 

reported by way of note (Note 9).

The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which 

arise from membership of the PSF up to the measurement date. The figure reported in Note 9 has been determined by 

reference to expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant 

actuarial assumptions.

A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in Accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 for the Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2007 is appended to the financial 

statements (Appendix C).

(f ) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue  

can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Changes in net market values 

Changes in the net market value of assets are recognised in the statement of changes in net assets in the period in which 

they occur.

Contributions and Transfers In 

Contributions and transfers in are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded in the period to 

which they relate.  

Interest 

Control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment in, assets has been attained.

Dividends 

Dividends on quoted shares are deemed to accrue on the date the dividend is declared.

Distributions 

Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

Rent 

Rent on the Board’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(g) Foreign currency translation

Refer to Note 1(h) of the Notes to the financial statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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(h) Income tax

The PSF is part of a complying superannuation fund within the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936.   

Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied.

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated 

on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur between the time 

items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining taxable income the 

net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a future income tax benefit or a provision for 

deferred income tax.  The net future income tax benefit relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as 

an asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.  

The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income tax expense.

The provision for deferred income tax would be expected to be settled twelve months or more from the reporting date as it 

relates to investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  

(i) Goods and services tax (GST)

Where applicable, GST incurred by the Fund, that is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office, has been recognised as 

part of the expense to which it applies.  Receivables and other payables are stated with any applicable GST included in the 

value.  The amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Tax Office is included as a receivable or payable in 

the Statement of Net Assets.

(j) Superannuation contributions surcharge

Superannuation contribution surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions on the basis of the individual member’s 

adjusted taxable income.  The liability for the Superannuation contribution surcharge is recognised when the assessment is 

received, as the Trustee considers this is when it can be reliably measured.  The amount of the liability brought to account at 

balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 through to 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge 

calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and reported to the RBF Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised 

by the RBF Board has been charged to the relevant PSF member’s accounts.

The Superannuation Laws Amendment Act 2005 abolished the superannuation contributions surcharge in respect to 

superannuation contributions made on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions for the year 

ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. Interest will continue to be debited to 

outstanding balances on member accounts. 

(k) Benefits payable

Benefits payable comprise the entitlements of members who ceased employment or were entitled to an invalidity 

withdrawal but had not been paid at that time.  Benefits payable are normally settled within 30 days.

(l) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(m) Rounding

The amounts shown in these financial statements and accompanying notes have been rounded to the nearest thousand 

dollars where applicable.

(n) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

(o) Judgements and assumptions

Refer to note 1(r) of the Contributory Scheme.
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2. NATURE OF THE SCHEME

The PSF is a defined benefit scheme that provides benefits to its members pursuant to the provisions of the Act.  

The PSF was closed to new members as at 11 November 1985.

3. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Australian shares 181 218

International shares 62 50

Diversified fixed interest 52 46

Property 44 38

Alternative investments 47 17

Cash deposits 39 25

425 394

Consisting of:

Interest 33 56

Dividends 139 176

Distribution 243 151

Property rentals 10 11

425 394

4. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENT ASSETS

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian shares 282 186

International shares 99 132

Diversified fixed interest (16) (8)

Property 112 103

Alternative investments 28 24

Cash 3 3

508 440

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian shares 40 29

International shares 51 53

Diversified fixed interest (1) (2)

Property - 2

Alternative investments - 1

90 83

Total change in net market value of investment assets 598 523
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5. INCOME TAX

As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for tax 

purposes. Accordingly, the PSF is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital 

gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and 

expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax expense comprise:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Current tax (146) (145)

Deferred tax (20) (10)

(166) (155)

(b) The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax at 15% 80 86

Add tax effect of:

Tax credits 10 11

Benefits paid 200 194

Other 47 4

257 209

Less tax effect of:

Member contributions 5 5

Exempt investment income 8 7

Discount on realised gains 12 9

Discount on unrealised gains 12 15

Pension exemption 68 24

Other - 9

105 69

Less tax effect of:

Tax credits 66 71

66 71

Income tax expense 166 155
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(c) Balance as at 30 June:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Income tax liability (147) (143)

Opening balance Charge to 
statement of 

change in net assets

Closing balance

Deferred tax asset

Investment income 1 - 1

Pensions (1) - (1)

Balance as 30 June 2007 - - -

Investment income 2 (1) 1

Pensions (2) 1 (1)

Balance as 30 June 2006 - - -

Deferred tax liability

Contributions (89) (33) (122)

Administration expenses 34 13 47

Balance as 30 June 2007 (55) (20) (75)

Investment income (63) (26) (89)

Pensions 18 16 34

Balance as 30 June 2006 (45) (10) (55)

(d) Reconciliation of tax expense

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Investment income (990) (883)

Income tax calculated at 15% (149) (132)

Adjustments

Imputation credits 56 60

Discount on realised/unrealised gains 24 24

Exempt investment income 8 7

Pension Exemption 68 24

156 115

Employer contributions (145) (143)

Expenses 19 -

Other (47) 5

(166) (155)

Income tax expense per financial statements (166) (155)
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6. OTHER  RECEIVABLES  

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Sundry debtors (i) - 75

Accrued Contributions (ii) 38 -

38 75

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i) Sundry debtors are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 30 day terms.

(ii) Interfund receivable is non-interest bearing and settled on a monthly basis. These balances arise as a result  

of the rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two or more sub funds.

7. OTHER PAYABLES

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Pensions payable (i) (10) -

Interfund payable (ii) (453) (17)

(463) (17)

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i) Pensions payable are non-interest bearing payable within 14 days.

(ii) Interfund payable is non-interest bearing and settled on a monthly basis. These balances arise as a result of the 
rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two or more sub funds.

8. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest 456 510

Mortgages 312 296

Provision for mortgage defaults (4) (4)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 764 802

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investments 1.25% 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July 4 1

Additional provisions - 3

Closing balance 30 June 4 4

9. TOTAL ACCRUED BENEFITS FOR THE PSF AS A WHOLE

The liability for accrued benefits represents the PSF’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and  

has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership of  

the plan up to the reporting date.  

The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a market-

based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.  

The actuarial review for the triennial years ending 30 June 2007 has not been finalised with the assessment due by December 

2007. The Accrued Benefits that were last valued at 30 June 2005 and that measurement has been disclosed.
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Liability for Accrued Benefits 2005 2004

$’000 $’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 17,840 17,666

10. TOTAL VESTED BENEFITS FOR THE PSF AS A WHOLE

Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the PSF (or any factor other 

than resignation from the PSF) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their 

membership as at the reporting date.

Vested Benefits 2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 18,437 18,227

11. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

The vested benefits referred to in Note 10 are guaranteed under the Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) 

Regulations 2002 (“the Regulations”).  

12. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

Employer contributions to the PSF are unfunded, being made on an ‘emerging cost’ basis. Employee contributions, which are 

fully funded by the members and vest fully in them, are made at a specified rate of salary.  This is reflected in the difference 

between the net assets available to pay benefits and the amount of accrued benefits as at the reporting date.

13. INSURANCE

The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Trustee has not taken out any insurance, as the Fund is a  

self insurer.

14. RELATED PARTIES

Refer to Note 20 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation are appended to the 

financial statements (Appendix A).

16. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

The administration expenses of PSF are initially paid by the Contributory Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay, the 

crediting rate of PSF is reduced by a specified rate.  

To recoup the income tax expense of PSF, the crediting rate of the PSF is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based upon 

an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Opening balance 150 187

Add amounts deducted from members 155 179

Less amounts paid from provision (64) (216)

Closing balance 241 150
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The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense is 

disclosed as the General Operating Provisions. These surplus/deficits are administered on the determination by the RBF Board 

in accordance with items 3.5.4 and 3.7.4 of the Trust Deed.

The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Administration 43 26

Investment management 40 29

Income taxation 158 95

Closing balance 241 150

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Refer to note 24 of the Contributory Scheme.

18. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The PSF operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

19. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Refer Note 16 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

20. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Refer Note 27 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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PARLIAMENTARY RETIRING BENEFITS FUND

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AS AT 30 JUNE 2007

 

Notes

As at

30 June 2007

$’000

As at

30 June 2006

$’000

ASSETS

Receivables

Investment income receivable  2  - 

Other receivable 6  85  45 

Investments

Australian shares  3,044  3,016 

International shares  2,540  1,675 

Diversified fixed interest 7  1,008  998 

Property  1,518  1,176 

Alternative investments  1,028  847 

Cash deposits  1,014  669 

Other Assets

Future income tax benefit 5  1  1 

TOTAL ASSETS  10,240  8,427 

LIABILITIES

Payables

Other payables 8  (566)  (486)

Provisions

General operating provision 16  (335)  (199)

Tax Liabilities

Provision for income tax 5  (85)  (78)

Provision for deferred income tax 5  (145)  (101)

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable  (140)  (97)

TOTAL LIABILITIES  (1,271)  (961)

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  8,969  7,466 

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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PARLIAMENTARY RETIRING BENEFITS FUND

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Year ended Year ended

Notes 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 3  45  71 

Dividends 3  186  223 

Distributions 3  321  192 

Property rentals 3  13  13 

Changes in net market values of investments 4  804  664 

Direct investment expense  (42)  (42)

 1,327  1,121 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions  405  442 

Member contributions  142  172 

547  614 

OTHER REVENUE -  1 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 1,874  1,736 

BENEFITS PAID

Lump sums -  (837)

Refunds & interest -  (2)

-  (839)

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

General Operating Fees (188)  (178)

Insurance (17)  - 

Superannuation contributions surcharge (38)  (31)

TOTAL EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES (243)  (1,047)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX 1,631  689 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 5 (128)  (119)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX  1,503  570 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the 

beginning of the year  7,466  6,896 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS 
at the end of the year 8,969 7,466

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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PARLIAMENTARY RETIRING BENEFITS FUND 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and legislative requirements

These financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 “Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”; other applicable accounting standards; other 

mandatory requirements; the provisions of the Retirement Benefits Act 1993; the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed; 

and relevant legislative requirements. 

The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation Trustee Arrangements and Miscellaneous Amendments) Act 2002 received 

Royal Assent on 27 November 2002. This legislation had effect from 1 January 2003. It resulted in:

• The Parliamentary Superannuation Fund and the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund being transferred to the Retirement 
Benefits Fund as sub-funds:

• The Retirement Benefits Fund Board becoming the corporate Trustee of these sub funds: and

• The Parliamentary Superannuation Act 1973, the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Act 1985, the Parliamentary Superannuation 
Regulations 1999 and the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Regulations 1999 being repealed.

The Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) Regulations 2002 also commenced on 1 January 2003. The purpose 

of these regulations is to ensure that equivalent rights continue to be provided to members of the Parliamentary Funds upon 

their incorporation as sub-funds of the Retirement Benefits Fund.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, unless specifically stated. 

Basis of preparation

Australian Accounting Standards including Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AEIFRS). 

Compliance with AEIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AEIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. The Scheme is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AEIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 is the principal standard that applies to these financial statements. Other standards, 

including AEIFRS, are also applied where necessary except where they differ from AAS25.

(b) Investments

Assets of the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund (PRBF) of the Retirement Benefits Fund (“the Fund”) are recorded at net 

market value as at the reporting date. 

Market values for investments are determined as follows:

• Cash is valued at face value;

• Listed equities are recorded at the “last” price quoted on the exchange that the equity is listed on less a provision  
for disposal costs;

• Unlisted equity, hybrids and swaps are valued at net market value using the valuation technique;

• Bonds are measured at their capital fair value using the valuation technique;

• Foreign exchange contracts are measured at fair value (the present value of all future cashflows);

• Options and futures are recognised at their quoted published prices (AASB 139) in an active market and on exchange bid 
or offer prices;

• Direct properties are valued at their net market values as determined by an independent valuer; and

• All other investments are valued at the net market value as assessed by the Retirement Benefits Fund Board. 

The Retirement Benefits Fund Board (“the RBF Board”) has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses from 

non-recovery of amounts owing on mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 7. There has been no major default to date.
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The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation 

technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

The investments of the Fund are managed on behalf of the RBF Board by selected investment managers.  Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the financial statements (Appendix D).

(c) Cash

Cash at bank and cash deposits are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

(d) Other receivables and other payables

Sundry debtors are carried at their nominal amounts due which approximate the net fair value.  Sundry creditors are 

recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received and which were unpaid at that date.   

The amounts are unsecured.  Sundry debtors and sundry creditors are subject to normal trade credit terms.  The interfund 

receivable and payable are carried at nominal amounts and are settled on a fortnightly basis.  Differences in the comparatives 

can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and timing of the settlement.

(e) Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits of the PRBF at 30 June 2007 is not included in the Statement of Net Assets, the amount being 

reported by way of note (Note 9).

The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which 

arise from membership of the Scheme up to the measurement date.  The figure reported in Note 9 has been determined 

by reference to expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant 

actuarial assumptions.

A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in Accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 for the Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2007 is appended to the Fund’s 

Financial Statements (Appendix C).

(f ) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue  

can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Changes in net market values 

Changes in the net market value of assets are recognised in the statement of changes in net assets in the period in which 

they occur.

Contributions and Transfers In 

Contributions and transfers in are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded in the period to 

which they relate.  

Interest 

Control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment in, assets has been attained.

Dividends 

Dividends on quoted shares are deemed to accrue on the date the dividend is declared.

Distributions 

Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

Rent 

Rent on the Board’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(g) Foreign currency translation

Refer to Note 1(h) of the Notes to the financial statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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(h) Income tax

The PRBF is part of a complying superannuation fund within the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936.  

Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied.

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated 

on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur between the time 

items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining taxable income the 

net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a future income tax benefit or a provision for 

deferred income tax.  The net future income tax benefit relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as 

an asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.  

The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income tax expense.

The provision for deferred income tax would be expected to be settled 12 months or more from the reporting date as it 

relates to investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  

(i) Goods and services tax (GST)

Where applicable, GST incurred by the Fund, that is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office, has been recognised as 

part of the expense to which it applies.  Receivables and other payables are stated with any applicable GST included in the 

value.  The amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Tax Office is included as a receivable or payable in 

the Statement of Net Assets.

(j) Superannuation contributions surcharge

Superannuation contribution surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions on the basis of the individual member’s 

adjusted taxable income.  The liability for the Superannuation contribution surcharge is recognised when the assessment is 

received, as the Trustee considers this is when it can be reliably measured.  The amount of the liability brought to account at 

balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 through to 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge 

calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and reported to the Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by 

the RBF Board has been charged to the relevant PRBF member’s accounts.

The Superannuation Laws Amendment Act 2005 abolished the superannuation contributions surcharge in respect to 

superannuation contributions made on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions for the year 

ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. Interest will continue to be debited to 

outstanding balances on member accounts.

(k) Benefits payable

Benefits payable comprise the entitlements of members who ceased employment or were entitled to an invalidity 

withdrawal but had not been paid at that time.  Benefits payable are normally settled within 30 days.

(l) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(m) Rounding

The amounts shown in these financial statements and accompanying notes have been rounded to the nearest thousand 

dollars where applicable.

(n) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

(o) Judgements and assumptions

Refer to note 1(r) of the Contributory Scheme.
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2. NATURE OF THE SCHEME

The PRBF is a defined benefit scheme that provides benefits to its members pursuant to the provisions of the Act.  

The PRBF was closed to new members on 1 July 1999.

3. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Australian shares 241 277

International shares 83 62

Diversified fixed interest 69 58

Property 59 48

Alternative investments 61 23

Cash deposits 52 31

565 499

Consisting of:

Interest 45 71

Dividends 186 223

Distributions 321 192

Property rentals 13 13

565 499

4. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENT ASSETS

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian shares 378 234

International shares 135 169

Diversified fixed interest (21) (8)

Property 149 130

Alternative investments 38 31

Cash 4 4

683 560

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian shares 55 36

International shares 68 67

Diversified fixed interest (2) (2)

Property - 2

Alternative investments - 1

121 104

Total change in net market value of investment assets 804 664
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5. INCOME TAX

As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for 

tax purposes. Accordingly, the Parliamentary Retiring Benefits Fund is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, 

employer contributions and capital gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income 

tax expense, with revenues and expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax expense comprise:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Current tax (85) (84)

Deferred tax (43) (35)

(128) (119)

(b) The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax at 15% 244 103

Add tax effect of:

Tax credits 13 13

Benefits paid - 126

Other 14 32

27 171

Less tax effect of:

Member contributions 21 26

Exempt investment income 10 9

Discount on realised gains 15 11

Discount on unrealised gains 15 18

Other - 4

61 68

Less tax effect of:

Under/over provision for prior years - -

Tax credits 82 87

82 87

Income tax expense 128 119
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(c) Balance as at 30 June:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Income tax liability (85) (78)

Opening balance Charge  
to statement  
of change in  

net assets

Closing balance

Deferred tax asset

Investment income 1 - 1

Balance as 30 June 2007 1 - 1

Investment income 2 (1) 1

Balance as 30 June 2006 2 (1) 1

Deferred tax liability

Contributions (101) (44) (145)

Balance as 30 June 2007 (101) (44) (145)

Contributions (68) (33) (101)

Balance as 30 June 2006 (68) (33) (101)

(d) Reconciliation of tax expense

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Investment income (1,327) (1,121)

Income tax calculated at 15% (199) (168)

Adjustments

Imputation credits 69 74

Discount on realised/unrealised gains 30 29

Exempt investment income 10 9

109 112

Employer contributions (60) (66)

Expenses 36 31

Other (14) (28)

(128) (119)

Income tax expense per financial statements (128) (119)
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6. OTHER  RECEIVABLES

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Sundry debtors/Prepayments (i) 52 45

Accrued Contributions (ii) 33 -

85 45

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i) Sundry debtors are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms

(ii) Accrued contributions are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 14 day terms.

7. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest 601 635

Mortgages 412 368

Provision for mortgage defaults (5) (5)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 1,008 998

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investments 1.25% 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July 5 2

Additional provisions - 3

Closing balance 30 June 5 5

8. OTHER PAYABLES

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Interfund payable (566) (486)

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

Interfund payable is non-interest bearing and settled on a monthly basis. These balances arise as a result of the rebalancing  

of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two or more sub funds.
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9. TOTAL ACCRUED BENEFITS FOR THE PRBF AS A WHOLE

The liability for accrued benefits represents the plan’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries  

and has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership 

of the plan up to the reporting date.  

The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a  

market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.  

The actuarial review for the triennial years ending 30 June 2007 has not been finalised with the assessment due by  

December 2007. The Accrued Benefits that were last valued at 30 June 2005 and that measurement has been disclosed.

Liability for Accrued Benefits 2005 2004

$’000 $’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 7,351 6,801

Net Assets as at 30 June 6,896 5,550

10. TOTAL VESTED BENEFITS FOR THE PRBF AS A WHOLE

Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the PRBF (or any factor other 

than resignation from the PRBF) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their 

membership as at the reporting date. 

Vested Benefits 2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 9,451 7,784

11. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

The vested benefits referred to in Note 10 are guaranteed under the Retirement Benefits (Parliamentary Superannuation) 

Regulations 2002 (“the Regulations”).  

12. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

The PRBF was established to apply to all those members who were elected to Parliament for the first time after  

12 November 1985. The PRBF was closed to new members on 1 July 1999. The PRBF is lump sum based, with any  

entitlement not being able to be converted to or paid in the form of a pension, other than an allocated pension.

The PRBF receives regular contributions from the State at a multiple of member contributions, and is therefore considered  

to be fully funded. The objective of such funding is to ensure that the benefit entitlement of members and other  

beneficiaries are fully financed from the PRBF by the time they become payable.

13. INSURANCE

The scheme has a Group life cover with broker, William M Mercer. For the payment of a premium, the insurer will pay a benefit 

under the policy to the scheme (policy owner) on the event of a death or invalidity benefit being paid to a member of the 

PRBF. The maximum benefit paid under this cover is $400,000. The Fund is self insured for the death or invalidity benefit in 

excess of this amount.

14. RELATED PARTIES

Refer to Note 20 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation are appended to the 

Fund’s financial statements (Appendix A).
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16. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

The administration expenses of PRBF were initially paid by the Contributory Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay,  

the crediting rate of PRBF is reduced by a specified rate.  

To recoup the income tax expense of PRBF, the crediting rate of the PRBF is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based 

upon an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Opening balance 199 100

Add amounts deducted from members 223 180

Less amounts paid from provision (87) (81)

Closing balance 335 199

The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense is 

disclosed as the General Operating Provisions. These surplus/deficits are administered on the determination by the RBF Board 

in accordance with items 3.5.4 and 3.7.4 of the Trust Deed.

The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Administration 28 8

Investment management 48 36

Income taxation 259 155

Closing balance 335 199

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Refer to note 24 of the Contributory Scheme.

18. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The PRBF operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

19. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
Refer Note 16 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

20. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Refer Note 27 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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STATE FIRE COMMISSION SUPERANNUATION SCHEME
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AS AT 30 JUNE 2007
 

As at As at

Notes 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

ASSETS

Receivables

Investment income receivable  27  7 

Other receivable 6  166  167 

Investments

Australian shares  20,050  20,361 

International shares  16,730  11,305 

Diversified fixed interest 7  6,643  6,741 

Property  10,004  7,948 

Alternative investments  6,773  5,719 

Cash deposits  6,683  4,518 

Other Assets

Future income tax benefit 5  7  8 

TOTAL ASSETS  67,083  56,774 

LIABILITIES

Payables

Other payables 8  (2,020)  (49)

Provisions

 General operating provision 16  (181)  2 

Tax Liabilities

Provision for income tax 5  (604)  (405)

Provision for deferred income tax 5  (193)  99 

Superannuation contributions surcharge payable  -  2 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  (2,998)  (351)

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  64,085  56,423 

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATE FIRE COMMISSION SUPERANNUATION SCHEME

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007 

Year ended Period 1 May -

Notes 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 3  303  104 

Dividends 3  1,238  380 

Distributions 3  2,067  537 

Property rentals 3  32  8 

Changes in net market values of investments 4  5,388  (1,438)

Direct investment expense  (232)  (65)

 8,796  (474)

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions  2,016  316 

Member contributions  916  137 

Transfers from other funds  -  56,499 

 2,932  56,952 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  11,728  56,478 

BENEFITS PAID

Lump sums  (2,699)  - 

 (2,699)  0 

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

General Operating Fees  (279)  (44)

Insurance  (189)  - 

Superannuation contributions surcharge  (2)  - 

TOTAL EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  (3,169)  (44)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX  8,559  56,434 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 5  (897)  (11)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX  7,662  56,423 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the 

beginning of the year  56,423  - 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end 

of the year  64,085  56,423 

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATE FIRE COMMISSION SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and legislative requirements

These financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 “Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”, other applicable accounting standards; other 

mandatory requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005,  

the State Fire Commission Superannuation Trust Deed, and relevant legislative requirements. 

The Retirement Benefits (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005 received Royal Assent on 24 June 2006.  

This legislation had effect from 1 May 2006. It resulted in:

• The State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme being transferred to the Retirement Benefits Fund as a sub-fund

• The Retirement Benefits Fund Board becoming the corporate Trustee of this sub fund

• The State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme Act 1994 being repealed.

The purpose of the Retirement Benefits (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005 (the “Act’) is to ensure that 

equivalent rights continue to be provided to members of the State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme (SFCSS) upon 

their incorporation as a sub-fund of the Retirement Benefits Fund.

Basis of preparation

Australian Accounting Standards including Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AEIFRS). 

Compliance with AEIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AEIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. The Scheme is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AEIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 is the principal standard that applies to these financial statements. Other standards, 

including AEIFRS, are also applied where necessary except where they differ from AAS25.

(b) Investments

Assets of the SFCSS of the Retirement Benefits Fund (“the Fund”) are recorded at net market value as at the reporting date. 

Market values for investments are determined as follows:

• Cash is valued at face value;

• Listed equities are recorded at the “last” price quoted on the exchange that the equity is listed on less a provision  
for disposal costs;

• Unlisted equity, hybrids and swaps are valued at net market value using the valuation technique;

• Bonds are measured at their capital fair value using the valuation technique;

• Foreign exchange contracts are measured at fair value (the present value of all future cashflows);

• Options and futures are recognised at their quoted published prices (AASB 139) in an active market and on exchange  
bid or offer prices;

• Direct properties are valued at their net market values as determined by an independent valuer; and

• All other investments are valued at the net market value as assessed by the Retirement Benefits Fund Board. 

The Retirement Benefits Fund Board (“the RBF Board”) has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses  

from non-recovery of amounts owing on mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 7. There has been no major default to date.

The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation 

technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

The investments of the Fund are managed on behalf of the RBF Board by selected investment managers.  Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the financial statements (Appendix D).
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(c) Cash

Cash at bank and cash deposits are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

(d) Other receivables and other payables

Sundry debtors are carried at their nominal amounts due which approximate the net fair value.  Sundry creditors are 

recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received and which were unpaid at that date.   

The amounts are unsecured.  Sundry debtors and sundry creditors are subject to normal trade credit terms.  The interfund 

receivable and payable are carried at nominal amounts and are settled on a fortnightly basis.  Differences in the comparatives 

can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and timing of the settlement.

(e) Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits of the SFCSS at 30 June 2007 is not included in the Statement of Net Assets, the amount 

being reported by way of note (Note 9).

The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which 

arise from membership of the Scheme up to the measurement date.  The figure reported in Note 9 has been determined 

by reference to expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant 

actuarial assumptions.

A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in Accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 for the Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2007, is appended to the Fund’s 

Financial Statements (Appendix C).

(f ) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue  

can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Changes in net market values 

Changes in the net market value of assets are recognised in the statement of changes in net assets in the period in which 

they occur.

Contributions and Transfers In

Contributions and transfers in are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded in the period  

to which they relate.  

Interest 

Control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment in, assets has been attained.

Dividends 

Dividends on quoted shares are deemed to accrue on the date the dividend is declared.

Distributions 

Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

Rent 

Rent on the Board’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(g) Foreign currency translation

Refer to Note 1(h) of the Notes to the financial statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.



124   retirement benefits fund annual report 07

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

(h) Income tax

The SFCSS is part of a complying superannuation fund within the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936.  

Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied.

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated 

on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur between the time 

items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining taxable income the 

net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a future income tax benefit or a provision for 

deferred income tax.  The net future income tax benefit relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as 

an asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.  

The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income tax expense.

The provision for deferred income tax would be expected to be settled 12 months or more from the reporting date as it 

relates to investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  

(i) Goods and services tax (GST)

Where applicable, GST incurred by the Fund, that is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office, has been recognised as 

part of the expense to which it applies.  Receivables and other payables are stated with any applicable GST included in the 

value.  The amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Tax Office is included as a receivable or payable in 

the Statement of Net Assets.

(j) Superannuation contributions surcharge

Superannuation contribution surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions on the basis of the individual member’s 

adjusted taxable income.  The liability for the Superannuation contribution surcharge is recognised when the assessment is 

received, as the Trustee considers this is when it can be reliably measured.  The amount of the liability brought to account at 

balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 through to 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge 

calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and reported to the Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by 

the RBF Board has been charged to the relevant SFCSS member’s accounts.

The Superannuation Laws Amendment Act 2005 abolished the superannuation contributions surcharge in respect to 

superannuation contributions made on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions for the year 

ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable. 

(k) Benefits payable

Benefits payable comprise the entitlements of members who ceased employment or were entitled to an invalidity 

withdrawal but had not been paid at that time.  Benefits payable are normally settled within 30 days.

(l) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(m) Rounding

The amounts shown in these financial statements and accompanying notes have been rounded to the nearest thousand 

dollars where applicable.
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(n) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures. A prior 

period error was found and consequently the comparatives have been amended. Disclosure of the prior period error follows:

(i) the nature of the prior period error was an omission of an opening balance in the transfer of the State Fire Commission 
Superannuation Scheme to the Retirement Benefits Fund Board. The balance of concern was the Provision for income tax,

(ii) the amount of the correction to the prior period was $289,585,

(iii) the financial statement lines effected are (1) Transfers from other funds, (2) Provision for income tax and (3) Net Assets 
available to pay benefits,

(iv) the error has been corrected by reducing Transfers from other funds and increasing the Provision for income tax.

(o) Judgements and assumptions

Refer to note 1(r) of the Contributory Scheme.

2. NATURE OF THE SCHEME

The SFCSS is a defined benefit scheme that provides benefits to its members pursuant to the provisions of the Act. The SFCSS 

was closed to new members on 1 May 2006. The Scheme is operated for the purpose of providing for employees (and their 

dependants of beneficiaries) of the Tasmania Fire Service lump sum or pension benefits upon retirement, termination of 

service, death or disablement.

3. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Australian shares 1,604 516

International shares 550 281

Diversified fixed interest 457 60

Property 275 70

Alternative investments 405 101

Cash deposits 349 1

3,640 1,029

Consisting of:

Interest 303 104

Dividends 1,238 380

Distributions 2,067 537

Property rentals 32 8

3,640 1,029
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4. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENT ASSETS

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian shares 2,537 (1,383)

International shares 912 (783)

Diversified fixed interest (133) (28)

Property 993 298

Alternative investments 252 11

Cash 27 40

4,588 (1,845)

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian shares 361 254

International shares 448 160

Diversified fixed interest (12) (7)

Property 2 -

Alternative investments 1 -

800 407

Total change in net market value of investment assets 5,388 (1,438)

5. INCOME TAX

As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for tax 

purposes. Accordingly, the SFCSS is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital 

gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and 

expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax expense comprise:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Current tax (606) (115)

Deferred tax (292) 104

Over/(under) provisions prior year - current tax (1) -

Over/(under) provisions prior year - deferred tax 2 -

(897) (11)
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(b) The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax at 15% 1,284 8,508

Add tax effect of:

Tax credits 88 (7)

Non-deductible expenditure 2 -

Benefits paid 405 -

Other 120 11

615 4

Less tax effect of:

Member contributions 137 8,541

Exempt investment income 70 (5)

Discount on realised gains 105 (6)

Discount on unrealised gains 109 (9)

Other - 28

421 8,549

Less tax effect of:

Under/over provision for prior years - -

Tax credits 581 (48)

581 (48)

Income tax expense 897 11
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(c) Balance as at 30 June:

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Income tax liability (604) (405)

Opening balance Charge  
to statement  
of change in  

net assets

Closing balance

Deferred tax asset

Investment income 6 1 7

Balance as 30 June 2007 6 1 7

Investment income - 8 8

Balance as 30 June 2006 - 8 8

Deferred tax liability

Contributions 99 (292) (193)

Balance as 30 June 2007 99 (292) (193)

Investment income - 99 99

Balance as 30 June 2006 - 99 99

(d) Reconciliation of tax expense

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Investment income (8,796) 474

Income tax calculated at 15% (1,319) 71

Adjustments

Imputation credits 493 (41)

Discount on realised/unrealised gains 214 (15)

Exempt investment income 70 (5)

777 (61)

Employer contributions (303) (48)

Transfers in adjustment - 2

Expenses 71 7

Non deductible expenditure (2) -

Other (121) 18

(897) (11)

Income tax expense per financial statements (897) (11)
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6. OTHER  RECEIVABLES  

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Sundry debtors (i) 2 167

Prepayments                          (ii) 164 -

166 167

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i) Sundry debtors are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms.

(ii) Prepayments are non-interest bearing and settled over terms of insurance.

7. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest 3,961 4,285

Mortgages 2,716 2,487

Provision for mortgage defaults (34) (31)

Total diversified fixed interest investments 6,643 6,741

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investment 1.25% 1.25%

Movement in provision for mortgage defaults

Opening balance 1 July 31 -

Additional provisions 3 31

Closing balance 30 June 34 31

8. OTHER PAYABLES

2007 2006

$'000 $’000

Sundry creditors (i) - (49)

Interfund Payables (ii) (2,020) -

(2,020) (49)

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i) Sundry creditors are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms. 

(ii) These balances arise as a result of the rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on 
two or more sub funds.
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9. TOTAL ACCRUED BENEFITS FOR THE SFCSS AS A WHOLE

The liability for accrued benefits represents the Fund’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries  

and has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership 

of the Fund up to the reporting date.  

The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a market-

based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.  

The Accrued Benefits were calculated as at 30 June 2006 as part of the initial review of the Fund.

Liability for Accrued Benefits 2006 2003

$’000 $’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 56,296 52,551

10. TOTAL VESTED BENEFITS FOR THE SFCSS AS A WHOLE

Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the SFCSS (or any factor other 

than resignation from the SFCSS) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their 

membership as at the reporting date. 

Vested Benefits 2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 58,854 54,636

11. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

The vested benefits referred to in Note 10 are guaranteed by the Minister administering the Fire Service Act 1979 under Section 8 

of the Retirement Benefit (State Fire Commission Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005.  

12. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

The SFCSS receives regular contributions from the Tasmania Fire Service and is considered to be fully funded. The objective of 

such funding is to ensure that the benefit entitlement of members and other beneficiaries are fully financed from the SFCSS 

by the time they become payable.

The previous trustee has reported that in the 30 June 2003 actuarial review, the assets of the Scheme were not adequate to 

meet the Scheme’s liabilities for accrued benefits. Consequently, the previous actuary, Financial Synergy, made a number of 

funding recommendations for the scheme.

The value of the Scheme’s assets as at 30 June 2006 was not sufficient to meet the liabilities of the Scheme in respect to 

vested benefits, therefore, the Scheme was in an unsatisfactory position as per SIS Regulation 9.04. The previous actuary 

believes in his opinion, the recommended employer contributions will be adequate to return the Scheme to a satisfactory 

financial position over the next three years.

13. INSURANCE

The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Trustee has taken out insurance to cover the part of the 

benefit in excess of the vest benefit.

14. RELATED PARTIES

Refer to Note 20 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation are appended to the 

Fund’s financial statements (Appendix A).
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16. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

The administration expenses of SFCSS were initially paid by the Contributory Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay,  

the crediting rate of SFCSS is reduced by a specified rate.  

To recoup the income tax expense of SFCSS, the crediting rate of the SFCSS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based 

upon an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Opening balance (2) -

Add amounts deducted from members 482 72

Less amounts paid from provision (299) (74)

Closing balance 181 (2)

The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense is 

disclosed as the General Operating Provisions. These surplus/deficits are administered on the determination by the RBF 

Board in accordance with items 3.5.4 and 3.7.4 of the Trust Deed.

The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Administration 73 46

Investment management 31 (14)

Income taxation 77 (34)

Closing balance 181 (2)

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Refer to note 24 of the Contributory Scheme.

18. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The SFCSS operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

19. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Refer Note 16 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

20. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Refer Note 27 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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TASMANIAN AMBULANCE SERVICES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS AS AT 30 JUNE 2007
 

Notes As at As at

30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

ASSETS

Receivables

Investment income receivable  16  - 

Other receivable 6  116  119 

GST receivable  -  1 

Investments

Australian shares  11,794  - 

International shares  9,841  - 

Diversified fixed interest 7  3,907  - 

Property  5,894  - 

Alternative Investments  3,984  - 

Cash deposits  3,930  32,641 

Other Assets

Future income tax benefit 5  1  2 

TOTAL ASSETS  39,483  32,763 

LIABILITIES

Payables

Other payables 8  (739)  (569)

Provisions

General operating provision 16  (130)  - 

Tax Liabilities

Provision for income tax 5  (377)  (58)

Provision for deferred income tax 5  (175)  - 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  (1,421)  (627)

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS  38,062  32,136 

The above Statement of Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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TASMANIAN AMBULANCE SERVICES SUPERANNUATION SCHEME
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

Year ended Period 1 June -

Notes 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

$’000 $’000

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest 3  180  - 

Dividends 3  734  - 

Distributions 3  1,222  - 

Property rentals 3  20  - 

Changes in net market values of investments 4  3,216  - 

Direct investment expense  (155)  - 

 5,217  0 

CONTRIBUTION REVENUE

Employer contributions  1,388  - 

Member contributions  908  - 

Transfers from other funds  -  32,622 

 2,296  32,622 

TOTAL REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  7,513  32,622 

BENEFITS PAID

Lump sums  (638)  (486)

 (638)  (486)

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

General Operating Fees  (234)  - 

Insurance  (161)  - 

Superannuation contributions surcharge  (1)  - 

TOTAL EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  (1,034)  (486)

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS BEFORE INCOME TAX  6,479  32,136 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 5  (553)  - 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER INCOME TAX  5,926  32,136 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the 
beginning of the year  32,136  - 

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE TO PAY BENEFITS at the end 
of the year  38,062  32,136 

The above Statement of Changes in Net Assets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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TASMANIAN AMBULANCE SERVICE SUPERANNUATION SCHEME 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and legislative requirements

These financial statements are general purpose statements which have been drawn up in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standard AAS 25 “Financial Reporting by Superannuation Plans”, other applicable accounting standards;  

other mandatory requirements, the provisions of the Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation 

Scheme) Act 2006, the Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Trust Deed, and relevant legislative requirements. 

The Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005 received Royal Assent on  

26 June 2006. This legislation had effect from 1 May 2006. It resulted in:

• The Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme being transferred to the Retirement Benefits Fund  
as a sub-fund

• The Retirement Benefits Fund Board becoming the corporate Trustee of this sub fund

• The Ambulance Service Act 1982 and Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 1999 being amended.

The purpose of the Retirement Benefits (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2006 (the “Act’) is to ensure 

that equivalent rights continue to be provided to members of the Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme 

(TASSS) upon their incorporation as a sub-fund of the Retirement Benefits Fund.

Basis of preparation

Australian Accounting Standards including Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AEIFRS). 

Compliance with AEIFRS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as AEIFRS 

includes requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. The Scheme is 

considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AEIFRS that do not comply with IFRS.

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 is the principal standard that applies to these financial statements. Other standards, 

including AEIFRS, are also applied where necessary except where they differ from AAS25.

(b) Investments

Assets of the TASSS of the Retirement Benefits Fund (“the Fund”) are recorded at net market value as at the reporting date. 

Market values for investments are determined as follows:

• Cash is valued at face value;

• Listed equities are recorded at the “last” price quoted on the exchange that the equity is listed on less a provision  
for disposal costs;

• Unlisted equity, hybrids and swaps are valued at net market value using the valuation technique;

• Bonds are measured at their capital fair value using the valuation technique;

• Foreign exchange contracts are measured at fair value (the present value of all future cashflows);

• Options and futures are recognised at their quoted published prices (AASB 139) in an active market and on exchange  
bid or offer prices;

• Direct properties are valued at their net market values as determined by an independent valuer; and

• All other investments are valued at the net market value as assessed by the Retirement Benefits Fund Board. 

The Retirement Benefits Fund Board (“the RBF Board”) has made a provision for defaults to cover the possibility of losses from 

non-recovery of amounts owing on mortgage loans, refer disclosure note 7. There has been no major default to date.

The valuation technique includes the use of recent arm’s length market transactions, the current fair value of any other 

instrument that is significantly similar, discounted cashflow techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation 

technique that provides a reliable estimate of prices obtained.

The investments of the Fund are managed on behalf of the RBF Board by selected investment managers.  Disclosure of the 

investment managers and the internally managed funds are appended to the financial statements (Appendix D).
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(c) Cash

Cash at bank and cash deposits are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

(d) Other receivables and other payables

Sundry debtors are carried at their nominal amounts due which approximate the net fair value.  Sundry creditors are 

recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services received and which were unpaid at that date.   

The amounts are unsecured.  Sundry debtors and sundry creditors are subject to normal trade credit terms.  The interfund 

receivable and payable are carried at nominal amounts and are settled on a fortnightly basis.  Differences in the comparatives 

can fluctuate markedly between reporting periods due to the nature of the account and timing of the settlement.

(e) Accrued benefits

The liability for accrued benefits of the TASSS at 30 June 2007 is not included in the Statement of Net Assets, the amount 

being reported by way of note (Note 9).

The amount of accrued benefits has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which 

arise from membership of the Scheme up to the measurement date.  The figure reported in Note 9 has been determined 

by reference to expected future salary levels and by application of a market-based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant 

actuarial assumptions.

A copy of a statement prepared by the Fund Actuary, Calculation of Vested and Accrued Benefits in Accordance with 

Australian Accounting Standard AAS25 for the Retirement Benefits Fund as at 30 June 2007 is appended to the Fund’s 

Financial Statements (Appendix C).

(f ) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can 

be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is recognised:

Changes in net market values

Changes in the net market value of assets are recognised in the statement of changes in net assets in the period in which 

they occur.

Contributions and Transfers In 

Contributions and transfers in are recognised when control of the asset has been attained and are recorded in the period to 

which they relate.  

Interest 

Control of the right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment in, assets has been attained.

Dividends 

Dividends on quoted shares are deemed to accrue on the date the dividend is declared.

Distributions 

Distribution income is recognised when the equity goes ex-dividend.

Rent 

Rent on the Board’s internally managed Direct Property portfolio is recorded on an accrual basis.

(g) Foreign currency translation

Refer to Note 1(h) of the Notes to the financial statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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(h) Income tax

The TASSS is part of a complying superannuation fund within the provisions of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936.  

Accordingly, the concessional tax rate of 15% has been applied.

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated 

on the accounting profit after allowing for permanent differences.  To the extent timing differences occur between the time 

items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in determining taxable income the 

net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates is disclosed as a future income tax benefit or a provision for 

deferred income tax.  The net future income tax benefit relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried forward as 

an asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.  

The capital gains tax applicable on the unrealised investment gains or losses has been included in the income tax expense.

The provision for deferred income tax would be expected to be settled 12 months or more from the reporting date as it 

relates to investments which are maintained for a long-term objective.  

(i) Goods and services tax (GST)

Where applicable, GST incurred by the Fund, that is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office, has been recognised as 

part of the expense to which it applies.  Receivables and other payables are stated with any applicable GST included in the 

value.  The amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Tax Office is included as a receivable or payable in 

the Statement of Net Assets.

(j) Superannuation contributions surcharge

Superannuation contribution surcharge is levied on surchargeable contributions on the basis of the individual member’s 

adjusted taxable income.  The liability for the Superannuation contribution surcharge is recognised when the assessment is 

received, as the Trustee considers this is when it can be reliably measured.  The amount of the liability brought to account at 

balance date in respect of the financial years ended 30 June 1997 through to 2005 has been based on the actual surcharge 

calculated by the Australian Taxation Office and reported to the Board. The superannuation surcharge liability recognised by 

the RBF Board has been charged to the relevant TASSS member’s accounts.

The Superannuation Laws Amendment Act 2005 abolished the superannuation contributions surcharge in respect to 

superannuation contributions made on or after 1 July 2005. Assessments for surcharge in respect of contributions for the year 

ended 30 June 2005 and prior years will continue to be issued and remain payable.

(k) Benefits payable

Benefits payable comprise the entitlements of members who ceased employment or were entitled to an invalidity 

withdrawal but had not been paid at that time.  Benefits payable are normally settled within 30 days.

(l) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is probable 

that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

(m) Rounding

The amounts shown in these financial statements and accompanying notes have been rounded to the nearest thousand 

dollars where applicable.

(n) Comparatives

Where necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

(o) Judgements and assumptions

Refer to note 1(r) of the Contributory Scheme.
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2. NATURE OF THE SCHEME

The TASSS is a defined benefit scheme that provides benefits to its members pursuant to the provisions of the Trust Deed.  

The TASSS was closed to new members on 30 June 2006. Benefits of members are calculated by way of formula as defined 

in the Trust Deed.

3. INVESTMENT REVENUE

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Australian shares 948 -

International shares 324 -

Diversified fixed interest 272 -

Property 162 -

Alternative investments 242 -

Cash deposits 208 -

2,156 -

-

Consisting of: -

Interest 180 -

Dividends 734 -

Distributions 1,222 -

Property rentals 20 -

2,156 -

4. CHANGES IN NET MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENT ASSETS

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Investments held at reporting date 

Australian shares 1,517 -

International shares 548 -

Diversified fixed interest (75) -

Property 583 -

Alternative investments 159 -

Cash 15 -

2,747 -

Investments realised during the financial year

Australian shares 210 -

International shares 264 -

Diversified fixed interest (7) -

Property 1 -

Alternative investments 1 -

469 -

Total change in net market value of investment assets 3,216 -
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5. INCOME TAX

As the Fund is an exempt public sector superannuation scheme, it is deemed to be a complying superannuation fund for tax 

purposes. Accordingly, the TASSS is taxed at the rate of 15% on net investment earnings, employer contributions and capital 

gains, with deductions allowable for administration expenses.  A reconciliation of income tax expense, with revenues and 

expenses for the year before income tax is shown below.

(a) The components of the income tax expense comprise:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Current tax (377) -

Deferred tax (175) -

Over/(under) provisions prior year - current tax (1) -

(553) -

(b) The prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Prima facie tax on benefits accrued before income tax at 15% 972 4,893

Add tax effect of:

Tax credits 51 -

Non-deductible expenditure 1 -

Benefits paid 96 -

Other 68 -

216 -

Less tax effect of:

Member contributions 136 4,893

Exempt investment income 41 -

Discount on realised gains 60 -

Discount on unrealised gains 63 -

Other

300 4,893

Less tax effect of:

Under/over provision prior year (1) -

Tax credits 336 -

335 -

Income tax expense 553 -
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(c) Balance as at 30 June:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Income tax liability (377) (58)

Opening balance Charge to 
statement of 

change in net 
assets

Closing balance

Deferred tax asset

Investment income - 1 1

Balance as 30 June 2007 - 1 1

Investment income - 2 2

Balance as 30 June 2006 - 2 2

Deferred tax liability

Contributions (175) (175)

Balance as 30 June 2007 (175) (175)

Balance as 30 June 2006 - - -

(d) Reconciliation of tax expense

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Investment income (5,217) -

Income tax calculated at 15% (783) -

Adjustments

Imputation credits 285 -

Discount on realised/unrealised gains 123 -

Exempt investment income 41 -

449 -

Employer contributions (208) -

Expenses 59 -

Non deductible expenditure (1) -

Other (68) -

(552) -

Under provision prior year (1) -

Income tax expense per financial statements (553) -
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6. OTHER  RECEIVABLES
2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Pre paid group life premiums (i) 115 119

Sundry Debtor (ii) 1 -

116 119

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i) Prepayments are non-interest bearing and settled over terms of insurance.

(ii) Sundry debtors are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 days terms.

7. DIVERSIFIED FIXED INTEREST

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Other diversified fixed interest 2,330 -

Mortgages 1,597 -

Provision for mortgage defaults (20) -

Total diversified fixed interest investments 3,907 -

Default provision rate applied to mortgage investments 1.25% -

Opening balance 1 July - -

Additional provisions 20 -

Closing balance 30 June 20 -

8. OTHER PAYABLES
2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Sundry creditors (i) - (83)

Benefits payable (i) - (486)

Interfund Payables (ii) (739) -

(739) (569)

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i) Sundry creditors and benefits payable are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terms.

(ii) Interfund payable is non-interest bearing and settled on a monthly basis. These balances arise as a result of the 
rebalancing of the asset allocation and other transactions which have an effect on two or more sub funds.
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9. TOTAL ACCRUED BENEFITS FOR THE TASSS AS A WHOLE

The liability for accrued benefits represents the Fund’s present obligation to pay benefits to members and beneficiaries and 

has been determined on the basis of the present value of expected future payments which arise from the membership of the 

Fund up to the reporting date.  

The figure reported has been determined by reference to the expected future salary levels and by application of a market-

based, risk-adjusted discount rate and relevant actuarial assumptions.  

The Accrued Benefits were calculated as at 30 June 2006 as part of the initial review of the Fund.

Liability for Accrued Benefits 2006 2003

$’000 $’000

Accrued Benefits as at 30 June 25,503 20,889

10. TOTAL VESTED BENEFITS FOR THE TASSS AS A WHOLE

Vested benefits are benefits which are not conditional upon continued membership of the TASSS (or any factor other 

than resignation from the TASSS) and include benefits which members were entitled to receive had they terminated their 

membership as at the reporting date. 

Vested Benefits 2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Vested Benefits as at 30 June 29,263 27,843

11. GUARANTEED BENEFITS

The vested benefits referred to in Note 10 are guaranteed by the Minister administering the Ambulance Services Act 1982 

under Section 8 of the Retirement Benefit (Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme) Act 2005.  

12. FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

The TASSS receives regular contributions from the Tasmanian Ambulance Service and is considered to be fully funded.  

The objective of such funding is to ensure that the benefit entitlement of members and other beneficiaries are fully financed 

from the TASSS by the time they become payable.

As at 1 July 2003 actuarial review, the Actuary recommended that the employer contribute at the rate of 12% of member’s 

salaries for the three years commencing 1 July 2003.

13. INSURANCE

The Fund provides death and disability benefits to members. The Trustee has taken out insurance to cover the part  

of the benefit in excess of the vest benefit.

14. RELATED PARTIES

Refer to Note 20 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The disclosure requirements of the Accounting Standard AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation are appended to the 

Fund’s financial statements (Appendix A).
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16. GENERAL OPERATING PROVISION

The administration expenses of TASSS were initially paid by the Contributory Scheme of the Fund. To recoup this outlay,  

the crediting rate of TASSS is reduced by a specified rate.  

To recoup the income tax expense of TASSS, the crediting rate of the TASSS is reduced by a specified rate. This rate is based 

upon an estimate of the income tax expense. Movements in provision during the year explained by:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Opening balance - -

Add amounts deducted from members 374 -

Less amounts paid from provision (244) -

Closing balance 130 -

The difference between the amount deducted from members and the actual administration and income tax expense is 

disclosed as the General Operating Provisions. These surplus/deficits are administered on the determination by the RBF Board 

in accordance with items 3.5.4 and 3.7.4 of the Trust Deed.

The balance of the provision is made up of the following fee components:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

Administration 7 -

Investment management 44 -

Income taxation 79 -

Closing balance 130 -

17.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Refer to note 24 of the Contributory Scheme.

18. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The TASSS operates solely in the business of provision of benefits to members and operates in Australia only.

19. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Refer Note 16 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.

20. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Refer Note 27 of the Notes to the Financial Statements of the RBF Contributory Scheme.
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APPENDIX A

Financial Instruments

The investments of the Fund are managed on behalf of the RBF Board by a number of external investment managers, with some 

investments being managed internally. All investment managers are required to invest the assets managed by them in accordance 

with the terms of a written investment mandate.  A list of investment managers is provided at Appendix D.

The RBF Board has determined that the appointment of these managers is appropriate for the Fund and is in accordance with the 

Fund’s investment strategy.

The RBF Board obtains regular reports from each investment manager on the nature of the investments made on its behalf and 

the associated risks. Such reports include the receipt of formal Risk Management Statements.

Financial Risk Management

The Fund’s financial instruments consist mainly of investments as disclosed in the balance sheet, deposits with banks and accounts 

receivables and payable.

Net fair values

The net fair value of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market price at balance date adjusted for transaction costs 

expected to be incurred. For other assets and other liabilities the net fair value approximates their carrying value. No financial asset 

and financial liabilities are ready traded on organised markets in standardised form other than listed investments.

The aggregrate net fair values and carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the balance sheet and 

in the notes to the financial statements.

Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to recognised financial 

assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet 

and notes to the financial statements.

The fund does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments 

entered into by the fund.
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Interest rate risk

The fund’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rates on those financial assets and liabilities is as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2007 Interest Rate Risk Disclosure

Assets Fixed Interest – Time to Maturity

Floating 
Interest 
A$,000

Less that 
3 months 

A$,000

3 -12 
months 
A$,000

1 – 5 
years 

A$,000

Over 5 
years 

A$,000

Non 
interest 
bearing

Total (per 
balance 
sheets)

Weighted 
Average 
Interest 

Rate 
(%pa)

Cash and cash 
equivalents 262,705 262,705 6.38%

Financial assets held 
at net market value.

Fixed interest 24,395 550 26,203 127,358 28,953 207,459

Discount Securities 3,962 3,962 6.37%

Unit Trusts 1,655,618 1,655,618 7.07%

Equities 1,347,743 1,347,743

Futures and options 25 25

FFX 2,897 2,897

Receivables 89,384 89,384

Total Assets 291,062 550 26,203 127,358 28,953 3,095,667 3,569,793

Liabilities

Financial liabilities 
held at net market 
value.

Futures and options 91 91

FFX 362 362

Payables 150,957 150,957

Total Liabilities 151,410 151,410

Total Assets 291,062 550 26,203 127,358 28,953 2,944,257 3,418,383

APPENDIX A
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APPENDIX A

Year ended 30 June 2006 Interest Rate Risk Disclosure

Assets Fixed Interest – Time to Maturity

Floating 
Interest 
A$,000

Less that 
3 months 

A$,000

3 -12 
months 
A$,000

1 – 5 
years 

A$,000

Over 5 
years 

A$,000

Non 
interest 
bearing

Total (per 
balance 
sheets)

Weighted 
Average 
Interest 

Rate 
(%pa)

Cash and cash 
equivalents

286,638 286,638 3.82%

Financial assets held 
at net market value.

Fixed interest 9,710 17,286 121,376 23,233 171,605 6.71%

Discount Securities 11,928 11,928 5.90%

Unit Trusts 1,003,746 1,003,746

Equities 1,321,316 1,321,316

Futures and options 163 163

FFX 88,564 88,564

Receivables 52,270 52,270

Total Assets 308,276 - 17,286 121,376 23,233 2,466,059 2,936,230

Liabilities

Financial liabilities 
held at net market 
value.

Futures and options 27 27

FFX 88,712 88,712

Other liabilities 88,314 88,314

Total Liabilities - - - - - 177,053 177,053

Total Assets 308,276 - 17,286 121,376 23,233 2,289,006 2,759,177
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Foreign Exchange Risk

The fund’s exposure at 30 June 2007 to foreign rate movements on international investments was as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2007 Foreign Exchange Risk Disclosure

2007 Net Market Value

 

Assets

USD 

A$,000

CAD 

A$,000

JPY 

A$,000

CHF 

A$,000

SEK 

A$,000

EUR 

A$,000

GBP 

A$,000

AUD 

A$,000

Other 

A$,000

Total 

A$,000

Cash and cash 
equivalents

2,902 181 385 47 56 702 526 53,738 284 58,821

Financial assets 
held at net 
market value

248,602 9,228 45,836 28,326 14,256 89,199 45,839 1,663,798 24,339 2,169,423

Derivative 
financial 
instruments

5 20 25

FFX 86 2,729 82 2,897

Receivables 1,423 5 70 222 727 219 28,490 42 31,198

Total Assets 252,932 9,414 46,291 28,595 14,312 90,628 46,670 1,748,775 24,747 2,262,364

Liabilities

Financial assets 
held at net 
market value

Derivative 
financial 
instruments

FFX 362 362

Payables 962 152 63 19,764 20,941

Total liabilities 962 152 63 - - - - 20,217 - 21,394

Net Assets 251,970 9,262 46,228 28,595 14,312 90,628 46,670 1,728,558 24,747 2,240,970

APPENDIX A
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Year ended 30 June 2006 Foreign Exchange Risk Disclosure

2006 Net Market Value

 

Assets

USD 

A$,000

CAD 

A$,000

JPY 

A$,000

CHF 

A$,000

SEK 

A$,000

EUR 

A$,000

GBP 

A$,000

Other 

A$,000

Total 

A$,000

Cash and cash 
equivalents

4,519 210 205 35 3 281 378 535 6,166

Financial assets 
held at net 
market value

223,737 11,539 56,980 25,572 3,429 67,992 38,997 18,463 446,709

Derivative 
financial 
instruments

8 - - - - - - - 8

FFX - 14,331 - - - 13,591 - - 27,922

Receivables 2,265 57 68 118 - 318 210 39 3,075

Total Assets 230,529 26,137 57,253 25,725 3,432 82,182 39,585 19,037 483,880

Liabilities

Financial assets 
held at net 
market value

- - - - - - - - -

Derivative 
financial 
instruments

- - - - - - - - -

FFX 77,012 - 2,115 1,330 - - 8,255 - 88,712

Payables 1,847 - - - - 86 - 288 2,221

Total liabilities 78,859 - 2,115 1,330 - 86 8,255 288 90,933

Net Assets 151,670 26,137 55,138 24,395 3,432 82,096 31,330 18,749 392,947

APPENDIX A
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Derivative Risk

The following table summaries the aggregrate notional amounts of the futures and options contracts and their net market value 
and fair value at 30 June 2007 and 2006.

Year ended 30 June 2007 Derivative Risk Disclosure

Type of 
contract

2007 2007 2006 2006

Fair value Net Market Value Fair value Net Market Value

Contract 
A$’000

Asset 
A$’000s

Liabilities 
A$’000

Contract 
A$’000

Asset 
A$’000s

Liabilities 
A$’000

Contract 
A$’000

Asset 
A$’000s

Liabilities 
A$’000

Contract 
A$’000

Asset 
A$’000s

Liabilities 
A$’000

Buy

Aust 

share 

price 

index 

futures 8,160 8,160 91 4,699 154 4,699 154

Int share 

price 

index 

futures 1,334 91 1,339 5 1,292 8 1,292 8 27

Aust 

fixed 

interest 

futures 9,640 20 9,640 20 8,604 27 8,604

FFX 165,185 2,897 165,185 2,897

Total 
Buys 184,319 2,917 91 184,324 2,922 91 14,595 162 27 14,595 162 27

Sell

FFX 34,695 362 34,695

Total 
Sells 34,695 362 34,695 362

219,014 2,917 453 219,019 2,922 453 14,595 162 27 14,595 162 27

APPENDIX A
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APPENDIX C

Information for the Financial Statements

Contributory Scheme

AAS 25 Accrued Benefits

The Accrued Benefits were last valued at 30 June 2005 using the methodology outlined in Appendix B and the assumptions 
outlined in Appendix C, including a discount rate of 7%.

Based on the these assumptions, the total Accrued Benefits for the Contributory Scheme (both funded and unfunded 
components) as at 30 June 2005, for the purposes of AAS 25, was calculated to be $3,892.933 million.  Of this amount  
$1,179.234 million has to be met from the Scheme’s assets.

The weighted average term of the liabilities for the Contributory Scheme was 26 years as at 30 June 2005.

The triennial actuarial review of the Contributory Scheme as at 30 June 2007 is expected to be finalized by December 2007.

Liabilities for Accrued Benefits

30/6/2005

$’000

30/6/2004

$’000

Liability for the Scheme as a whole 3,892,933 3,713,318

Liability to be funded from the Scheme 
assets 1,179,234 1,118,139

This is made up as follows:

Liability for the Scheme as a whole

30/6/2005

$’000

30/6/2004

$’000

Contributory members 2,030,410 1,921,402

Pensioners 1,637,230 1,565,689

Compulsory Preserved members 225,293 226,227

Total 3,892,933 3,713,318

Liability to be funded from the Scheme 

assets

30/6/2005 

$’000

30/6/2004 

$’000

Contributory members 670,186 631,839

Pensioners 507,700 471,631

Compulsory Preserved members 1,348 14,669

Total 1,179,234 1,118,139
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APPENDIX D

INVESTMENT MANAGERS 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2007
The investments of the Fund are managed by the following investment managers:

2007 2006

$’000 $’000

452 Capital Pty Ltd 210,336 164,309

Alliance Bernstein Investment Management Ltd9 173,119 153,551

AMP Capital Investors Ltd 238,205 189,938

BIAM Australia Pty Ltd 131,582 159,356

Capital International Inc 206,366 183,676

Industry Funds Management Ltd 7,274 6,984

First Tasmania Investments Ltd 1,352 1,568

Gresham Property Funds Management Ltd 3,286 3,468

Hastings Funds Management Ltd 147,801 118,555

Lazard Asset Management Pacific Co 72,443 61,488

Lend Lease Real Estate Investments Ltd 189,570 135,699

Maple-Brown Abbott Ltd 339,248 303,802

Currency Overlay (Internally Managed Hedge) 12,143 354

Perennial Investment Partners Ltd 219,705 129,107

PIMCO Australia Ltd 127,664 123,305

Portfolio Partners Ltd 70,623 67,856

State Street Global Advisors Australia Ltd 470,674 398,346

Super Loans Trust 5,677 5,391

Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation 199,422 244,346

Warakirri Asset Management Pty Ltd 144,336 112,790

Macquarie Goodman Wholesale Fund 22,536 10,588

Bridgewater Associates Inc. 50,536 48,274

GMO Australia Ltd. 27,423 25,301

Barclays Global Investors Aust. Ltd. 34,628 30,963

Wellington 61,157 -

Baillie Gifford 62,811 -

Goldman Sachs Global Fund 70,332 -

Internally Managed Property & Mortgages 177,412 155,642

3,485,752 2,834,657



154   retirement benefits fund annual report 07

fin
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

APPENDIX E

Individual agency balance sheet results as at 30 June 2007

These figures have been prepared for the individual agencies in setting their accounting provision for superannuation liabilities 

under the RBF in accordance with AASB119 “Employee Benefits” as at 30 June 2007, using a net of tax discount rate of 5.9%.

Defined 
benefit 

obligation

Contributions 
tax liability

Total defined 
benefit 

obligation

RBF 
Contributory 

Scheme 
assets

Deficit/
(Surplus)

Aurora Energy Pty Ltd 74,243,942 8,219,671 82,463,612 24,923,416 57,540,196

Cradle Coast Water 1,182,540 142,294 1,324,834 328,733 996,102

Esk Water 2,391,258 291,364 2,682,622 642,985 2,039,638

Forestry Tasmania 125,206,923 14,455,323 139,662,246 38,470,589 101,191,657

Hobart Regional  
Water Authority 4,773,047 592,813 5,365,860 1,215,986 4,149,875

Housing Tasmania 14,767,402 2,461,109 17,228,511 - 17,228,511

Hydro-Electric Corporation 362,937,577 44,322,268 407,259,846 96,990,481 310,269,365

Metro Tasmania Pty Ltd 21,966,818 2,604,294 24,571,112 6,340,260 18,230,853

Motor Accidents Insurance Board 2,551,173 333,248 2,884,421 551,584 2,332,837

Port Arthur Historic Site 
Management Authority 5,729,104 696,418 6,425,523 1,550,383 4,875,140

Public Trustee 10,958,113 1,314,717 12,272,830 3,069,412 9,203,418

Retirement Benefits Fund Board 17,107,979 1,868,008 18,975,987 5,899,365 13,076,622

Rivers & Water Supply Commission 637,359 75,685 713,044 183,227 529,817

Southern Regional Cemetery Trust 2,299,047 276,053 2,575,100 642,645 1,932,454

Transend Network Pty Ltd 28,557,007 3,175,515 31,732,522 9,502,948 22,229,574

TT Line Company Pty Ltd 4,935,059 571,787 5,506,846 1,504,161 4,002,685

University of Tasmania 12,763,883 1,273,923 14,037,806 5,119,957 8,917,849

TOTE Tasmania 2,549,195 350,661 2,899,856 445,123 2,454,733

Total(1) 695,557,426 83,025,151 778,582,578 197,381,255 581,201,326

(1) Small differences in totals may arise due to rounding.
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November 2007

Hon Michael Aird MLC

Treasurer

Parliament House

HOBART 7000

Dear Treasurer

Pursuant to Regulation 19 of the regulations made under the Retirement Benefits Act 1993 (the Act), the Retirement Benefits Fund 

Board (the Board) is pleased to submit its report on the exercise of the RBF Board’s powers and functions under the Act for the 

financial year ended 30 June 2007.

The Annual Report incorporates a copy of the financial statements prepared by the RBF Board for the relevant period.

Yours sincerely

D F Egan

PRESIDENT
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Use the website at:

www.rbf.com.au

Phone us on:

03 6233 3672 or 1800 622 631

Fax us on:

03 6233 3357

Email us at:

super@rbf.com.au

Write to:

Chief Executive Officer

Retirement Benefits Fund Board

GPO Box 446 HOBART TAS 7001

Visit us at:

39 Sandy Bay Road Hobart 

1/87 George Street Launceston

Personal appointments:

Personal appointments are available in Hobart, Launceston,  

Burnie and Devonport, by prior arrangement only.  

To arrange an appointment, phone 1800 622 631

The privacy of your personal information is important to RBF. We understand the need for privacy. RBF will hold your personal information securely and 

use it only for the purposes described in the RBF Privacy Statement. Your personal information may be transferred between RBF and RBF-TAS Planning 

Pty Ltd. Certain personal information which you provide to RBF may be provided to your employing agency. RBF will not, however, provide your benefit 

entitlement information to your employer.

Service providers to the Board may also have access to personal information held by the Board. The privacy of members is protected by confidentiality and 

privacy clauses contained in the agreements with such service providers. The RBF Privacy Statement is available on the RBF website at www.rbf.com.au.

Every care has been taken with the information provided in this document. However, the RBF Board reserves the right to correct any errors or omissions.

If there is a discrepancy between the information contained in this document and the Tasmanian Accumulation Scheme Trust Deed, State Fire 

Commission Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed, Tasmanian Ambulance Service Superannuation Scheme Trust Deed or the governing legislation,  

the Trust Deeds and the legislation will be the final authority. The information contained in this document is not intended as investment advice and  

the RBF Board recommends that readers seek professional advice before making any investment decision.

Compliance Report: The Tasmanian Government is a signatory to a Heads of Government Agreement between the Commonwealth and all the  

States which provides exemption for certain public sector schemes from the provisions of the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) legislation (SIS). 

However, the exempt schemes have agreed to comply with the spirit and intent of SIS.

This report was designed and printed in Tasmania on recycled paper.
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